
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy    www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Scrutiny Commission  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Wednesday, 6 November 2019 at 10.00 am 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Mrs R Whitelaw (Tel: 0116 305 2583) 

Email: rosemary.whitelaw@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. S. J. Galton CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. T. Barkley CC 
Mr. P. Bedford CC 

Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 

Dr. T. Eynon CC 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 

 

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC 
Mr. D. Harrison CC 
Mrs. R. Page CC 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC 
Mr. T. J. Richardson CC 
Mr. M. B. Wyatt CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

2.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

6.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

7.  
  

Delivering Growth in Leicestershire - East of 
Lutterworth Strategic Development Area and 
other Development Projects.  
 

Chief Executive 
and Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 5 - 40) 

8.  
  

Potential Strategic Development Area - M69 
Junction 2.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 41 - 70) 

9.  
  

Revenue Budget and Capital Programme 
Monitoring - Period 6.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 71 - 96) 

10.  
  

Leicestershire Community Safety Strategy 
2019 - 2021.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 97 - 110) 

11.  
  

Recommissioning of Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence Services.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
and Director of 
Public Health 
 

(Pages 111 - 
118) 

12.  
  

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
Integrated Risk Management Plan 2020 - 
2024.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 119 - 
160) 

 Callum Faint, Assistant Chief Fire and Rescue Officer will attend the meeting for 
this item. 
 

 

13.  
  

A Vision for Local Government in 
Leicestershire.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

 

 A report summarising the outcome of the Scrutiny Commission discussion on 30 
October will be circulated to members in due course. 
 

 

14.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Commission is scheduled to take place on Monday 27 
January at 10.30am. 
 

 

15.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  
 
The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point 
for developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMISSION – 6 NOVEMBER 2019 
 

DELIVERING GROWTH IN LEICESTERSHIRE – EAST OF 
LUTTERWORTH STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT AREA AND OTHER 

DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS 
 

JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES, 
AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Commission of the outcome of work 

undertaken to identify the County Council’s objectives for the East of Lutterworth 
Strategic Development Area (SDA) and assess the potential options available for 
the delivery of the scheme, which could also be applied to other development 
projects on County Council owned sites.   It sets out the options considered and 
the advantages, disadvantages and risks of each, as well as feedback received 
from private sector businesses through soft market testing. 

 
2. The report sets out the preferred approach and outlines how this might be 

structured to support delivery of the proposed objectives for the scheme; 
objectives which have been identified as part of the options appraisal process 
following consultation with members and officers across all relevant departments.    
 

3. In addition, the report outlines the current position regarding the spine road which 
forms part of the scheme and the issues to be considered to identify how this will 
be delivered and funded.  This will be affected by the outcome of the Council’s 
HIF (Housing Infrastructure Fund) bid which is still to be determined. 
 

4. This report has been circulated to all members of the Cabinet. 
    

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

5. In May 2016, the Cabinet resolved to support the promotion of the Lutterworth 
East SDA scheme in collaboration with other relevant landowners and authorised 
the Director of Corporate Resources to develop documentation to secure the 
SDA within Harborough District Council’s Local Plan.  

 
6. The Cabinet subsequently considered the detailed financial and resource 

implications for the project at its meeting in March 2018 and agreed to continue 
to promote the SDA in the Harborough Local Plan and to develop the site.  The 
Scrutiny Commission on 7 March 2018 received a report setting out progress 
with the SDA, its inclusion in the emerging Harborough Local Plan and the land 
assembly required to deliver it.  The Commission had indicated its support for the 
SDA. 

  5 Agenda Item 7



 
 

7. The County Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-22, supported by the Enabling Growth 
Plan, sets out the Council’s objectives for the rationalisation and utilisation of its 
assets, maximisation of capital receipts, facilitating the delivery of affordable and 
quality homes and building a strong economy, generating economic growth. 

 
8. The Council’s Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) Strategy for 2019 to 

2023, approved by the County Council on 20 February 2019, includes the 
following aims: 

 

(i) To support the objectives of the Council’s MTFS (Medium Term Financial 
Strategy), generate an income, increase the Council’s financial resilience 
and support delivery of frontline services; 

(ii) To support the aims of the Council’s Strategic Plan, in particular delivery of 
the objective of affordable and quality homes (i.e. ensuring the 
development provides a choice of quality homes that people can afford); 

(iii) To support growth in the County and meet the aims of the Economic 
Growth Plan and the County-wide Local Industrial Strategy; 

(iv) To manage risk by investing in diverse sectors and ensure a more diverse 
range of properties are available to meet the aims of economic 
development. 
 

9. The Commission discussed the Lutterworth SDA when it considered the CAIF 
Strategy at its meeting on 4 September 2019.  It was advised that the County 
Council would consider establishing a property company on a needs-driven 
basis.  A housing or development company could enable delivery of the 
Lutterworth East SDA and could also support the social care investment 
programme. 
 

10. In March 2019 the Cabinet accepted a grant allocation of £14m from Homes 
England from its Local Authority Accelerated Construction Fund (£8m of which 
related to the East of Lutterworth SDA) and authorised the Director of 
Environment and Transport (following consultation with the Director of Corporate 
Resources, Director of Law and Governance, and Cabinet Lead Member for 
Resources) to enter into a contract and proceed with Stage 1 of that contract to 
allow ECI (Early Contractor Involvement) in the design and undertaking of 
preliminary works in respect of the proposed construction of the East of 
Lutterworth spine road and related infrastructure.  Funding of £1.5m was 
allocated to support this work up to November 2019.  In October 2019 the 
Cabinet agreed a further allocation of £3.5m to take the project through to March 
2020. 
 

Strategic Context for Growth  

11. The Council’s Strategic Plan sets out its commitment to support growth through 
the strong economy and affordable and quality homes outcomes, but also in the 
context of its wider obligations to support the environment, to build safer and 
healthier communities and to provide services that best support those who are 
most vulnerable living and working in the area.  
 

12. Meeting these outcomes will be difficult given the significant financial, 
demographic and service demand pressures the Council currently faces. Years 

6



 
 

of austerity and reducing government grants have meant that whilst service 
demand and operating costs have increased, the Council’s income to support 
frontline services has vastly reduced over the last decade.  As a result, like other 
authorities, the Council is having to consider new ways of working that will enable 
it to both deliver its identified outcomes and, where possible, generate increased 
revenue income.   
 

The East of Lutterworth SDA Scheme  
 

13. In 2014 the Council established the Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) 
which substantially changed its approach to property investment and how it 
manages and steers the use of its asset portfolio.  The scheme currently being 
progressed through the CAIF is the East of Lutterworth SDA.  
 

14. Since 2016 when the Cabinet first resolved to take the scheme forward, the 
Council has sought to acquire all the land within the SDA to ensure the inclusion 
of the site within the Harborough Local Plan and to ensure the scheme can be 
delivered in a way that best supports the Council’s wider strategic objectives.   
 

15. The SDA in Lutterworth extends to 516 acres of land and the proposed scheme 
for the site involves the development of 2,750 dwellings, 56 acres of employment 
land, 2 primary schools, a local community centre, extensive open space and 
green infrastructure, thus supporting delivery of many of the Council’s Strategic 
Plan objectives in the area.    
 

16. In addition, the scheme will involve major highways work including the 
construction of a new spine road (providing some traffic relief to Lutterworth), a 
new motorway bridge, and substantial off-site junction improvements.   

 
17. To date, the County Council has secured most of the site (95% owned with the 

remaining 5% to be acquired shortly) and the inclusion of the SDA in the recently 
adopted Harborough Local Plan.  It has also submitted a hybrid planning 
application for the scheme which sets out detail on major highways work and 
outlines proposals for the remainder of the site.  It is expected that this will be 
determined in January 2020.   
 

18. The concept masterplan for the site (Appendix A) shows an indicative layout of 
the proposed development. 

 
The Objectives for the Scheme  
 
19. The Council has been developing objectives in consultation with Members and 

key Officers (details of this engagement are set out in paragraphs 42 and 43 of 
this report) against which this scheme should be delivered and will be asking the 
Cabinet in November 2019 to approve these as the objectives for the Lutterworth 
East SDA scheme.   

20. The identified objectives are as follows: 
 
Aim – The Council wants to achieve a high-quality mixed tenure community that 
should act as an exemplary project within the United Kingdom. It should 

7



 
 

contribute significantly to the Council’s Social Value objectives by creating added 
social, environmental and economic value both during the development and 
ongoing operation of the site, by focusing on: 
 
• Design – The Council is seeking a scheme with high quality design, 

including a mix of traditional and modern methods of construction that is 
delivered based on the principles enshrined in the Lutterworth East Design 
Code.  
 

• Environment – The scheme should promote green infrastructure, minimise 
the use of resources, encourage the use of renewable energy and enable 
low carbon living in order to be carbon neutral, and improve biodiversity and 
enable adaptability to the impacts of climate change. 

 
• Community – The design of the scheme should enable a diverse, safe, 

cohesive, vibrant and integrated community to exist on the site created 
through well connected community and retail facilities. 

 
• Public Realm – The scheme should provide and maintain high quality public 

realm, giving spaces physical, cultural and social identities that should 
significantly contribute to people’s health, happiness and well-being. 

 
• Infrastructure – The design of the scheme should maximise the existing 

infrastructure and deliver further timely infrastructure of excellent quality that 
supports the site by providing good, active, safe and sustainable travel 
connectivity across multiple modes of transportation or negates the need to 
travel. 

 
• Economy – The design of the scheme should develop an economically 

sustainable environment. 
 

• Well-being – In designing the scheme it should provide for a strong 
emphasis on creating a healthy environment; promoting social and cultural 
well-being reflecting the needs of those in the local community, and ensuring 
healthy lifestyles become the default option by design. 

 
• Education – Provides good local solutions for high quality teaching and 

learning for pupils and students of all abilities, helps promote strong routes 
and good opportunities for employment and further training, and provides 
integrated and inclusive support for all families. 

 
• Viability – the Council requires the scheme to be commercially viable 

across the life of the project reflecting the level of risk and investment 
undertaken. 
 

• Partnership – the Council is looking for an organisation/s that it can work 
with to fund, develop, manage and maintain the site throughout the life of the 
development and with the potential to work together to deliver additional 
schemes in the future. 

 

8



 
 

• Programme – New homes to be delivered faster than current delivery 
trends for new housing, for which any proposal must be robust and realistic. 

 
• Risk & Reward - The Council would expect to receive meaningful financial 

returns for any participation throughout the development and the operational 
life of the scheme.  The Council will invest its land into any arrangement.  It 
also has some appetite for risk, with this extending to additional investment 
over the land value if this is required; any such investment must be balanced 
by commensurate reward. 
 

Delivery considerations 
 
21. The County Council has traditionally sold surplus land and assets by securing 

planning consent and then seeking best offers from the market.  This disposal 
mechanism has worked well for many years and has passed all the property 
development risk on to the purchaser with the County Council receiving 
unconditional land receipts.   
 

22. Given the financial pressures facing all public bodies many councils are 
considering the use of more commercial property vehicles that allow them to 
share in the development risk in return for improved financial returns and greater 
influence and control during the delivery stages of development and ongoing 
operation of projects, something not possible if a site is sold in the traditional 
way. 
 

23. The scale of the East of Lutterworth scheme and its potential to deliver so many 
of the Council’s key outcomes meant that consideration of all potential delivery 
options compared with the Council’s traditional approach was deemed 
appropriate.   
 

24. As agreed by the Cabinet in June 2019, the Council engaged the support of 
specialist consultants 31ten Consulting (31ten) to help it explore the options 
available and ensure current best practice is reflected in the appraisal.  Their 
insight has strengthened the Council’s understanding of the risks and 
opportunities associated with the options set out below.  They have worked with 
officers and members to develop the Council’s knowledge of the issues and their 
impact not only on the delivery of the East of Lutterworth scheme, but also wider 
aspects of the Council’s future asset development plans and obligations, such as 
adult social care and affordable housing. 
 

Development Options 
 

25. Officers from Strategic Property Services and the Council’s new Growth Unit 
alongside the Council’s consultants, 31ten, identified a range of opportunities for 
both the delivery of the East of Lutterworth SDA site and the Council’s wider 
growth agenda.   
 

26. Focus was given to enabling the Council to retain some level of control over the 
development to ensure it can best achieve its Strategic Plan outcomes and those 

9



 
 

which could also financially be more beneficial to the Authority in the longer term. 
 

27. The options assessed were -  
 

Option 1 – Disposal with Planning Permission 
 

28. This option is the approach that has traditionally been adopted by the Council 
and was used as a baseline against which the other options were compared.   

 
Option 2 – Self Development 

 
29. This would involve the Council carrying out the construction of the entire housing 

and commercial development. 
 
Option 3 – Joint Venture – Enabling Partner 

 
30. The term joint venture describes a range of different commercial partnership 

arrangements which would involve the Council plus one or more partners.  Under 
such an arrangement, each partner contributes resources to the venture and a 
new business (a limited liability partnership or limited company) is created in 
which the Council and its partner(s) collaborate together, sharing the risks and 
benefits associated with the venture(s).  The resources contributed by either 
party may include land, capital, experienced staff and/or other equipment or 
assets.  Under this option the Council would enter into a partnership with a 
development/investment partner.  The site is then enabled by the partnership and 
serviced plots sold on to the market.  All services to establish the planning 
consents, removal of development issues, etc. would be undertaken by the joint 
venture partnership.  The Council would likely receive a land receipt and a share 
of the profit from enablement.   

 

Option 4 – Joint Venture – Development Partner 
 

31. Under this option the Council enters into a partnership with a development/ 
investment partner.  The site is then enabled, and the residential and commercial 
elements are developed by the Joint Venture.  The Council would likely receive a 
land receipt and take a share of the development profit.   
 
Option 5 – Joint Venture – Enabling / Development / Operational Partner 
 

32. Under this approach the Council enters into a 50/50 partnership with a strategic 
partner.  The site is then enabled by the Joint Venture, a number of the sites are 
then developed by the Partnership whilst other plots are disposed of to other 
developers, and any operational elements are owned and operated by the 
partnership over the long term.  The Council would likely receive a land receipt 
and take a share of the development/operational profit, which could include 
private rental and commercial income.   

 
 
Options Appraisal 
 

10



 
 

33. In order to undertake an Options Appraisal of each of these solutions it was first 
necessary to define the criteria against which the options would be compared.  
 

34. A set of criteria was developed by 31ten in partnership with the Council that best 
reflected the Council’s objectives for the scheme and its broader strategic aims.  
A weighting was then applied to each based on their importance to the Council 
as articulated in the objectives.  Based on the balance of project objectives 30% 
was allocated to financial criteria and 70% to non-financial.  Each option would 
receive a proportion of the weighted percentage based on its performance 
against that criteria. 
 
No Criteria Weighting Explanation 

Financial  

1 Financial Return 30% The likely financial return to the Council 
from the option. 

Non-Financial  

2 Level of control 10% The level of control the Council would 
have over the delivery of the project 
including the exemplary nature of the 
project / sustainability 

3 Scalability 8% The scalability of the approach across the 
County for other projects / priorities 

4 Procurement Timeline 6% The length of time taken to get on site to 
deliver the project 

5 Likelihood of market 
interest 

7% The potential of the market delivering the 
role defined by the option 

6 Development Risk 9% Exposure to build cost risk for the scheme 
including construction costs, issues in the 
ground etc. 

7 Sales / rental Risk 9% Exposure to the sales value and rental 
value risk from the scheme. 

8 Operational Risk 9% Exposure to operational risk for the 
retained elements of the site 

9 Balance of risk vs reward 12% Is the balance of risk the Council would be 
taking commensurate with the reward it 
desires 

 

35. In order to conclude on the scoring against each criterion significant research 
was undertaken on each of the options and how they would apply to Lutterworth 
East and potential additional projects with the Council.  This was completed by 
undertaking the following:  
 

 A desktop assessment of the advantages and disadvantages. 

 Comparison with other solutions in the market and best practice. 

 A risk and financial assessment. 

 Soft Market testing. 

11



 
 

 Member and officer engagement. 
 

36. In order to undertake this appraisal certain assumptions have had to be made.  
These have included: 
 

 Spine Road works -  It has been assumed that the highway works 
regarding the construction of the spine road will be managed separately 
outside of the JV and that the Council would utilise a combination of 
funding sources to achieve this including the LAAC and HIF funding.  At 
the time of undertaking the appraisal work, the outcome of the Council’s 
HIF funding bid to support, in part, the cost of constructing the road was 
and remains unknown.  Further details regarding this is set out below. 

 The delivery solution would take responsibility for the delivery of all 
elements within the redline of the site (indicative plan attached as 
Appendix B). 

 That any procurements are undertaken efficiently but in line with relevant 
regulations. 

 Third party expertise is used to support the Council as appropriate through 
all of the options. 
 

Outcome of the Options Appraisal and Soft Market Testing 
 
37.  An assessment of the advantages and disadvantages of the above options as 

well as the risks and financial implications of each is set out in detail in Appendix 
C.  A summary of the key findings is set out below. 
 

38. This analysis demonstrates that each of the options offer a variety of advantages 
and disadvantages to the Council, however the Joint Venture options most 
closely match the Council’s aspirations in terms of sharing risk, accessing 
appropriate skills, retaining control to secure its Strategic Plan outcomes and 
generating financial return. 
 
Soft Market Testing 
 

39. Officers engaged with the market by way of soft market testing (SMT) in order to 
better understand the level of interest from relevant third-party organisations in 
pursuing the Lutterworth East SDA scheme and wider property development 
opportunities with the County Council.  In particular the purpose of this SMT 
exercise was to allow and enable potentially interested organisations with 
appropriate expertise and relevant experience to: 
 

 Outline and generate initial views/ideas around the delivery routes for the 
project, the scope and the potential procurement strategy (noting this is 
with no commitment to themselves or the Council); 

 Engage with the Council to understand its challenges, intentions and 
desired outcomes; 

 Provide informal input to help shape and refine the Council’s technical 
requirements; 

 Inform the Council of current market developments and cite examples of 
best practice across the public sector; and 

12



 
 

 Explore potential options and solutions available to the Council. 
 

40. The outcomes of this process provided detailed feedback to the Council around 
12 key themes, as shown in Appendix D.  
 

41. On balance this engagement strongly supported a partnership approach to the 
delivery of Lutterworth East through a Joint Venture approach, preferably as 
Master Developer and potentially operator of retained assets in line with Option 5 
(Joint Venture – Enabling/Development/Operational Partner). 
 
 Member and Officer Engagement 
 

42. As part of the appraisal process both members and officers were consulted to 
identify the key objectives for the delivery of the Lutterworth East scheme (as set 
out earlier in this report in paragraph 19).  Officers were involved from all 
departments to ensure the Council’s wider strategic objectives were captured.  
This included a workshop session with key officers and a presentation to the 
Council’s Corporate Management Team. 
 

43. A cross party briefing was also held involving members of the Corporate Asset 
Investment Fund Advisory Board and the Scrutiny Commissioners.  This was led 
by 31ten to obtain feedback on the objectives identified and which helped shape 
the soft market testing with potential private sector partners.   
 

The Preferred Delivery Approach for East of Lutterworth SDA 
 
45. The outcome of the options appraisal is summarised in the table below. 
 

 
 
46. The preferred approach from this analysis is Option 5, a 50/50 Joint Venture 

partnership with a strategic partner to enable and develop the site and any 
operational elements being then owned and operated by the partnership over the 
long term.   
 

47. The Council has made clear that there are some elements of the site that it would 
wish to develop itself as it feels the balance of risk and reward for these elements 
would score more highly as these risks are clearer and more manageable and 

No. Criteria Weighting

Financial 

1 Financial Return 30% 1 6% 5 30% 2 12% 3 18% 4 24%

2 Level of control 10% 1 2% 5 10% 2 4% 3 6% 4 8%

3 Scalability 8% 1 2% 2 3% 3 5% 3 5% 5 8%

4 Procurement Timeline 6% 5 6% 3 4% 4 5% 4 5% 4 5%

5 Likelihood of market interest 7% 2 3% 3 4% 5 7% 5 7% 4 6%

6 Development Risk 9% 5 9% 1 2% 3 5% 3 5% 3 5%

7 Sales / rental Risk 9% 5 9% 1 2% 5 9% 3 5% 3 5%

8 Operational Risk 9% 5 9% 1 2% 5 9% 5 9% 3 5%

9 Balance of risk vs reward 12% 1 2% 2 5% 3 7% 4 10% 5 12%

26 48% 23 61% 32 63% 33 70% 35 79%

5 2 4 3 1

Option 1             

Disposal

Option 2                           

Self Devt

Option 3                          

JV Enabling

Option 4                         

JV Dev't

Option 5                         

JV Enable / Dev / 

Operate

Non-Financial 

Total

Ranking

13



 
 

the financial rewards significant enough to offset these risks.  In particular this 
relates to the distribution and commercial uses to the south of the site.  To test 
this scenario a further appraisal was undertaken of these elements.  This 
approach highlighted a significantly higher score for Option 2 – self-development 
as a result of the market interest and balance of risk and reward elements 
scoring more highly. 
 

48. The recommended approach going forward is therefore a hybrid option between 
Options 2 and 5 whereby the Council would establish a Joint Venture for the 
majority of the site and would remove the employment sites which it would self-
develop. 
 

49. It should be noted that this approach enables the delivery of the site within the 
redline and also enables the Council to deliver any additional elements it wishes 
outside of this structure, and indeed purchase any completed elements it wishes 
from the Joint Venture as investments, for example private rented housing to 
generate additional income streams for the Council. 

 
Proposed approach for other Growth Schemes 

 
50. The objectives identified as part of the appraisal process established that the 

success of the joint venture in delivering the Lutterworth scheme should 
determine whether or not consideration is given to further growth schemes being 
delivered in this way.  In order for this to be achieved effectively the option of the 
Council adding additional schemes to the partnership would be included within 
the scope of the procurement of the partner.  Thus enabling this partnership to be 
used for these schemes subject to it delivering successfully on Lutterworth East.  
The process through which additional schemes are added to the partnership 
would be something considered and assessed as new schemes arise and will be 
the subject of reports to the Scrutiny Commission and the Cabinet as 
appropriate. 

 
What might a Joint Venture look like for the County Council 
 
51. As mentioned above, there are a range of different commercial joint venture 

partnership arrangements which can be adopted with each partner contributing 
resources to the venture. 
 

52. A new business (a limited company or limited liability partnership) is created in 
which the Council and its partner(s) collaborate, sharing the risks and benefits 
associated with the venture.  The resources contributed by either party may 
include land, capital, experienced staff and/or other equipment or assets. 
 

53. For Lutterworth it is proposed that the County Council will put in its land and the 
private sector partner (PSP) would contribute cash and other resources.  Given 
that the Council owns the whole site its contribution will be substantial, and a 
partner will need to equally match this (it is proposed that the venture will be a 
50:50 partnership).  Senior debt will then be sought to fund the remaining costs.  
The returns from the development will then be used to repay the debt, repay the 

14



 
 

investment of the Council and its partner and then any surplus profits shared.   
 

54. The proposed joint venture will be for the development of the scheme, but also its 
operation (such as by maintaining the public realm and green infrastructure and 
also perhaps in a landlord capacity for the retail, community and commercial 
uses). 
 

55. It is intended that the joint venture will be in place for a period of 30 years, after 
which it would cease.  This will give time for the development to be completed 
(currently targeted for mid-2036), but also allow for 14 years (approximately) of 
ongoing management until 2050 which coincides with the Strategic Growth Plan. 

 
56. Through the proposed joint venture the Council will share in the risks associated 

with funding, development and operation which over the lifetime of the scheme 
will not be insubstantial and will include risks around accessing funding, 
construction, sales, rental, and the financial position of its partner and the 
partnership vehicle.  However, to balance these risks, it will benefit from 
commensurate rewards through sharing in the profits from the scheme as a 
result of the development and operational activity.  These returns are likely to be 
realised across the 30 year life of the scheme and will flow from its activities.  
These will not be all in up front capital receipts, or exit returns, it is more likely to 
correspond with major phases and decisions on disposing of assets or retaining 
them within the partnership.  As 50/50 member of the partnership the Council will 
have equal say over these decisions. 
 
Structure of the proposed Joint Venture 
 

57. Early consideration has been given to the most appropriate vehicle through 
which the Council will work with a Private Sector Partners (PSP).  It is proposed 
that creating a limited liability partnership (LLP) would be the most appropriate 
way forward. 
 

58. An LLP is a body corporate with a legal personality separate from that of its 
members (i.e. the joint venture partner organisations).  An LLP can do anything 
that a person can do, including holding property, entering into contracts, 
employing people, suing and being sued.  It functions in many ways in the same 
way as a limited company. 

 
59. One significant difference is that corporation tax does not apply to an LLP.  The 

income of the LLP is assessed for tax in the hands of the members.  This can 
avoid profits being subject to tax at joint venture and owner level and can allow 
local authorities to benefit from their tax position.  This tax treatment is why an 
LLP is the standard legal form for these sorts of projects and is being proposed 
instead of any other entity as the joint venture vehicle.   
 

60. There is a subsidiary question as to whether the Council enters into the LLP 
directly or through a wholly owned company.  Both approaches are quite 
common in the market and the most appropriate approach for the Council will be 
determined in light of more detailed legal advice.  Whether or not the Council 
enters into the LLP via a company will not affect the overall commercial 

15



 
 

arrangements, the level of Council control or its relationship with the PSP or joint 
venture.  This question will be the subject of further reports as appropriate. 
  

61. The LLP will own the assets of the business and be liable for its own debts.  The 
members of the LLP act as its agents and only have liability up to the amount 
they have contributed to the LLP.   An LLP maintains accounting records, 
prepares and delivers audited annual accounts to the Registrar of Companies, 
and submits an annual return in a similar manner to companies.    

 
62. The LLP will be governed by an LLP Agreement (LLPA) which will be entered 

into by the Council, the private sector partner in the joint venture and the LLP. 
This is a private document and sets out the roles and responsibilities of the 
parties.  It will be a 50/50 deadlocked joint venture, meaning that where the 
partners do not agree on a course of action the partnership will be in deadlock.  
This reflects the proposed 50/50 split of each party’s investment into the joint 
venture and ensures one partner cannot act without support from the other.  An 
exit strategy will be written into the LLP Agreement in the event of a complete 
deadlock 

 
63. The LLP will have a Board which will contain an equal number of representatives 

from each member organisation, appointed and replaced by that member 
organisation.  There will also be an opportunity to appoint non-executive directors 
to the Board that could bring in wider expertise and act as an independent party 
on the Board.  The Board will produce a business plan for the LLP which will 
require the approval of each member organisation.  The Board are responsible 
for the day to day operation of the LLP in accordance with the business plan.    

 
64. The LLPA will contain a delegation policy which details a list of reserved matters 

which are those material matters in respect of which the Board may not act 
unless it is either approved by the LLP members directly or included in an 
approved business plan. 

 
65. The Council will exercise its function (i.e. determine the reserved matters) as a 

member of the LLP either through the Cabinet or a committee of the Cabinet. 
They are likely to appoint an individual who will liaise with and present their 
position to the LLP.  
 

66. Further work to develop the best structure for a limited liability partnership 
(including legal, operational and staffing arrangements) will be undertaken and 
member and officer engagement will be necessary to establish the preferred 
governance and management arrangements for the partnership in accordance 
with appropriate legal advice (see the ‘Next Steps’ section below). 

 
Procuring a Joint Venture Partner(s) 
 
67. The Council’s consultants, 31ten, have provided advice on the route forward for 

securing a joint venture partner or partners.  Given the scale of the scheme and 
the size of the contract to be awarded, the procurement tender will need to be 
advertised in the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) and a process of 
competitive dialogue undertaken.  This takes into consideration the need for a 

16



 
 

transparent, regulated process alongside the desire to attract the best solutions 
from the market.  The outcome of leaving the EU will not affect the proposed 
procurement approach. 
 

68. A competitive dialogue process will provide the County Council with the 
opportunity of gaining greater understanding as to what the market can provide 
and the ability to question and shape the eventual solution. 
 

69. In short, bidders will be able to develop alternative proposals in response to the 
County Council’s objectives and only when their proposals are developed to 
sufficient detail are tenderers invited to submit competitive bids.  Appendix E 
gives an overview of the OJEU procedure and the stages for the competitive 
dialogue process. 
 

70. The procurement will take approximately 8 months to complete and the outcome 
of this process will therefore be reported to the Cabinet and the Scrutiny 
Commission late next year.  Approval at that time will also be sought from the 
Cabinet of the outcome and that the procurement has been run in line with their 
requirements.  The selection process will be undertaken by the Chief Executive 
with support from other Chief Officers, guidance from the Council’s consultants 
31ten and following consultation with the Leader and Deputy Leader throughout. 
 

71. EU procurement is highly regulated and potentially open to challenge from 
unsuccessful organisations.  Therefore, it is important the County Council in 
undertaking this procurement provides a clear picture to the market of what it 
requires in terms of how a partnership would operate, the control it desires, the 
risks it is willing to take, as well as the reward it desires, the delivery of the 
scheme, how the resultant assets will be managed and future ownership 
arrangements.  Officer and Member input into the early stages of preparing for 
the procurement process are therefore critical. 
 

72. In order to ensure the Council’s procurement process is robust more detailed 
work will be undertaken with both members and officers to establish the 
parameters of the procurement, the joint venture and the establishment of a 
limited liability partnership and future expectations for the scheme.  
 

73. To secure the specialist commercial, financial and legal advice and expertise 
needed to support this process the Council will continue to engage 31ten.  They 
will lead this process with involvement from Council officers in procurement, 
legal, growth, finance and strategic property and the Council’s external legal 
advisors, Bevan Brittan. 
 

 
 
Construction of Spine Road 
 
74. The overall cost for the construction of the spine road is estimated to be £86m.  

This includes the Early Contractor Involvement (ECI) and preconstruction costs 
in designing the road (£4m which was approved by the Cabinet in March and 

17



 
 

October 2019). 
 

75. The County Council has been successful in securing Local Authority Accelerated 
Construction (LAAC) funding of £8.08m from Homes England to support these 
works.  
 

76. The LAAC Programme was set up by the Government to support local authorities 
in enabling sites for housing development though infrastructure works, planning 
and technical expertise and site remediation. 

 
77. At Lutterworth East this will part fund the site access from the A4304 and the first 

section of the Spine Road running north from the A4304, bridging the River Swift 
and to the southern edge of the proposed new housing.  There are certain 
conditions attached to this funding, the key one being that works to build the first 
house on site must begin in March 2021. 
 

78. As part of a bid relating to the South West Leicestershire Sustainable 
Development Area (SDA) which includes the East of Lutterworth SDA, the 
County Council has also applied for Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) grant 
monies.  This is also funding managed by Homes England and established by 
the Government to deliver new physical infrastructure to support delivery of new 
additional homes that otherwise would not be built and to make a meaningful 
difference to overall housing supply. 
 

79. It was anticipated initially that a decision on this bid would have been made 
during the summer of 2019.  However, at the time of writing this report the 
County Council is still awaiting a decision.  If the bid is successful, this will 
provide up to a further £31m towards the cost of constructing the spine road. 
 

80. In terms of delivery of the road the Council has a number of options from 
funding/delivering this entirely to passing some or all of this to be 
funded/delivered through the joint venture.   
 

81. The greater contribution the Council makes to funding the road, the more the 
County Council will benefit from the fact that the value of its land will be much 
higher, requiring a greater match funding contribution from the joint venture 
partner, as each parcel of land is rolled out for development.  The scale of the 
liability of the road that falls on the joint venture will be a very significant factor in 
determining whether organisations are interested in bidding to become the 
Council’s partner, and therefore the financial submissions received from 
tenderers as part of the procurement process.  The more liability the joint venture 
is expected to pick up in terms of funding the spine road, the less beneficial their 
bids are likely to be for the County Council, and potentially this may dissuade 
some tenderers from bidding. 

 
82. It is possible to split the delivery of the spine road into 2 separate phases.  This 

would obviously add to the overall cost of delivery, but also timescales meaning it 
would be highly unlikely the requirements of the LAAC funding could be met.  
Also, it is expected that a planning permission trigger will require that the whole 
distributor road is completed about the time the 500th house (out of 2,750 in total) 

18



 
 

is in place.   As such, as the requirement is early in the development timeline, it 
would be preferable to commission and deliver the entire road in one single 
phase if possible.  

 
83. The implications of the various scenarios are currently being considered.   It is 

intended that the proposed way forward will be presented to the Cabinet in 
December when it is hoped a decision on the Council’s HIF bid will have been 
made.   A further report will be presented to the Scrutiny Commission in February 
2020. 
 

Consultation 
 
84. Over the summer, the County Council undertook a 13-week consultation on its 

priorities, to which it received over 4,300 responses.  Questions relating to how 
the County Council raised income were specifically tailored to elicit views on the 
County Council’s approach to growth and economic development.  81% of 
respondents agreed that the County Council should explore commercial 
opportunities to generate income and 66% of respondent agreed that the County 
Council should make more investments in land, property and other assets as a 
source of income.  These responses demonstrate that there is general support 
for the County Council’s direction of travel. 

 
Current planned timetable for delivery 
 
85. The current time line for the next stages in the delivery of the Lutterworth East 

SDA scheme are outlined below: 
 

November 2019 Cabinet report setting out information presented to the 
Scrutiny Commission in this report and seeking 
approval of the preferred delivery option and the 
identified objectives. 
 

December 2019 Cabinet report to set out procurement approach and 
timetable, the proposed structure of the joint venture 
and the prioritisation of tender questions and key 
documentation on which the procurement process will 
be based.  Report to also set out proposals for financial 
and contractual arrangements for the spine road. 
 

January 2020 Planning permission expected to be determined subject 
by Harborough District Council to a s106 planning 
agreement, also expected to be completed in January 
2020  

 Start of the procurement process (subject to approval). 

 Further report to the Scrutiny Commission regarding the 
funding for the spine road 

February 2020 Report to Cabinet regarding the award of contract for 
the spine road 

 Report to Cabinet seeking approval to enter into 
contract for the construction of the spine road subject to 

19



 
 

receipt and agreement of final costs.  Pre-Construction 
works comments on the spine road 
 

April 2020 Delivery of spine road commences 
 

September/October 
2020 

Procurement concluded, and delivery partner identified. 
 

 Report to Cabinet (and Scrutiny Commission) seeking 
approval to award contract to preferred bidder 
 

March 2021 First houses are constructed at Lutterworth East. 
 

 
Next Steps/Ongoing Activity 
 
86. Scope of the Procurement – Detailed work on the scope of the procurement 

and the documents to be supplied to support this will be undertaken to set out the 
parameters of what the Council is seeking from a PSP.  This will include the 
Council’s policy position on a number of areas, its aspirations from the scheme, 
the structure of the procurement and the specific evaluation approach to be used 
to select its partner. 
 

87. Objectives for the joint venture - These were established as part of the 
assessment appraisal following consultation with both members and officers.  
However, further work will be required to understand how these can be delivered.  
Delivery of the Council’s wider Strategic Plan outcomes will be a priority 
however, this has to be balanced against the viability of the scheme overall and 
the benefit of securing a good financial return which can be reinvested to support 
the delivery of wider Council services and objectives.    

 
88. Risk appetite - Any joint venture arrangement would need to be structured in a 

way that best addresses the Council’s risk appetite, desire for control and the 
level of finance and funding that it is able and willing to commit and invest.  A 
suitable partner will be an organisation that has best alignment to the Council’s 
objectives and interests and this will need to be determined prior to 
commencement of the procurement process. 

 
89. Limited Liability Partnership - Consideration of the governance and 

management arrangements for the partnership and how this will link with the 
Council’s internal governance structure and processes will be necessary to 
ensure the Partnership retains a degree of flexibility that allows it to deliver the 
objectives identified by the Council, whilst also ensuring the Council retains an 
overall degree of control and oversight throughout the project.    A report will 
need to be prepared and presented to the Cabinet in December setting out the 
structure of the LLP.   This report is likely to be exempt as it will contain details 
that, if made public, could jeopardise the procurement process. 
 

90. Design Code –  A Design Code is being prepared and a draft version will be 
completed in November.  This will be used to frame the overall vision and 
concept for the Lutterworth East scheme, linking to the Council’s Strategic 

20



 
 

Outcomes and setting out a coherent and consistent design approach to be 
considered by developers. 
 

91. Spine Road -  As outlined above the implications of the various scenarios for the 
delivery of the spine road are currently being considered.    Regard will need to 
be had to how these will impact the proposals for a joint venture as set out in this 
report.  Discussions with Homes England will continue to seek confirmation of the 
Council’s HIF funding bid as early as possible. 
 
Further Member and Officer Engagement 

 
92. The above work will be undertaken by officers with significant input from 

members.  Given the timeframe and the need for a degree of confidentiality so as 
not to jeopardise the proposed procurement process, informal workshops will be 
held with both officers and members prior to the procurement process being 
undertaken to complete this work.  The feedback received in these workshops 
will be captured in the planned report to the Cabinet in December. 
 

Risks Assessment 
 
93. The Lutterworth East SDA is a large and complex project that requires upfront 

investment in order to generate future financial returns over a long timeframe 
which will be highly sensitive to key assumptions and external factors such as the 
state of the housing market and the wider economic climate.   
 

94. There are also potential political, reputational and financial risks involved with the 
proposed joint venture approach as this is dependent on a strong partnership 
and therefore contingent on the Council finding an appropriate partner.     
 

95. The Council is mindful of this and appropriate governance arrangements have 
been put in place to continually monitor the project.  A Growth Delivery Board is 
chaired by the Chief Executive and updates are also regularly provided to the 
Corporate Asset Investment Fund Advisory Board and Lead Members as 
appropriate. 
 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
96. There are no Equality and Human Rights Implications directly arising from this 

report.  Implications associated with the future development of the SDA will be 
subject to an Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment as appropriate 
prior to decisions being made. 

 
 

Environmental Impact 
 
97. A full Environmental Impact Assessment was submitted as part of the planning 

application for the Lutterworth East SDA. 
 
 
 

21



 
 

Background Papers 
 
Minutes from Cabinet meeting on 9 May 2016 - 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4602&Ver=4  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 29 March 2019 “East of Lutterworth Strategic Development 
Area - Homes England Funding and Early Contractor Involvement” 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5601  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 13 September 2019 “Corporate Asset Investment Fund Annual 
Performance Report 2018-19 and Strategy Update for 2019 to 2023”.  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5605  
 
Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2018-22 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan  
 
 
Minutes from Scrutiny Commission meeting on 4 September 2019 - 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=5698&Ver=4  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 22 October 2019 “East of Lutterworth Strategic Development 
Area”  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s148885/Lutterworth%20East%20SDA%208.10.19SLdbv2%20FINAL.pdf  

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
A copy of this report has been sent to Mr. B. L. Pain CC and Mrs R. Page CC.  
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources  
Tel: 0116 305 6199   Email: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Jon Bennett, Head of Strategic Property Services 
Corporate Resources Department 
Tel:0116 305 56926  Email: jon.bennett@leics.gov.uk 
 
Tom Purnell, Assistant Chief Executive 
Chief Executive’s Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7019   Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk 
 
Simon Lawrence, Head of the Growth Unit & Major Programmes 
Chief Executive’s Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7243   Email: simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 

22

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4602&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5601
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5605
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=5698&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s148885/Lutterworth%20East%20SDA%208.10.19SLdbv2%20FINAL.pdf
mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:jon.bennett@leics.gov.uk
mailto:tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk
mailto:simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk


 
 

Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Site Plan 
Appendix B – Indicative redline (Joint Venture) Plan 
Appendix C – Advantages and Disadvantages Options Appraisal 
Appendix D – Soft Market Testing Outcomes 
Appendix E – Procurement Process 

23



This page is intentionally left blank



25



This page is intentionally left blank



Project: F:\GIS\Asset Man\Lutterworth\2019_10_17 Illustrative Site Area.qgs

Reproduced from an Ordnance Survey map with the
permission of the Controller of HMSO
® Crown Copyright.  Leicestershire County Council
 Licence number . 100019271

1:10,000 @ A3 Portrait

David Britland
October 2019

Land East of Lutterworth
Illustrative Site Area Strategic Property Services

Corporate Resources Department
County Hall, Glenfield
Leicester LE3 8RE

27



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C 

Delivery Approach Advantages and Disadvantages 

Option 1 – Disposal with Planning Permission 
 

This option is the approach that has traditionally been adopted by the Council and 
was used as a baseline against which the other options were compared.   

 

Advantages Disadvantages 

The Council can release additional 
value in the site but not expose itself 
to the risks associated with 
development and delivery of the 
private sector development. 

Subject to planning requirements, the 
Council loses control of the development, 
including the quality, design and provision 
of public space. 

There is no guarantee that development will 
take place, as the viability and control of the 
site now rests with the new landowner. 

The capital receipt is realised at the 
point of sale, before any development 
is undertaken, thereby mitigating the 
risks associated with development 
and delivery. 

The Council would lose any uplift in value of 
the site as a result of the development 
activities. 

If the site has a high value or worth to 
developers, then this is the lowest risk 
option in securing a capital receipt. 

The Council does not enjoy any long-term 
revenue or capital uplift.  

 

Financial Consequences 
 
The Council would realise a capital receipt.  The value of this receipt will be based 
on what the development market would pay for the site and include considerations 
such as, the level of contamination, current use, proximity to infrastructure, likely 
land use etc. 
 
The receipt would reflect the fact that the Council is taking little risk under this option. 
This approach carries the least risk for the Council as they wouldn’t be taking any of 
the development or sales risk, instead choosing to cash in on the value of the site 
and passing all of this risk to the private sector.   
 
However, all corresponding development reward and upside risk would also pass to 
the purchaser resulting in a potentially significantly lower receipt than might be 
achieved through alternative approaches. 
 
Whilst the low risk approach might traditionally be a Council’s preferred option, in the 
current local government environment long term income streams are required to 
support Council activity.   
 
In addition, in the current market there is significant evidence that developers are 
interested in the potential to share risk and reward with the public sector, and in 

29



APPENDIX C 

many cases, this is preferable to a traditional purchase/disposal/development 
agreement approach where all risk is taken by the private sector.   
 
The current level of market activity suggests a need for mechanisms that can help 
accelerate the delivery of housing.  In addition, a number of the challenges around 
infrastructure need and land value result in a need for more innovative solutions to 
cash flow challengers and viability issues, as such the traditional models are 
potentially less attractive in the current climate.   
 
Option 2 – Self Development 

This would involve the Council carrying out the construction of the entire housing and 
commercial development. 
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

The Council has sole responsibility for all 
aspects of the design and delivery of the 
development.  Although their construction 
responsibilities can be transferred to a 
contractor the Council is still responsible for 
the overall outcome. As such it can 
therefore specify quality, build and design 
standards to ensure that the aspirations for 
this project are fully met. 

As the sole funder of the project, the 
Council has 100% of the financial exposure 
relating to the project.  Any cost overruns 
not covered in the contractor agreement will 
be the sole responsibility of the Council. 

 

As the body with sole responsibility for the 
finance and funding of the project any cost 
savings, increase in sales values, finance 
savings or any aspect that impacts 
positively on the profitability of the scheme 
will flow back to the Council.  Any increased 
return might be used to increase quality 
aspects on this project, support additional 
build projects or simply flow back to the 
Council to support other service priorities. 

As project and programme manager the 
Council is responsible for managing all risk 
relating to delivery and must bear the 
consequences should a certain risk 
materialise. Whilst much of the obvious risk 
associated with this type of project is 
financial in nature there are other 
categories of risk, such as reputational, 
political, environmental and health and 
safety which must also be managed 
appropriately. 

Any positive gains from this project can be 
recycled and used to support and prime 
less viable and attractive projects the 
Council is considering.   

 

In undertaking the role of the developer, the 
Council is acting outside the normal remit of 
a traditional local authority and must ensure 
it has the correct mix of skills and resources 
to ensure that the project is successful 
delivered. 

Unlike a private developer the Council is not 
just motivated by profit but by a whole 
range of other socio-economic objectives. 
As a consequence, the viability the scheme 
will not only be measured from a 
commercial prospective but will also 
consider the social and regenerative 
benefits of the project and assign a value to 

As the developer the Council retains the 
responsibility for the sale of units.  This 
responsibility extends beyond the marketing 
and final sale to include the saleability of 
the scheme as a whole. This must be a 
consideration from the design of the 
scheme, to the lay-out of the open space 
and the quality of the units. The returns on 

30



APPENDIX C 

Advantages Disadvantages 

this; sometimes at the expense of the return 
on the scheme.  

the original investment will only be 
maximised if the scheme is seen as 
desirable to the market.  

In having sole responsibility for the design 
and construction of the scheme the Council 
is best placed to affect social issues on the 
development.  This could include poor 
public realm, low quality facilities, poor or 
unsociable access areas or social 
exclusion.   

The Council is exposed to third party claims 
e.g. litigation, health and safety breaches.  
Whilst these can be mitigated by way of 
insurance and transfer of risk to the 
contractor, the Council is ultimately 
responsible. 

 

Financial Consequences 
 

The Council would receive its land value plus all development / operational profit 
from the scheme. 
 
As the developer, the Council would take on all responsibility for funding the 
development.  Whilst there are advantages of this, such as access to preferential 
borrowing rates, there are also associated risks; namely the need to generate 
sufficient revenues through sales and rental to repay the funding option taken. The 
ability to do so would need to be demonstrated during development of the business 
case. 
 
The potential for private housing development to cross subsidise affordable housing 
and employment space is significant, as demonstrated by a number of Council’s who 
have utilised this approach.  Were the Council to try and secure 100% of the 
development profit from these elements of its schemes for itself then the overall 
financial viability of the development could significantly increase. 
 
This approach clearly brings with it associated risks.  Were the Council to develop 
the private housing alongside the remainder of the development they would bear the 
risks on construction cost and sales, both of which they would need to ensure they 
understood, have the skills to manage and are in line with the risk appetite of the 
Council. 
 
Were the Council to act as developer it is assumed that they would fund the 
development and undertake the master developer role, and as such would receive 
all surplus funds on development.  They would not need to fund the purchase of their 
own land and as such all surplus funds would be collated.  
 
In this scenario the Council is the developer and as such no land purchase is 
required. Hence there is a much-reduced development cost when compared to a 
private sector led scenario. In addition, it is assumed that the Council is able to 
borrow, via the PWLB or another facility available to the public sector, at a reduced 
interest rate. 
 
Option 3 – Joint Venture – Enabling Partner 

31



APPENDIX C 

Under this option the Council would enter into a partnership with a 
development/investment partner.  The site is then enabled by the partnership and 
serviced plots sold on to the market.  All services to establish the planning consents, 
removal of development issues, etc. would be undertaken by the joint venture 
partnership. The Council would likely receive a land receipt and a share of the profit 
from enablement.   
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

This approach enables public sector 
land to be developed in a scenario 
where the public sector body does not 
have the necessary resources to unlock 
the site / debt required. 

By transferring the land into an external vehicle 
and using it for security for an external funder 
the Council’s land is placed at risk. 

Financial risk is shared by accessing 
equity from the private sector, therefore 
reducing the cost to the public sector 
and incentivising the partner to deliver. 

Establishing a joint venture structure can be time 
consuming and costly, as such the scheme must 
be of the appropriate scale to justify this route 

Debt is secured through an external 
vehicle on the Councils assets without 
the partnership divesting itself 
completely of the benefits of ownership.  
Through this approach non-recourse 
debt funding, if structured correctly falls 
outside Council’s balance sheet. It is 
possible to use private sector debt or 
prudential borrowing powers to provide 
the senior debt through this approach. 

Whilst the JV will be established to meet the 
Council’s need, its governance must be 
independent of the Council. As such future 
decisions made by the JV must be for the benefit 
of the JV and might not align completely with 
council strategy.  

 

The Council will share in any potential 
uplift in value arising from the enabling 
of the site.  

By transferring the asset into a joint venture and 
only receiving returns over time the Council is 
deferring the capital receipt that could be 
achieved from selling the land outright today. 

Once the JV has been established, and 
if procured correctly, it can be used to 
enable further sites at a significant 
saving when compared to the costs of 
procurement  

 

A successful and well procured JV 
partnership will give the Council access 
to strategic and commercial skills and 
potentially see the transfer of skills and 
expertise to council staff. 

 

There is an on-going role for the 
Council as a shareholder in the vehicle, 
member of the Board and service 
provider, as such it has an on-going 
voice in strategic planning and the 
development process enabling it to 

 

32



APPENDIX C 

Advantages Disadvantages 

further its place shaping role. 

 

Financial Consequences 
 
The Council would receive financial returns through both its land value and a share 
of the profit on the sale of enabled plots of land.  This will be ab uplift on pure land 
value but short of the profit on development. 
 
This approach clearly brings with it associated risks.  Were the Council to participate 
in a joint venture its land would be put at risk and it would share in the enabling risk 
on the site, as such any partnership agreement needs to be clearly structured to 
ensure reward is commensurate with the risk taken and to ensure the delivery of the 
scheme. 
 
This approach enables the Council to access private sector skills specific to enabling 
major schemes.  The Council do not have the in-house skills to manage and deliver 
a scheme of this scale.  A private sector partner would bring significant skills in 
relation to managing the costs, including access to supply chain efficiencies 
maximising the value of sites developed and managing plot sales risk while the 
public sector brings skills in relation to planning. 
 

Option 4 – Joint Venture – Development Partner 

Under this option the Council enters into a partnership with a 
development/investment partner.  The site is then enabled and the residential and 
commercial elements are developed by the Joint Venture.  The Council would likely 
receive a land receipt and take a share of the development profit.   
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

This approach enables public sector 
land to be developed in a scenario 
where the public sector body does not 
have the necessary resources to unlock 
the site / debt required. 

By transferring the land into an external vehicle 
and using it for security for an external funder 
the Council’s land is placed at risk. 

Financial risk is shared by accessing 
equity from the private sector, therefore 
reducing the cost to the public sector 
and incentivising the partner to deliver. 

Establishing a joint venture structure can be time 
consuming and costly, as such the development 
must be of the appropriate scale to justify this 
route 

Debt is secured through an external 
vehicle on the Councils assets without 
the partnership divesting itself 
completely of the benefits of ownership.  
Through this approach non-recourse 
debt funding, if structured correctly falls 
outside Council’s balance sheet. It is 
possible to use private sector debt or 

Whilst the JV will be established to meet the 
Council’s need, its governance must be 
independent of the Council. As such future 
decisions made by the JV must be for the benefit 
of the JV and might not align completely with 
council strategy.  

 

33



APPENDIX C 

Advantages Disadvantages 

prudential borrowing powers to provide 
the senior debt through this approach. 

The Council will share in any potential 
uplift in value arising from the 
development.  

By transferring the asset into a joint venture and 
only receiving returns over time the Council is 
deferring the capital receipt that could be 
achieved from selling the land outright today. 

Once the JV has been established, and 
if procured correctly, it can be used to 
develop further assets at a significant 
saving when compared to the costs of 
procurement and also for ring fenced 
cross subsidy of developments. 

 

A successful and well procured JV 
partnership will give the Council access 
to strategic and commercial 
development skills and potentially see 
the transfer of skills and expertise to 
council staff. 

 

There is an on-going role for the 
Council as a shareholder in the vehicle, 
member of the Board and service 
provider, as such it has an on-going 
voice in strategic planning and the 
development process enabling it to 
further its place shaping role. 

 

 

Financial Consequences 
 
The Council would receive financial returns through both its land value and a share 
of development profit 
 
The potential for private housing development to cross subsidise affordable housing 
and employment space is significant, as such developing a vehicle that enables this 
cross subsidy whilst sharing risk and reward between the partners could be highly 
attractive. 
 
This approach clearly brings with it associated risks.  Were the Council to participate 
in a joint venture its land would be put at risk and it would share in development and 
sales risk on the site, as such any partnership agreement needs to be clearly 
structured to ensure reward is commensurate with the risk taken and to ensure the 
delivery of the scheme. 
 
This approach enables the Council to access private sector skills specific to 
residential development.  The Council do not have the in-house skills to manage and 
deliver a mixed-use residential development.  A private sector partner would bring 
significant skills in relation to managing development cost, including access to supply 

34



APPENDIX C 

chain efficiencies maximising the value of units developed and managing sales risk 
while the public sector brings skills in relation to planning. 
 
Option 5 – Joint Venture – Enabling / Development / Operational Partner 

Under this approach the Council enters into a 50/50 partnership with a strategic 
partner.  The site is then enabled by the Joint Venture, a number of the sites are 
then developed by the Partnership whilst other plots are disposed of to other 
developers, and any operational elements are owned and operated by the 
partnership over the long term.   
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

This approach enables public sector 
land to be developed in a scenario 
where the public sector body does not 
have the necessary resources to unlock 
the site / debt required. 

By transferring the land into an external vehicle 
and using it for security for an external funder 
the Council’s land is placed at risk. 

Financial risk is shared by accessing 
equity from the private sector, therefore 
reducing the cost to the public sector 
and incentivising the partner to deliver. 

Establishing a joint venture structure can be time 
consuming and costly, as such the development 
must be of the appropriate scale to justify this 
route 

Debt is secured through an external 
vehicle on the Councils assets without 
the partnership divesting itself 
completely of the benefits of ownership.  
Through this approach non-recourse 
debt funding, if structured correctly falls 
outside Council’s balance sheet. It is 
possible to use private sector debt or 
prudential borrowing powers to provide 
the senior debt through this approach. 

Whilst the JV will be established to meet the 
Council’s need, its governance must be 
independent of the Council. As such future 
decisions made by the JV must be for the benefit 
of the JV and might not align completely with 
council strategy.  

 

The Council will share in any potential 
uplift in value arising from the enabling 
of sites, development of units or long 
term operation of assets.  

By transferring the asset into a joint venture and 
only receiving returns over time the Council is 
deferring the capital receipt that could be 
achieved from selling the land outright today. 

Once the JV has been established, and 
if procured correctly, it can be used to 
deliver further schemes at a significant 
saving when compared to the costs of 
procurement and also for ring fenced 
cross subsidy of developments. 

 

A successful and well procured JV 
partnership will give the Council access 
to strategic and commercial master 
developer, development and 
operational skills and potentially see the 
transfer of skills and expertise to 

 

35



APPENDIX C 

Advantages Disadvantages 

council staff. 

There is an on-going role for the 
Council as a shareholder in the vehicle, 
member of the Board and service 
provider, as such it has an on-going 
voice in strategic planning and the 
development process enabling it to 
further its place shaping role. 

 

The Council is accessing expertise from 
the market to understand the balance 
between development and enablement 
as well as long term operational skills.  
As such it is supported in developing 
the strategy for the site. 

 

 

Financial Consequences 
 
The Council would likely receive a land receipt and take a share of the 
development/operational profit, which could include private rental and commercial 
income.   
 
The potential for private housing development to cross subsidise affordable housing 
and employment space is significant, as such developing a vehicle that enables this 
cross subsidy whilst sharing risk and reward between the partners could be highly 
attractive. 
 
This approach clearly brings with it associated risks.  Were the Council to participate 
in a joint venture its land would be put at risk and it would share in development and 
sales risk on the site, as such any partnership agreement needs to be clearly 
structured to ensure reward is commensurate with the risk taken and to ensure the 
delivery of the scheme. 
 
This approach enables the Council to access private sector skills specific to 
residential development.  The Council do not have the in-house skills to manage and 
deliver a mixed-use residential development.  A private sector partner would bring 
significant skills in relation to managing development cost, including access to supply 
chain efficiencies maximising the value of units developed and managing sales risk 
while the public sector brings skills in relation to planning. 

36



Appendix D 

Soft Market Testing Themes 

 

No. Theme Explanation 

1 Delivering through a JV 
Partnership 

There was broad consensus that the preferred approach from 
the market would be to progress the scheme through a 
corporate JV arrangement with the Council.  The key reasons 
for this were: 

 The ability to share risk; 

 Access to Council owned land; and 

 The shared approach to funding.  

2 Highways Infrastructure All organisations met were very encouraged by the 
commitment to the project shown by the Council, particularly 
the hybrid planning application, which includes detail for the 
highway works.   

All organisations were attracted by the Council dealing with the 
delivery of the highways scheme outside of the JV 
arrangement as this would have been a significant upfront 
cost, which would have been a significant drag on the viability 
and deliverability of the project. 

3 Modern Methods of 
Construction (MMC) 

Most organisations expressed a willingness to meet the LAAC 
funding requirements for the first 649 homes to be built through 
MMC, however most organisations do not have the capability 
to directly deliver this alone and would need to partner. 

Some further work is required on the type of MMC product the 
Council wants and how quality can be measured.     

4 Planning Strategy / Start on 
Site 

All organisations thought timescales were tight but potentially 
achievable to turn around a planning application and be on site 
by March 2021. 

All organisations had experience of developing design to quite 
a detailed level during procurement, however the requirements 
/ expense would be considered further and against other 
opportunities when the procurement launches. 

5 Procurement Route/ Bidders Most organisations understood that the OJEU requirements on 
the Council would dictate that the Council would need to 
procure their support whatever route were taken to delivery.  
<Most understood that were a JV proposed that this would 
need to be procured through Competitive Dialogue.   

Most then expressed willingness to participate in an OJEU 
Competitive Dialogue (noting some of those contacted did not 
meet on the basis they would not want to participate in this 
procurement route).  

6 Sale of Houses Most organisations raised risks around how many houses can 
be sold a month (an accelerated programme is set out as a 
requirement in the LAAC funding agreement) and they would 
need to consider this in their approach to delivering the site.  

7 Management & Operation Most organisations were interested in longer term interests on 
the site such as management and operation responsibilities of 

37



Appendix D 

No. Theme Explanation 

elements including public realm and commercial.  They would 
seek to share this risk though through a partnership approach 

8 Affordable Housing All organisations were comfortable with the Harborough policy 
of 40% affordable housing across the scheme. 

9 Commercial All organisations said the inclusion of the industrial commercial 
wouldn’t put them off bidding and similarly neither would the 
exclusion.   

10 Funding the Development Most organisations were most comfortable with being able to 
fund the development through a partnership approach rather 
than themselves.  A number flagged that if they were to deliver 
this alone then the land value would be significantly discounted 
due to planning risks.  Most preferred a JV partner approach, 
which would be in a master developer role (excluding the 
Highways project).  

11 Sustainability Most organisations advised the Council to ensure it’s minimum 
requirements set out in the tender would still enable the 
Council’s other priorities to be met.   

12 Other Sites All organisations seemed comfortable with other sites 
potentially being delivered in the future by the JV. 

 

38



The Procurement Process

Notice ITPD

Dialogue 1

Dialogue 2

Invitation 

to submit 

Detailed 

Solutions

Evaluate

Supplier 

Feedback

Selection of 

suppliers to 

progress to 

Final Tender

SQ

Selection 

Questionnaire

ITCD

Evaluate

Select 

Preferred 

Bidder & 

Preferred 

Bidder 

Stage

Submit 

Cabinet

Paper 

for 

Approval

Award 

Notice

Standstill 

Period

Contract

Selection of 

preferred 

bidder

Qualification Stage First Stage Dialogue Second Stage Dialogue

Pass/Fail
Financial 

Standing

Technical 

Questions

Dialogue 3

Dialogue 1

Dialogue 2

Dialogue 3

Contract Award

Select

Shortlist of 

suppliers

Invitation 

to submit 

Final 

Tender
Call for 

Final 

Tender

39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

SCRUTINY COMMISSION – 6TH NOVEMBER 2019 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

POTENTIAL STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT AREA – M69 JUNCTION 2 

 

Purpose of the Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Scrutiny Commission of proposals 
to promote the development of a Strategic Development Area (SDA) adjoining 
M69 Junction 2 to the west of Sapcote and Stoney Stanton and enable 
consideration to be given as to how the County Council might be involved in 
the delivery of the SDA taking account of the key issues identified. An exempt 
report on this matter will be considered by the Cabinet at its meeting in 
December 2019. 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

2. The Cabinet considered a report on the M69 Junction 2 SDA at its meeting on 
13th September 2019 and resolved:- 

a.  to support the promotion of the County Council’s land as part of the 
wider SDA; 

b. to authorise the Director of Corporate Resources to enter into 
discussions with other landowners to assess the best way to achieve 
delivery of the SDA; and, 

c. that the Director of Corporate Resources, in collaboration with the 
Director of Environment and Transport and the Chief Executive, 
formulates a role and approach for the County Council in the promotion 
and delivery of the proposed SDA. 

3. The County Council Strategic Plan 2018-22 approved by Cabinet in 
November 2017 recognises the need to be entrepreneurial in the use of 
assets and resources in order to ensure delivery of the Council’s vision 
including a key outcome of ensuring that Leicestershire has a choice of quality 
homes that people can afford. 

4. The Strategic Growth Plan adopted by the County Council and partner 
organisations in 2018 identifies the need to create, through investment in 
improved infrastructure, conditions to sustain and grow a strong local 
economy recognising that proposals including the A46 Expressway create 
opportunities for major development. 

5. The Cabinet at its meeting on 24th May 2019 in considering the report 
“Supporting Growth in Leicestershire” recognised the need for the County 
Council to be proactive in the co-ordination of infrastructure delivery 
necessary to support major development schemes and the wider community. 

41 Agenda Item 8



6. At its meeting on 25th June 2019 the Cabinet authorised the exploration of 
options, including joint venture partnerships, for the delivery of development 
projects on County Council owned land. 
 

7. The Council’s Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy for 2019 – 2023 
approved by the Cabinet in September 2019 includes the following aims: 

(i) To support the objectives of the Council’s MTFS, generate an income, 
increase the Council’s financial resilience and support delivery of front 
line services; 

(ii) To support the aims of the Council’s Strategic Plan, in particular 
delivery of the objective of affordable and quality homes through 
helping to unlock and accelerate developments; 

(iii) To support growth in the County and meet the aims of the Economic 
Growth Plan and the County-wide Local Industrial Strategy; 

(iv) To manage risk by investing in diverse sectors and ensure a more 
diverse range of properties are available to meet the aims of economic 
development. 

 
8. At its meeting on 22nd October 2019 Cabinet approved the County Council’s 

response to Blaby District Council’s emerging Local Plan Issues and Options 
consultation. 

Background 

9. The proposed SDA would be focussed on M69 Junction 2 to the west of 
Stoney Stanton and Sapcote in the Blaby District. It would have the potential 
to deliver approximately 4500 houses and a substantial area of employment 
workspace together with supporting infrastructure, which for a development of 
this scale would need to include three primary schools, a secondary school, 
local and neighbourhood centres plus significant highways and transport 
infrastructure. 

10. Aware of the potential that exists to promote major development opportunities 
along the corridor of the proposed Trans-Midlands Trade Corridor (A46 
Expressway) significant developer / promoter interest has been shown in 
bringing forward an SDA in this location.  It is therefore likely that an SDA will 
be brought forward in this location irrespective of the County Council’s active 
involvement.  

11. The Local Plan consultation documents indicate that strategic allocations 
made as part of the plan process could be brought forward in advance of the 
major infrastructure such as the A46 Expressway and thereby form the 
foundations of a future infrastructure led approach to development.  

12. A strategic rail freight terminal to be served by the Leicester – Birmingham 
line is proposed to the west of the M69. 

13. The County Council owns a number of farm properties at Sapcote and Stoney 
Stanton as shown coloured pink on the plan attached as Appendix A. 62 
hectares (152 acres) of this land shown edged pink has the potential to be 
included within the potential SDA.  

42



14. The potential SDA is one of the principal elements of the County Council’s 
South West Leicestershire Growth Area Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) 
bid. The bid focusses on demonstrating the links to the Strategic Growth Plan 
and priorities identified by Midlands Connect and Midlands Engine and will 
help secure the infrastructure required to unlock potential housing growth at 
this site and Lutterworth. 

Local Planning Context 

15. Current planning policy is set out in the Blaby District Local Plan (Core 
Strategy) which was adopted in 2013 and covers the period to 2029. Policy 
has been further developed by the adoption of the Delivery Development 
Planning Document (DPD) in 2018 which clarifies the location and extent of 
the housing allocations identified within the district. The potential SDA does 
not have an allocation within the current Local Plan. 
 

16. In February 2019, the District Council adopted its Blaby District Growth Plan. 
This sets out the key principles and objectives that will be used by the District 
Council in taking forward new development and infrastructure within its area 
and in planning new communities. These focus on developments being 
infrastructure led, integrated and self-sustaining, of quality design and 
construction, creating a healthy environment and providing access to 
employment business and skills. 
 

17. The District Council is currently undertaking a review of its Local Plan. The 
current timetable for the adoption of the Local Plan is set out in the Table 
below. 
 

Call for Sites May 2019 

Issues and Options Consultation July / August 2019 

Consult on Publication Local Plan September 2020 

Submit Local Plan for Examination March 2021 

Local Plan Examination August 2021 

Adopt Local Plan March 2022 

 

Consultation Responses  

18. The 62 hectares of the County Council’s land shown coloured and edged pink 
on the plan has been submitted to the Call for Sites, as part of a co-ordinated 
response with adjoining landowners, to support the aspiration to deliver the 
SDA, recognising that some of the land sits in an area of separation 
necessary to maintain the integrity of the individual villages. 
 

19. The Issues and Options consultation stage closed on 30th September 2019. 
The County Council’s response, approved by the Cabinet on 22nd October 
2019, is set out in Appendix B and incorporates the comments made in its role 
as a landowner. A summary of the relevant sections of this response are set 
out below:- 
 

43



a. In respect of the locational strategy and the themes identified in the 
consultation document the views of strategic property are aligned with 
the rest of the authority. In particular, there is strong support for option 
D in the locational strategy. However; not all development will take 
place on strategic sites but also within rural centres and Blaby town; 
and they should receive allocations in accordance with their scale and 
position in the settlement hierarchy in order to support the sustainability 
of those centres and maintain services for individual communities. 

b. In additional to supporting the general comments on the provision of 
affordable housing it is considered that the affordable housing 
requirement should be based on a robust assessment of needs and 
applied flexibly to take account of site specific circumstances including 
viability. 

c. Taking a more strategic approach as the ability exists to co-locate 
major employment sites with strategic housing development to 
maximise the potential for creating sustainable communities is 
supported. 

d. In addition to responding to the consultation, appropriate submissions 
have also been made to the Call for Sites (which is part of the Local 
Plan-making process) in respect of 

 Land at Sapcote and Stoney Stanton.                                                        
The County Council owns 62 hectares of land which would form 
part of a much larger SDA focussed on M69 J2 and situated to 
the west of Stoney Stanton and Sapcote. Working in 
collaboration with other landowners the potential exists through 
the delivery of new and improved infrastructure to create a new 
settlement of 4500 new homes together with extensive 
employment opportunities and all the necessary schools, shops, 
services, community facilities and green spaces required to 
support the new community. The scheme is strongly supported 
by the County Council as evidenced by the resolution of Cabinet 
on 13th September 2019 which commits the Council to taking 
the necessary steps to help secure the successful delivery of the 
site together with the supporting infrastructure. The other 
landowners with interests in the wider site will, through this 
consultation, be confirming their commitment to progressing the 
scheme thereby demonstrating the site’s availability and 
deliverability. 

Promotion and Delivery of the SDA 

20. In order to secure the site’s inclusion in the new Local Plan it will be essential 
to demonstrate to the Local Planning Authority and the Inspector at 
Examination in Public that the site provides a viable option for the delivery of 
future housing. To achieve this the following issues need to be satisfactorily 
addressed:- 

a. Land Assembly is sufficiently well advanced to ensure deliverability of 
the scheme.                                                                                 

44



b. An indicative Masterplan supported by a substantial body of supporting 
evidence needs to be prepared to provide certainty as to the capacity 
of the site to deliver the quantum of development proposed and the 
impacts of the scheme can be mitigated. 

c. The likely Section 106 requirements are robustly assessed and a 
methodology developed ensuring that appropriate contributions are 
made across the whole development.                                                                       

d. The site delivers a development compliant with District Council policy 
which provides both landowners and developers with the financial 
returns necessary for them to progress the scheme to completion 

Issues and Options 

21. The following Issues are considered as being key to the delivery of the 
scheme and the objectives of the County Council. The level of the County 
Council’s involvement in bringing the scheme forward will determine the level 
of risk faced by the Council and its ability to manage these issues. 

(i) The scheme is financially viable making it commercially attractive to the 
market, capable of funding all essential infrastructure and providing an 
adequate return to all landowners. 

(ii) The scheme would require significant “at risk” funding prior to the 
receipt of any returns. Clearly there needs to be a positive balance 
between financial return and financial risk. 

(iii) The County Council has the potential to suffer greater reputational risk. 
To manage this effectively the council should seek to retain the 
maximum level of control possible and manage risk in accordance with 
its corporate risk strategy. 

(iv) In promoting the development, the County Council needs to deliver on 
its wider strategic objectives principally the Affordable and Quality 
Homes and other outcomes of the Strategic Plan 2018 – 22 and in 
addition to influencing the planning and delivery of a well-planned 
development be in a position to engage positively with local 
communities to best protect the interests and wellbeing of residents. 

(v) Through the Section 106 process the County Council will be the major 
provider of the infrastructure required to support the new community. 
Accordingly, it is important not to lose the ability to influence its timely 
and effective delivery. 

(vi) The County Council’s ability to access external funding streams is seen 
as attractive to potential partners. To support the council’s HIF bid and 
any future infrastructure delivery it is important that the ability to directly 
influence the scheme is retained. 

Proposed Approach 

45



22. It is considered essential that the County Council should be actively involved 
in the promotion of the SDA in order to best protect its landowner interests 
and maximise both the financial and wider policy benefits that are realised 
through its delivery. 

23. The County Council has an opportunity to take a lead in the delivery of the 
scheme and be proactive in delivering the infrastructure required to support 
the new community, including the sourcing of any external funding, and 
seeking to include arrangements for that delivery in any future collaboration 
agreements. 

24. The extent of the County Council’s involvement will, however, be dependent 
on the outcome of negotiations with landowners, the financial and other risks 
to which the County Council might be exposed and its ability to significantly 
improve the wider outcomes delivered by the scheme. 

25. Cabinet at its December meeting will be asked to approve the detailed 
approach and business case and the allocation of resources necessary to 
support its delivery. The approach includes the following matters which are 
set in paragraphs 25 – 28 below. 

26. The Cabinet will be asked to agree that the Head of Strategic Property 
Services undertake the further discussions and negotiations with other 
landowners to achieve the land assembly that will be required to deliver a 
viable scheme and ensure the SDA’s inclusion within the Blaby District Local 
Plan. 

27. As part of those negotiations it is proposed that the Director of Corporate 
Resources should progress the potential purchase of land interests not under 
the control of developers which are required to complete land assembly and 
protect the integrity of the scheme and the wider interests of the County 
Council.  

28. In parallel with these negotiations, it is proposed that the potential options for 
the future delivery of this site be considered as part of the exercise approved 
by Cabinet at its meeting on 25th June 2019 the outcome of which will be 
presented to Cabinet later in the year.  

29. Further, the Cabinet will be asked to authorise the Director of Corporate 
Resources, in collaboration with the Director of Environment and Transport 
and the Head of the Growth Unit and Major Programmes to progress the 
agreed approach for the promotion of the site and potential future delivery of 
the scheme, together with a planned programme for the delivery of the 
infrastructure required to support the new community. 

Resources Implications 

30. Future long-term capital receipts could accrue to the County Council from the 
disposal of housing and employment development land. Such receipts would 
be dependent on the strategy adopted for the management of the Council’s 
assets and delivery of the scheme and the successful promotion of the SDA 
as an allocation within the emerging Blaby Local Plan, the subsequent grant 

46



of planning consent, and future property market conditions over the next 20 
years. 
 

31. This would be a large and complex project that requires significant upfront 
investment in order to generate future financial returns.  Inevitably this brings 
a degree of risk.  The Council is mindful of this and will put in place 
appropriate governance and other mitigation to limit, as far as possible, known 
risks. 

 
32. The HIF bid, if successful, could provide funding of up to £19m towards the 

delivery of strategic infrastructure. 
 

33. The following resources, common to all potential options would be required to 
ensure that the County Council maximises its potential benefits:- 

a) In-house professional property, legal, financial and Growth Unit 
resources in developing the proposed approach and promoting the 
scheme through to delivery; 

b) Specialist property, legal and financial/tax advice procured to advise 
the Council and support the negotiations with landowners and 
developers are likely to be in the order of £50,000;  

c) Work that is required to promote the Council’s land and wider site as a 
proposed SDA in the Local Plan are estimated to total a maximum of 
approximately £300,000. 

 

Circulation under Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 

34. A copy of this report has been sent to Mrs. M. Wright CC 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 

35.There are no Equality or Human Rights Implications directly arising from this 
report. Implications associated with the future development of the SDA and 
applications for planning permission will be subject to Equality and Human 
Rights Impact Assessments (EHRIAs) as appropriate prior to decisions being 
made. 

Environmental Impact 

36.A full Environmental Impact Assessment will be required as part of the 
submission of any future Planning Application for the site. Further, the delivery 
of growth, irrespective of the preferred delivery option, will reflect the Council’s 
position in respect of climate change. 

Background Papers 

Report to the Cabinet on 13 September “Potential Strategic Development Area – 
M69 Junction 2” 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s147987/Potential%20SDA%20M69%20J2.pdf 

47

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s147987/Potential%20SDA%20M69%20J2.pdf


Report to the Cabinet on 13 September 2019 “Corporate Asset Investment Fund 
Annual Performance Report 2018-19 and Strategy Update for 2019 to 2023”. 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5605  

Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2018-22 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan  

Strategic Growth Plan 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s142307/Appendix%20A%20-
%20Strategic%20Growth%20Plan.pdf 

Report to the Cabinet on 24 May “Supporting Growth in Leicestershire” 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s145945/Supporting%20Growth%20in%20Leic
estershire.pdf 

Report to the Cabinet on 25 June “Delivering Growth in Leicestershire - East of 
Lutterworth Strategic Development Area and other Development Projects” 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s146560/Delivery%20Growth%20in%20Leicest
ershire.pdf 

Report to the Cabinet on 22 October “Response to Blaby District Council's New 
Local Plan Issues and Options Consultation” 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s148889/Blaby%20DC%20Local%20Plan%20I
ssues%20Options%20Consultation%20report%20final.pdf  

Appendices 

Appendix A – Leicestershire County Council Land Ownership Plan. 
Appendix B – The County Council’s Issues and Options consultation response 

Officers to Contact 

Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources                                                                    
Tel 0116 305 6199 Email chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk. 

Jon Bennett, Head of Strategic Property Services, Corporate Resources Department          
Tel 0116 305 6926 Email jon.bennett@leics.gov.uk.  

 

48

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5605
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s142307/Appendix%20A%20-%20Strategic%20Growth%20Plan.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s142307/Appendix%20A%20-%20Strategic%20Growth%20Plan.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s145945/Supporting%20Growth%20in%20Leicestershire.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s145945/Supporting%20Growth%20in%20Leicestershire.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s146560/Delivery%20Growth%20in%20Leicestershire.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s146560/Delivery%20Growth%20in%20Leicestershire.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s148889/Blaby%20DC%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20Options%20Consultation%20report%20final.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s148889/Blaby%20DC%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20Options%20Consultation%20report%20final.pdf
mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:jon.bennett@leics.gov.uk


Not to Scale @ A3 Landscape
(Layer 79)

David Britland
August 2019    

Land ownership at Stoney Stanton and Sapcote
Blaby District

Strategic Property Services
Corporate Resources Department
County Hall, Glenfield.
Leicester. LE3 8RE



Proposed Rail Freight Interchange

LCC owned land surrounding 
Stoney Stanton and Sapcote
Sites submitted to
Call for  Sites Consultation

Reproduced from an Ordnance Survey map with the 
permission of the Controller of HMSO 
® Crown Copyright.  Leicestershire County Council 
Licence number 100019271

M69 J2

Stoney Stanton

Sapcote

49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



201 
 

APPENDIX B 
 
 

Leicestershire   County   Council   Officer   Response   to 

Blaby District Council’s New Local Plan Issues and Options Consultation 
 
 

Scale of Growth and Locational Strategy 
 

Question 1: What start and end dates do you think are the most appropriate for the new Local 
Plan? 

LCC response 
 

Preference is for 2011 as the start date, as this corresponds with the start date of the Strategic 
Growth Plan and the evidence which underpins it. For the end date 2037 as suggested, or further 
forward in time, 2041 or 2046; so the long term view can be clearly expressed and embedded in 
the Local Plan, and it provides greater potential for ease of alignment with other Local Plans in the 
HMA and related implementation of proposals and monitoring. 

Scale of Growth and Locational Strategy 
 

Question 2: Do you agree with the issues identified? Are there any other issues that should be 
considered? 

 

a) Issue 1: The population of the District, and wider housing market area, is continuing to grow 
and new households require housing as a result; 

 

b) Issue 2: A suitable amount of additional employment land will need to be provided to ensure 
that it supports the local economy and future housing growth; and 

 

c) Issue 3: The plan must identify sustainable locations for housing, employment and other new 
development. 

LCC response 
 

Agree with the three issues identified and suggest addition of the following issues: 
 

 The recently declared ‘Climate Change Emergency’ (at national and local level) requires 
thought and consideration being given to the priorities and challenges this provides in relation 
to delivering future growth through Blaby DC’s new Local Plan. 

 

 The existing spatial distribution of development across L&L is unable to support future growth 
and a different spatial distribution is required moving forward. This will entail the 
identification of strategic growth locations in Blaby, either as part of existing communities or 
involve the creation of new communities within the framework provided by the SGP. It is 
important to note that one of the key drivers for the SGP was the understanding that in the 
longer term in L&L the existing settlement pattern would be unable to support future growth, 
and a new spatial distribution which seeks to deliver essential infrastructure is required. 

Housing Growth Options 
 

Question 3: Which of the following option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any 
other options to consider? 

51



202 
 

 

 

 
 

 
Option A: Continue with existing level of housing growth beyond 2029. 
This method would see the continuation of providing 380 homes per year as set out within the existing Local 
Plan. 

 

Option B: Use the standard methodology for calculating local housing need. 
The National Planning Policy Framework expects local planning authorities to use the national standard 
method to identify the minimum number of homes expected to be planned for (with other methods only 
being acceptable in exceptional circumstances). This approach would plan to deliver a minimum requirement 
of 339 homes per year. 

 

Option C: Use the standard methodology and provide for a share of the unmet need (towards the end of 
the Plan period). 
This would reflect the approach set out in the Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan. It would 
plan to deliver a minimum of Blaby District Council’s own needs per year to 2031 and then deliver an 
increased housing requirement per year post 2031, to accommodate an agreed share of Leicester City’s 
unmet needs. 
(Further work is required to confirm the exact level of unmet need and for the local authorities to agree 
through a Statement of Common Ground, how that can be accommodated elsewhere). 

LCC response 
 

It is considered that Option C using the standard methodology (introduced by the NPPF) and 
seeking to provide for a share of the unmet need, towards the end of the new Local Plan period, 
should be pursued. 

 

As part of this option, consideration needs to be given to the needs of the environment regarding 
housing growth (for example, sensitive areas should be avoided, and green infrastructure and 
habitats should be improved to be resilient to the impacts of land use changes). 

Employment Growth Options 
 

Question 4: Which of the following option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any 
other options to consider? 

 
Option A: Plan for the employment requirements specified within the 2017 Leicester and Leicestershire 
Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA). 
The 2017 HEDNA identifies a requirement of around 4 hectares of additional employment land per year for 
Blaby District between 2011 and 2031. This requirement is based on previous trends and forecasts of future 
employment growth. It also reflects the requirements contained within the current Local Plan. 

 
Option B: Work with neighbouring authorities to meet the different types of employment requirements 
across a wider area (and update the joint evidence base where required). 
The HEDNA acknowledges that policy decisions may in reality influence the future spatial distribution of 
employment growth and land provision between authorities (within the Functional Economic Market Area). 
Cross boundary working may allow redistribution of identified requirements based on other factors such as 
availability of suitable sites or wider Local Authority ambitions to promote certain types of employment 
growth. Any such agreement would be subject to the Duty to Cooperate process to ensure that an open and 
clear audit trail can be evidenced. 

 

Option C: Support employment growth above identified needs. 
This approach would provide employment land above identified needs to increase Blaby District’s 
competitive advantage. 

52



203 
 

 

 

 
 

LCC response 
 

It is considered that Option B is the preferred option. Given the nature of the delivery of 
employment land and that policy decisions may influence the future spatial distribution of 
employment growth and land provision between local authorities, it is important for local 
authority partners to work together updating the joint evidence base and agreement through the 
Duty to Co-operate process. This could result in provision of employment growth above identified 
needs (Option C). 

Locational Strategy Options 
 

Question 5: Which of the following option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any 
other options to consider? 

 
Option A: Continue with existing policy approach for the locational strategy. 
The existing policy approach of ‘urban concentration’ directs most development to the Leicester Principal 
Urban Area (the PUA). A settlement hierarchy is used to determine the level of growth for other areas. 

 
Option B: Extended Leicester PUA focus. 
This option builds on Option A by proposing to extend the Principal Urban Area of Leicester. Whilst the 
extent is not defined this could potentially include Enderby, Narborough and Blaby, based on their levels of 
service provision. 

 

Option C: Spread the distribution of growth. 
This option gives a wider spread to the distribution of growth across the District. There are different ways to 
do this: 

- Trend distribution – based on where growth has taken place recently; 
- Proportionate share – based on current size of settlements and/or a settlement hierarchy; or 
- Equal share to each settlement irrespective of size. 

 

Option D: Infrastructure led development at strategic sites / garden villages. 
This option is consistent with the Strategic Growth Plan and Blaby District Growth Plan. The SGP directs 
development to major strategic locations to reduce the impact of development on existing towns, villages 
and rural areas. In so doing, it allows new development to be focused in association with significant new and 
improved infrastructure, such as the proposed A46 expressway and A5 corridor. 
It also allows for development in Leicester, other identified key centres and to a lesser degree, development 
of non-strategic scale sites elsewhere. 
The SGP is a long term plan to 2050 and some of the major infrastructure proposed is not expected to 
happen until after the end of the Plan period. However, for this long term plan to be delivered effectively the 
foundations for this approach will need to be put in place through the Local Plan. 

 

Option E: Single New Standalone Settlement 
A single new settlement to accommodate the majority of the housing requirement. It is likely that 
development of this new settlement will extend beyond the plan period. 

LCC response 
 

With regards to locational strategy options, Option D should be pursued. This provides the 
potential to deliver key essential infrastructure, and best reflects the SGP strategy. 
Strategic masterplanning to provide a framework greater in scale than the preparation of a 
masterplan for a major site will be required.  Strategic masterplanning should enable the scale 
and location of strategic sites and how they function as extended or new communities to be fully 
considered. Within the A46 Priority Growth Corridor in the district of Blaby it is highly likely that 
there will be a strong functional relationship with Leicester, including the City Centre, emphasising 

53



204 
 

 

 

 
 

the importance of radial and orbital routes and high quality public transport provision. 
 

Careful consideration would be needed as to those elements of the SGP infrastructure that could 
reasonably be expected to be delivered during the local plan period and how this would align 
with/facilitate specific growth opportunities/locations. Identifying early infrastructure priorities 
for delivery during the plan period could open up currently inaccessible locations for strategic 
development both during the Local Plan period and beyond. 

 
The scale and location(s) of specific development proposals under this option will be crucial to 
how they function as settlements and associated travel patterns. Strategic development in the 
A46 Priority Growth Corridor (including possible ‘garden villages’) is likely to have a strong 
relationship with the Leicester PUA and by extension is likely to have a reliance on this (to a 
greater or lesser degree) for access to jobs, services etc. 

 

Correspondingly, developments in the priority growth corridor would need to be strategically 
planned with this in mind; i.e. as distinct new communities but supported by appropriate 
sustainable travel opportunities, including high-quality public transport links to the PUA, to 
minimise the need to travel by car. Phasing of supporting transport (and other key) infrastructure 
and services will be crucial to ensure these are introduced in a timely fashion, such that new 
communities can develop and function effectively during the interim build-out phase. 

 

Furthermore, the cumulative impact of multiple development proposals spread across an area can 
be problematic for the highway network, particularly when seeking to secure appropriate 
mitigation through the Development Management process.  The move towards more strategic 
sites and a reduction in the number of small and medium sites which is sought in the 
implementation of the SGP should help this situation to a great extent. 

Strategic Green Designation Options 
 

Question 6: Which of the below option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any other 
options to consider? 

 
Option A: Continue with existing approach to retain the designations. 
This option would retain the Green Wedge, Area of Separation and Countryside designations in principle. The 
detailed boundaries would be reviewed to take account of the new Local Plan site allocations and any other 
factual updates. 

 
Option B: Consider whether or not to retain the designations. 
This option would review whether or not to retain the Green Wedge, Area of Separation and Countryside 
designations in principle. If the designations are retained, the detailed boundaries would be reviewed to take 
account of the new Local Plan site allocations and any other factual updates. 

LCC response 
 

It is considered that Option A should be pursued. Policy designations for strategic green 
infrastructure should have longevity wherever possible, strengthening the value and principle of 
designation. Green wedge designation has been an effective policy tool, helping to provide 'green 
lungs' and physical identity and distinctiveness for communities. Within this context it is 
recognised that detailed boundary reviews will need to be undertaken to inform new Local Plan 
site allocations. 

54



205 
 

 

 

 
 

The review of detailed boundaries should take account of the proposed SGP transport 
infrastructure and any other strategic transport infrastructure required to support the plan, to 
avoid any fundamental contradictions which could impede delivery of essential infrastructure and 
thus undermine the plan. 

 

In developing the emerging Local Plan such a policy needs to plan positively to enhance their 
beneficial use by considering their potential to provide access, sporting opportunities, landscape 
betterment and improved biodiversity in addition to the designation of additional areas of 
separation in locations adjoining new strategic locations. Initiatives/activities that seek to 
address CO2 emissions across administrative boundaries are also supported. 

Health and Well-being 
 

Question 7: Do you agree with the issues identified? Are there any other issues that should be 
considered? 

 

a) Issue 4: The District has some of the highest sports participation rates in the County. However, 
it ranks poorly in terms of both the quality and quantity of facilities; 

 

b) Issue 5: The residents of Blaby District are heavily reliant on private cars to travel to work and 
leisure. Walk and ride connections between key work, leisure and residential sites could be 
improved; 

 

c) Issue 6: Obesity is an increasing problem nationally and excess weight in adults within Blaby 
District is significantly worse than the England average; and 

 

d) Issue 7: Pockets of the District suffer from poor air quality, predominantly from vehicle 
emissions. 

LCC response 
 

Agree with the issues identified. It is considered that Issue 5 should also consider opportunities to 
increase co-location of homes and jobs to enable journeys to be more conducive to active modes 
of transport. Building on the Access Fund and links to the Transforming Cities Fund initiatives 
should help to resolve these issues. 

 

Also note the ongoing developments in the Fosse Park/M1 J21 area, which are likely to further 
enhance its status as a major retail, leisure and employment destination within the District. The 
area as a whole remains very ‘car oriented’ and conversely unappealing for walking and cycling. 
Tackling this issue could help to increase uptake of active modes of travel and unlock further 
economic potential for the area. 

 

Also note the issues do not consider the poor quality of green spaces and their benefit to both 
health/wellbeing and the environment (biodiversity, walking and cycling for example). 

Open Space, Sport and Recreation Policy Options 
 

Question 8: Which of the following option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any 
other options to consider? 

 

 
Option A: Continue with the existing approach and update the evidence base. 

55



206 
 

 

 

 
 

Currently the Local Plan sets out (in Policy CS15) provision standards per 1000 population for each type of 
open space. This is a well established approach and would be supported by updated Open Space Assessment 
evidence. It would also continue to protect open space, sports and recreation facilities from other forms of 
development (subject to consideration of their use and quality). 
Future needs would also be derived from the latest Playing Pitch Strategy (or equivalent) for sports related 
facilities. 

 

Option B: Do not set out specific standards and instead require provision to be delivered in line with the 
Council’s most up-to-date evidence. 
Instead of setting out development standards per 1000 population within policy, provision of new open 
space, sport and recreation could be required to be in line with the Council’s most up-to-date evidence. This 
approach would help to future proof the policy throughout the life span of the Local Plan (given that Sport 
England recommend that open space and playing pitch evidence is updated every 3 years). 

 

Option C: Set out additional development criteria for new provision. 
To support either Option A or B outlined above, criteria could be developed which sets out design-related 
requirements. These could include, for example, requirements for new provision to be accessible by 
sustainable modes of travel, where feasible create links to other areas of green infrastructure or to be well 
located within a new development to help maximise its potential usage. 

LCC Response 
 

It is considered Option B should be pursued supported by Option C. Option B takes into account 
Blaby District Council’s most up-to-date evidence to reflect current conditions. Option C could 
support option B and would be beneficial to the environment (in terms of sustainable modes of 
travel, green wedges, National Habitat Networks, the Net Gain approach and the benefit on 
healthy communities). Furthermore, option C could offer an opportunity to ensure that design is 
also considered regarding biodiversity opportunities and maximising the potential usage for 
people. 

 

Consideration could be given to a policy which directs new open space, sport and recreation 
policy provision towards locations with maximum accessibility via sustainable modes of travel. 

 
If going down this route it would make sense to emphasise walking and cycling connections, given 
these modes have complementary public health benefits and are less susceptible to future 
changes to the commercial and/or public funding environments. 

 
The approach adopted should take account of the overall needs of the community and wider 
locality and be geared to securing a comprehensive solution and not one just in relation to the 
individual site. Each development can then contribute towards the open space needs of the 
overall community either by on-site provision or financial contribution. This is a further 
justification for allocation of strategic development areas capable of delivering the infrastructure 
required to meet the needs of the new community. 

Healthy Communities Policy Options 
Question 9: Which of the following option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any 
other options to consider? 

 
Option A: Continue with the existing approach. 
This would continue the use of the existing Local Plan policies to cover issues such as provision of open space 
and encouragement of sustainable modes of travel. These policies would have health related benefits; 
however they may not be clearly referenced within the Local Plan. 

 

Option B: Consider setting out a specific policy which relates to healthy communities. 

56



207 
 

 

 

 
 

A dedicated policy could be used to set out requirements which specifically aim to improve the health of the 
District’s residents. This could include for example: a requirement for new residential proposals (over a 
certain number of dwellings) to submit a Health Impact Assessment; a requirement for all major new 
employment, retail and community facilities proposals to provide a suitable level of covered and secure cycle 
parking; or place restrictions on the number of hot food takeaways permitted within individual 
neighbourhood parades and /or within certain distances to schools. 

 

Option C: Consider the use of a specific policy which looks to improve walking and cycling connections. 
The use of such a policy could promote routes both within new development sites and through into other 
areas. This would help to improve / tackle a wide range of current issues regarding the health and well being 
of the District’s residents (for example improved air quality, increased activity levels and providing better 
access to green space). 

LCC Response 
 

Prefer Option B as a specific policy requirement to submit a Health Impact Assessment means that 
health considerations are explicitly considered at an early stage and can positively influence the 
development proposal prior to securing planning permission. 

 
Supportive in principle of a policy which helps to secure new and improved walking and cycling 
connections as part of new developments, providing it can cite particular (specific) ideas and 
initiatives. Any new infrastructure and routes would need to be cohesive extensions to the 
network in order to be a worthwhile investment (including by developers), which may not lend 
itself to a generic, ‘one size fits all’ type policy applicable to all developments irrespective of size 
or location. 

 

It would useful to understand how any policy might build on the Access Fund and link across to 
any relevant Transforming Cities initiatives to take advantage of any specific opportunities arising 
from these avenues. 

 
Moreover, any new policy would need to be consistent with Leicestershire County Council’s new 
Highway Design Guide (LHDG). 

 

The approach adopted should take account of the overall needs of the community and wider 
locality and be geared to securing a comprehensive solution and not one just in relation to the 
individual site. Each development can then contribute towards the needs of the overall 
community either by on-site provision or financial contribution. This is a further justification for 
allocation of strategic development areas capable of delivering the infrastructure required to 
meet the needs of the new community. 

Housing Need 
 

Question 10: Do you agree with the issues identified? Are there any other issues that should be 
considered? 

 

a) Issue 8: There is a lack of affordable housing to meet local needs, partly due to house prices 
increasing faster than incomes; 

 

b) Issue 9: Different sectors of the community have different housing needs in terms of type and 
size; 

 

c) Issue 10: There is an increasing pressure within the District to provide suitable accommodation 

57



208 
 

 

 

 
 

for older people (including dementia friendly, lifelong homes and bungalows); and 
 

d) Issue 11: There is a need to further understand the requirements for Gypsy and Traveller and 
Travelling Show People who meet the definition for planning purposes. 

LCC Response 
 

Yes, agree with issues identified. Para. 61 of the NPPF provides guidance as to those areas of 
housing need that should be considered in determining the overall housing mix including the need 
for affordable housing. Accordingly, all the issues outlined should be considered in developing a 
coherent housing policy. 

 

Design should incorporate good quality green environments to help improve people’s well-being. 
Green space should be varied in habitat types and within close proximity to developments. 
Examples could be gardens and useful community spaces. 

Affordable Housing Policy Options 
 

Question 11: Which of the below option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any other 
options to consider? 

 
Option A: Continue with the existing approach. 
Continue to seek 25% affordable housing on all sites across the District of 15 dwellings or more; and enable 
the provision of rural exception sites. 

 

Option B: Modify the policy approach in terms of the threshold for and percentage of affordable housing. 
 

The current threshold is 15 dwellings or more. A lower threshold would mean that more sites would be 
eligible to provide affordable housing. The current percentage is 25%. A higher percentage proportion could 
increase the amount of affordable housing provided (subject to viability). 

 

Option C: Allocate sites specifically for affordable housing. 
Allocate sites for affordable housing and for rural exceptions sites. This would require a willing landowner to 
provide a site at a suitable cost but currently there is funding available from Homes England. 

 

Option D: Provide higher levels of housing overall. 
A higher level of housing overall would generate more affordable housing at 25%. 

LCC Response 
 

It is considered that Option B should be pursued as it would enable more market housing sites to 
contribute towards the affordable housing provision. Though with the move towards more 
delivery through strategic sites in future Local Plans a higher percentage proportion would also be 
desirable. Advise against reliance on Option C which could result in allocated sites for affordable 
housing simply not coming forward for development if funding isn’t available. 

Housing Mix Policy Options 
 

Question 12: Which of the below option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any other 
options to consider? 

 

 
Option A: Continue with existing policy approach. 

58



209 
 

 

 

 
 

The existing policy is flexible in that it takes account of the most recent evidence to demonstrate need in 
terms of housing type, tenure and size. 

 

Option B: Use a prescriptive policy approach. 
Set out within the policy the requirements for specific types and sizes of housing. For example for people 
who rent their homes and self and custom build plots. 

 

Option C: Allow the market to determine the mix of type and size of housing. 
Allowing the market to determine the mix of type and size of housing. 

LCC Response 
 

Support for Option A which entails using the most recent evidence to demonstrate need in terms 
of housing type, tenure and size as this best fits the housing needs of the local communities. 

Housing for an ageing population and specialist needs Policy Options 
 

Question 13: Which of the below option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any other 
options to consider? 

 
Option A: Maintain the current policy approach. 
Taking into account current and future demographic changes the existing policy approach is considered to 
be the minimum action necessary. 

 

Option B: Develop a higher policy requirement for the provision of accessible and adaptable homes. 
Population trends, both nationally and locally, clearly show that populations are aging. Local policy needs to 
reflect these trends and plan for them proactively. Higher requirements could be considered to coincide with 
a more forward looking plan period. Making homes accessible and adaptable for changing and unforeseen 
circumstances provides families and individuals with the choice of staying in their existing home. 

 

Option C: Include policy requirements for other house types which are suitable for older people and others 
with specialist needs. 
Subject to suitable evidence of local need, additional policy requirements could be set out to meet the range 
of needs for older people and others. This could include bungalows, extra care, registered care and 
convalescent care and specialist housing for older people as well as people with dementia or mental health 
difficulties. All additional requirements would be subject to viability testing to ensure that they do not 
prevent additional development coming forward. 

 

Option D: Consider allocating sites specifically for older persons and other specialist housing. 
Subject to suitable evidence of local need sites of varying development scales could be allocated to meet 
specific needs including sites for older persons homes, specialist needs, extra care and registered care. 

LCC Response 
 

Support seeking to progress options B, C and D, as it is recognised that housing for an ageing 
population and specialist needs requires stronger policy requirements and specific allocations 
than incorporated in the current Local Plan. 

 
Whatever policy approach is taken, the locations of such provision will need to be carefully 
considered in terms of accessibility to key services; bearing in mind specialist needs, mobility 
issues etc. 

Planning for Travellers Policy Options 

59



210 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Question 14: Which of the below option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any other 
options to consider? 

 
Option A: Continue with existing policy approach. 
The current approach allows the most recent evidence to be used to demonstrate need. It includes broad 
locations and criteria to set out the approach to determine planning applications. New evidence is required 
to clarify the number of ‘unknown’ households in the District and to justify a Leicester and Leicestershire- 
wide approach to the provision of public transit pitches. 

 

Option B: Allocating sites. 
Currently there is sufficient provision but if this is no longer the case, we will need to consider identifying 
sites to allocate. 

LCC Response 
 

It is considered that the existing policy approach to allocate sites should there no longer be 
sufficient provision, should be continued. 

Environment and Sustainability 
 

Question 15: Do you agree with the issues identified? Are there any other issues that should be 
considered? 

LCC Response 
 

 
Agree with key issues identified and suggest a further issue is how the Local Planning Authority 
can ensure the required biodiversity net-gain is met, and for the option of biodiversity off-setting 
to be investigated to facilitate this. 

 

Note that in issue 16, the natural landscapes should be considered outside the District boundary 
(regarding landscape assessments both locally and in relation to those produced by Natural 
England) as landscape character is not defined by boundaries. 

Design Policy Options 
 

Question 16: Which of the below option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any other 
options to consider? 

 
Option A: Continue with the existing approach. 
The existing Local Plan promotes the delivery of good design through various policies. The most notable of 
which being Core Strategy Policy CS2 and Delivery DPD Policies DM1 and DM2. The submission of a 
masterplan is also a requirement for the site specific policies which allocate land for residential and 
employment allocations. 

 

Option B: Consider setting out a more detailed approach to design policy. 
Going beyond the current Local Plan approach, additional design requirements could be set out for specific 
policy areas (for example sustainable design) or additional design criteria could be developed for large scale 
proposals (for example of proposals for 100 dwellings or more). 

 

Option C: Consider the use of a design specific Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 
To support either Option A or B outlined above, an SPD could be used to provide additional design guidance 
for a wide range of design related issues or focus on specific topics such as residential amenity. 
An SPD could also be used to set out more detailed design related guidance for large scale development 
proposals (for example setting out how community facilities and/or open space should be best incorporated 

60



211 
 

 

 

 
 

into a development). 

LCC Response 
‘Raising the bar’ with regards to design is a key aspiration of the SGP; SPD in design could 

effectively help to secure higher quality design as could other tools such as the use of design 
codes on strategic sites,  As such Option C is preferred. 

 

Details should be in line with the Leicestershire Highway Design Guide and national highway 
guidance and in all cases early master planning Involving LCC and the LHA should take place. 

Historic Environment Policy Options 
 

Question 17: Which of the below option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any other 
options to consider? 

 
Option A: Continue with the existing approach. 
Delivery DPD Policy DM12 Designated and Non-designated Heritage Assets aims to offer a level of protection 
to heritage assets proportionate to the asset’s level of importance. This builds on Core Strategy Policy CS20 
Historic Environment and Culture’s overarching positive approach to the conservation of heritage assets and 
the wider historic environment. 
Delivery DPD Policy DM12 was refined as part of the examination process of the DPD in 2018; and was 
subsequently adopted in February 2019. The current policy approach is therefore considered to reflect 
current national policy and guidance. 

 

Option B: Consider setting out a more detailed approach. 
Additional information could be gathered to see whether any specific areas or individual assets are worthy 
of protection for heritage reasons. Subject to evidence an additional heritage policy could be developed 
which builds on the existing District wide policy. 

LCC Response 
 

Option A could continue to be pursued, whilst option B is developed. A more detailed approach 
would facilitate and enhance effective delivery of the existing approach. It is worth bearing in 
mind that when SPD’s are being designed for open space, consideration should be given to 
habitats of existing historic landscape ensuring that design reflects this. 

Natural Environment Policy Options 
 

Question 18: Which of the below option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any other 
options to consider? 

 
Option A: Continue with the existing policy approach. 
The existing Local Plan contains a range of policies which cover various aspects of the natural environment. 
These are considered if and when development proposals on greenfield sites come forward. 

 

Option B: Consider mapping all components of local wildlife-rich and wider ecological networks. 
The existing policy approach could be strengthened by mapping all designated sites of importance for 
biodiversity and wildlife corridors that connect them. This would help to identify potential opportunities to 
create new linkages between existing assets. 

LCC Response 
 

It is considered that Option B should be pursued as key natural assets and the wildlife corridors 
between them need to be understood in the wider strategic masterplanning of new strategic sites 
so opportunities to enhance, such has through the creation of new links can be incorporated 

61



212 
 

 

 

 
 

within the masterplan. 
Option B would help the LPA to deliver the required biodiversity net-gain from the planning 
process. It would involve an off-setting policy and process, but this is the only feasible to ensure 
net-gain from development. It is not always possible to achieve within the site boundary, except 
on larger sites, and therefore a strategic approach whereby biodiversity enhancements can be 
provided off-site, within the green network, is needed. 

 
The first step is to map the green network and identify the potential and opportunities for 
biodiversity enhancements, and to identify the gaps and barriers to wildlife dispersal in the 
context of climate change. 

 

A further comment on the text preceding this question – brownfield land can be (and often is) 
extremely rich in biodiversity assets; in many cases this is far higher than greenfield land within 
our intensively farmed agricultural landscape. Many of our best wildlife sites are formerly 
developed; I would cite the existing and former granite quarries in Blaby as an example. 

 

As long as it is informed by appropriate ecology survey and design to avoid harm to existing 
biodiversity assets, and the off-setting policy outlined above is applied, development on 
intensively famed greenfield land will bring about biodiversity enhancement – e.g. through habitat 
creation, landscape planting sustainable drainage and the cessation of agricultural chemical use. 
On brownfield land, this is usually much harder to achieve, as loss of habitat may be unavoidable. 

 

Also important to note that the mapping of Ecological Networks supports the evidence base for 
the Local Enterprise Partnership and the Local Industrial Strategy. 

Climate Change Policy Options 
 

Question 19: Which of the below option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any other 
options to consider? 

 
Option A: Update current policy to enhance sustainable design principles and the efficient use of natural 
resources. 
This will ensure that any changes to national policy and guidance and local and regional evidence etc. can be 
taken into account and reflected within policy. 

 

Option B: Consider setting a requirement for sites (of a certain size) to provide a percentage of their 
energy requirements through onsite renewable / low carbon energy generation sources. 
Decentralised energy supply systems (such as combined heat and power) could help to reduce the ongoing 
carbon footprint of strategic sites. 

 

Option C: Consider the use of a Supplementary Planning Document to provide more detailed guidance for 
sustainable development/design. 
This would help to support the Local Plan’s overarching sustainability objectives by providing applicants with 
information on sustainable design and what the Council expects to be delivered. 

LCC Response 
All options should be pursued as it is recognised that exploring decentralised energy supply 
systems, such as combined heat and power, for strategic sites could help to reduce their ongoing 
carbon footprints. Together with SPD providing more guidance for sustainable development and 
design, would provide a strong policy steer as to what action should be taken at the local level. 

 
This is strengthened further by the County Council’s recent sign up to the Climate Change 
Emergency. 

62



213 
 

 

 

 
 

Options A, B and C should all be considered. The current policy should be updated to reflect 
current national policy and guidance (option A). Option B would ensure renewable/low carbon 
energy generation is utilised where there is an expectation of higher usage (on larger sites). 
Option C would greatly aid planners setting out clear guidance. SPD’s ideally should be developed 
in partnership with Leicestershire County Council. 

 
Leicestershire County Council has declared a climate emergency as have over half of UK councils. 
The County Council has committed to becoming carbon neutral as a council by 2030 and to 
working with others to keep global temperature rise to less than 1.5 degrees C. This will require 
the county to be carbon neutral by 2050 if not before. Planning is one of the key levers for 
enabling these commitments to be met and to meeting the legally binding target set by the 
government for the UK to be carbon neutral by 2050. 

 

To have any chance of achieving carbon neutrality by 2050 or before all/most new buildings need 
to be carbon neutral / positive and there needs to be a programme of retrofitting to improve the 
efficiency of existing buildings. In addition, there will be a need to significantly increase efforts to 
protect and enhance biodiversity to support the need to provide carbon sequestration, to provide 
resilience from extreme weather events and to reduce the worst economic and social impacts of 
the significant decline in biodiversity within the UK (Leicestershire has the second lowest level of 
biodiversity in the UK). 

 

So, action needs to go beyond consideration and at a minimum all the above 3 options need to be 
undertaken as part of an urgent step change in updating planning policies and plans so that they 
actively support and reinforce action to achieve carbon neutrality and the protection and 
enhancement of biodiversity. This could be done in stages i.e. moving from option A to B to C, but 
this would need to be done over a short timespan due to the urgency for action. There is general 
consensus (IPPC Report 2018) that we need to make significant progress in reducing global carbon 
emissions by 2030 – 10 years to save the planet. 

 

In general the language, tone and emphasis within the Issues and Options Consultation document 
does not reflect the urgent need for action and the critical and important role that the local 
planning system needs to play in avoiding the worst impacts of climate change, protecting people 
and property from harm and reducing the impact on the local economy, society and communities. 

 

The updated policy should incorporate/include specific reference to provision for electric vehicles 
in line with the latest national policy and guidance around this. 

 
The LHA would support a policy that builds electric vehicle charging infrastructure etc. into new 
properties where this does not impede the safe and effective functioning of the highway. 

Economy, retail and leisure 
 

Question 20: Do you agree with the issues identified? Are there any other issues that should be 
considered? 

LCC Response 
 

Agree with issues identified and recognise there is an additional issue to be added The issue 
arising all over the country is the growth in on-line sales which has resulted in a decrease in the 
need for physical stores on the High Street and has resulted in an oversupply of retail units. There 

63



214 
 

 

 

 
 

is a case to be made that there are too many retail units and conversion back to residential or 
other uses should be encouraged rather than leaving vacant units that affect the vitality and 
viability of existing retail centres. 

 

If it is proposed to encourage any new development in the areas adjacent to PUA ie Narborough, 
Blaby and Enderby, all of which have their own existing village/retail centres, then there is a need 
to create routes from any new housing developments, through to these centres for walking and 
cycling, as car parking is limited in all three centres and if residents experience difficulty in parking 
then they will go elsewhere such as Fosse Park where traffic conditions are already challenging. 

 

Whilst Blaby District is accessible for the strategic road network, there are pockets of the District, 
including areas likely to form a future focus for new employment, that remain relatively 
inaccessible due to lack of access points and/or local network constraints. These challenges will 
need to be overcome to open up such areas for development. 

 
Whilst the District benefits from established rail connections to key wider economic/retail centres 
(including Birmingham and Leicester), the frequency and general quality of these services is 
relatively low with aspirations to see this improved. 

 
Sustainable transport accessibility will be an important consideration for strategic employment 
developments, with an emphasis on public transport for potential sites outside of established 
urban areas (e.g. HNRFI) and/or which draw employees from a wide catchment area. In relation to 
this, the emphasis should be on site promoters and end users to put forward solutions that meet 
their business needs. 

Employment Mix Options 
 

Question 21: Which of the below option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any other 
options to consider? 

 
Option A: Continue with the existing policy approach. 
Delivery DPD Policy SA5 identifies a wide range of key employment sites within the District to be protected 
for employment uses. The policy also sets out requirements to be met before they can be considered for 
changes of use to non-employment uses. 

 

Option B: Consider a policy which distinguishes between different types of employment sites (including 
strategic-scale B8 uses). 
Taking a more hierarchical approach, to providing and protecting employment land would, allow for a 
greater level of appreciation of the varying functions and roles of different types of employment. This would 
help to identify the specific needs of certain types of employment (for example strategic-scale B8 uses). 

 

Option C: Update evidence base and allocate a range of employment sites to meet (local and regional) 
demands. 
Subject to the findings of updated evidence, employment allocations could be considered for specific types of 
employment. This approach would accord with the growing national emphasis on more detailed planning for 
the logistics sector and their bespoke requirements. It will also recognise the need for smaller scale 
employment sites to meet local scale needs. 

LCC Response 
 

Option C should be pursued as it would provide a clearer policy steer for the delivery of different 
types of employment uses and best aligns with the aspirations of the SGP. Co-location with 
housing is sought to provide the opportunity to live close to work and to be able to walk or cycle. 

64



215 
 

 

 

 
 

A policy which distinguishes between categories of employment sites would reflect the fact that 
different types of economic activities have differing needs and impacts in transport terms and 
may help to direct development to the most suitable locations (e.g. sites located as close as 
possible to the strategic road network are likely to be appropriate for strategic logistics but 
potentially less so for other forms such as office developments). 

Retail options 
 

Question 22: Which of the below option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any other 
options to consider? 

 
Option A: Continue with the existing policy approach and update the Council’s evidence base where 
necessary. 
The existing approach is well established but requires an updated Retail Study to fully support it. Updating 
the evidence will also allow an opportunity for recent changes to national policy and guidance and retail 
trends to be considered. 

 

Option B: Consider amending the existing policy approach to allow for a greater level of flexibility of uses 
within Blaby Town Centre and Neighbourhood Parades. 
The current policy approach includes a series of tests to be met before changes of use to non-retail will be 
considered. Consideration could be given to relaxing or even removing these requirements. 

LCC Response 
Updating the retail study and Option B with a view to ‘relaxing’ rather than removing 
requirements is preferred. Primary frontages should be retained for retail use; however, more 
flexibility to bring vacant secondary frontages back into use would be supported. This would help 
to bring more vitality and viability into the town centre by virtue of vacant units being removed, 
more presence of people and greater surveillance helping to increase a sense of well-being and 
safety. 

 
An updated retail study is necessary. The function of town centres is changing from one 
dominated by retail uses, to service centres and spaces that people come to experience tourism, 
events, eat and drink and socialise. So advise an update to the retail study and allow greater 
flexibility of uses .Consideration should also be given to the policy steer for Fosse Park beyond the 
current improvements and expansion, particularly given the impact on the highway network and 
J21 of the M1. 

Leisure and Tourism Options 
 

Question 23: Which of the below option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any other 
options to consider? 

 
Option A: Continue with the existing policy approach. 
The existing approach is well established and focuses development proposals to most sustainable locations 
within the District. 

 

Option B: Consider the use of a specific tourism related policy 
This could expand on the current policy approach by promoting certain forms of tourism related 
development and / or promote certain areas of the District for tourism. 

LCC Response 
 

It is considered that Option B should be pursued. Green infrastructure sites and waterways 
support the visitor economy and should therefore be recognised within the plan. 
The new leisure facilities at Everards Meadows brings new opportunities for integrating built 

65



216 
 

 

 

 
 

leisure facilities and connecting to outdoor leisure pursuits, our natural assets and greater 
connectivity by sustainable forms of transport. This new leisure concept is likely to form a new 
tourism attraction when it opens and will hopefully pave the way for further innovative leisure 
attractions. 

 

Tourism should be encouraged, especially in Town Centres to increase their chances of being 
sustainable. 

 

The LHA would be supportive of a policy which seeks to focus new leisure and tourism 
developments in locations which are accessible via walking, cycling and public transport. 

Transport 
 

Question 24: Do you agree with the issues identified? Are there any other issues that should be 
considered? 

 

a) Issue 19: Some two-thirds of the working population of the District travel to work using a car or 
van. This is substantially above the national and County average; 

 

b) Issue 20: There are five Air Quality Management Areas within the District which have mainly 
been designated as a result of vehicle emissions; 

 

c) Issue 21: Over-reliance on car use will continue in new developments unless they are located in 
areas that have a wider choice of transport options to access a wide range of services and 
facilities; and 

 

d) Issue 22: Some junctions and road links within the District are operating at or above capacity, 
with limited scope for further improvements. 

 

e) Issue 23: The Birmingham to Peterborough railway line runs through the District via 
Narborough Station. The benefits of this connection should be maximised. 

LCC Response 
 

Agree with issues identified. There are several additional issues to consider: 
 

 Access to the strategic road network (SRN; especially the M1) is limited to a couple of 
junctions shared with the wider Leicester urban area, exacerbating pressure on these 
junctions and meaning there is limited network resilience to any incidents at or near 
these locations. 

 A large proportion of traffic using the SRN within the district (i.e. M1 J21-21a and A46 
western bypass) is for shorter local journeys, which pushes these routes close to or 
over capacity at peak-times and conflicts with longer distance traffic. 

 Orbital connectivity in and around the urban area of the district is arguably as 
important as radial connectivity into Leicester city centre and yet provision is limited 
(by all modes) and constrained by key bottlenecks within and without the district (e.g. 
around the M1 J21 area). 

 In relation to issue 22 and the preceding points, congestion hotspots can encourage 
traffic to ‘rat run’ along less suitable rural routes through the district, particularly 
along (alternative) ‘orbital routes’ around the periphery of the Leicester urban area. 

 It is important that we make maximise usage of the district’s existing commercial bus 

66



217 
 

 

 

 
 

network and Park and Ride services wherever possible, to support their future 
viability and growth. 

 In relating to the preceding point, existing public transport in the district is primarily 
centred on radial connectivity into Leicester City Centre and does not necessarily 
reflect the travel-to-work and/or shift patterns of key employers within Blaby District, 
limiting scope for modal shift. 

 Additionally, public transport in the rural part of the district is more limited and 
vulnerable to future evolution of the commercial market and public funding 
landscape. 

 In relation to issue 23, the CrossCountry rail franchise is due to be renewed in the 
near future. This could result in changes, which could in turn present opportunities to 
secure significant improvements in provision for the Leicestershire/Blaby District 
sections of the Birmingham – Leicester – Peterborough line. 

 The Local Plan will need to cross-reference Leicester City Council’s ‘Transforming 
Cities’ initiatives and proposals to address air quality problems within the city; setting 
out how the Plan might build on these initiatives and take advantage of any specific 
opportunities arising as a consequence. 

 There will need for a ‘step change’ in accessibility (by all modes) in certain parts of the 
district to accommodate the longer-term SGP aspirations, especially within the A46 
priority growth corridor. Given the likely scale and timescales of the required 
infrastructure, the first steps towards this will need to be taken through the next plan 
period (i.e. up to 2037 or whatever alternative date is agreed). In some cases it may 
also be necessary and appropriate for key longer-term elements (i.e. beyond 2037) to 
be ‘built-in’ or futureproofed as part of the Local Plan. 

Transport Policy Options 
 

Question 25: Which of the below option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any other 
options to consider? 

 
Option A: Continue with existing policy approach. 
This would maintain the policy approach of seeking to ‘encourage’ more sustainable transport modes whilst 
acknowledging that private cars have an important role in transporting people. Where adverse impacts are 
identified at junctions and links, mitigation solutions will be required by the policy. 

 

Option B: Promote policies that actively encourage sustainable transport. 
To help shift the emphasis towards more sustainable transport modes consideration could be given to 
policies which promote for example: the provision of new and improved park and ride facilities, seeking 
greater financial contributions towards public transport or improving cycling / walking infrastructure in 
preference to road and junction upgrades. 

 

Option C: Promote policies that actively discourage use of private cars. 
Options such as: traffic calming measures for all new developments, facilitating the infrastructure for 
congestion charging / workplace car park charges, and applying maximum car parking provision in new 
commercial developments, could be considered to help reduce private car use. 

 

Option D. Promote improved technology and traffic management to address congestion, delays and air 
quality. 
This assumes that technology, including improved traffic management and use of responsive satellite 
navigation systems, will be able to accommodate the anticipated levels of traffic on certain routes. 

 

Option E. Allow for development and accept that junctions and links will continue to operate above 

67



218 
 

 

 

 
 

capacity. 
This may result in ‘self-regulating’ behaviour where people choose alternatives where routes and junctions 
become too congested. This approach would place lesser transport constraints on growth but is likely to 
perpetuate traffic problems on the network. 

LCC Response 
A combination of transport policy options A to E is likely to be required and should be informed to 
a degree by transport evidence undertaken for the New Local Plan and by Leicester City Council’s 
Transforming Cities initiatives, and proposals to tackle air quality problems within the City 
particularly work place parking. 

Local Services and Infrastructure 
 

Question 26: Do you agree with the issues identified? Are there any other issues that should be 
considered? 

 

a) Issue 24: There are capacity constraints within some services and facilities, such as health 
facilities and schools. New development to accommodate increases in the population will 
necessitate increases in capacity for these services and facilities; 

 

b) Issue 25: Infrastructure needs to be provided in a timely and viable manner and have certainty 
of delivery and ongoing management; and 

 

c) Issue 26: New development needs to have access to all necessary utilities including water, 
power, and telecommunications (including broadband); and going forward, electric vehicle 
charging points 

LCC Response 
 

Agree with issues identified. It is important to note the SGP identifies essential infrastructure that 
will need to be brought forward in a timely manner to support future growth. Some of the 
essential infrastructure will need to be identified in the new Local Plan and longer term beyond 
the end date of the new Local Plan. The new Local Plan will need to be mindful of the longer term 
requirements for infrastructure so that essential infrastructure still to be built out is able to do so. 

 

Capacity restraints are not just limited to health facilities and schools. New development will have 
an impact on other types of infrastructure such as green infrastructure and the wider waste 
transfer network, including Household Waste Recycling Sites. Local energy creation could support 
the diversification of habitats such as those associated with biomass-this relates to the possibility 
of encouraging a change in land management that could fuel more biofuel and biomass plants. For 
example; the development of coppiced woodlands for charcoal and the use of managed 
grasslands to provide feed sources to fuel biomass plants in-conjunction with food waste. 

Infrastructure Policy Options 
 

Question 27: Which of the below option(s) do you think should be pursued? Are there any other 
options to consider? 

 

 
Option A: Continue with existing policy approach 
This approach seeks on-site provision and financial contributions to a wide range of infrastructure where 
new development requires the provision. It ensures that developments support a wide range of services and 
facilities (including health, education, policing, libraries and other forms of social infrastructure). 

68



219 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Option B: Prioritise infrastructure based on viability 
This would help to prioritise scarce financial resources towards key infrastructure to be agreed as the Local 
Plan progresses. This could prioritise certain types of infrastructure. 

 

Option C: Only allow development where there is demonstrable capacity or certainty of delivery of 
infrastructure such as schools / health services etc. 
This approach would result in an infrastructure-led approach where development sites are chosen on the 
basis of existing or potential supply of infrastructure. 

LCC Response 
 

Through the plan-making process support for key strategic infrastructure needs to be considered 
and embedded. The SGP provides a clear overarching framework within which the detail needs to 
evolve and be tested. Consultation will be a key part of this process as will be the Local Plan 
examination. Through being plan led issues of viability and deliverability will need to be 
considered in the wider context of the whole Local Plan; and in reality, a combination of option A, 
B and C is likely to be appropriate. 

 

Through the plan-making process, the LHA would seek to identify and agree a package of 
supporting transport mitigation that is realistic and deliverable within the plan period. This would 
naturally need to take account of wider infrastructure considerations and viability. 

69



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 

70



 
 
 

 

SCRUTINY COMMISSION – 6TH NOVEMBER 2019 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

2019/20 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY  
MONITORING (PERIOD 6)  

 

 

Purpose 

 
1. To provide members with an update on the key issues impacting on the 2019/20 

revenue budget and capital programme monitoring position, and a high level update 
on earmarked funds. 
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The 2019/20 revenue budget and the 2019/20 to 2022/23 capital programme were 

approved by the County Council at its budget meeting on 20th February 2019 as part 
of the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 
Background 
 
3. The latest revenue budget monitoring exercise shows a net projected overspend of 

£1.0m.  
 
4. The latest capital programme monitoring exercise shows a net projected variation of 

£19.5m compared with the 2019/20 budget, mainly due to slippage on the planned 
completion of schemes. 

 
5. The monitoring information contained within this report is based on the pattern of 

revenue and capital expenditure and income for the first six months of this financial 
year. 

 
REVENUE BUDGET 
 
6. Overall a net overspend of £1.0m is forecast.  The results of the latest exercise are 

summarised below and laid out in a little more detail in Appendix 1. 

71 Agenda Item 9



 
Updated  Projected Difference 

 
Budget Outturn from Updated 

   
Budget 

 
£000 £000 £000 % 

     Schools Budget 0 0 0 n/a 

Children & Family Services (Other) 75,004 77,534 2,530 3.4 

Adults & Communities 148,509 145,599 -2,910 -2.0 

Public Health  -88 -218 -130 n/a 

Environment & Transport 69,560 71,280 1,720 2.5 

Chief Executives 10,973 10,443 -530 -4.8 

Corporate Resources 34,035 34,035 0 0.0 

Capital Financing        60,560 60,560 0 0.0 

Other Areas         4,751 7,741 2,990 62.9 

Central grants/other income -25,894 -28,304 -2,410 9.3 

Total 377,410 378,670 1,260 0.3 

     Funding -377,410 -377,700 -290 0.1 

     Net Total 0 970 970 
  

 
7. The details of major variances are provided in Appendix 2. The key projected 

variances that have been identified are set out below.   
 
Children & Families – Schools Budget 

 
8. The 2019/20 High Needs expenditure is expected to exceed the available Dedicated 

Schools Grant (DSG) by £6.1m.  This will cause the DSG earmarked fund to record a 
deficit at the end of the financial year.  This will need to be recovered from future 
years, assuming the position improves. The situation is in line with the high needs 
development plan although it may take longer than expected for the overall position 
to be recovered.    
  

9. A number of activities within the Plan are established which include developing the 
capacity in mainstream schools to meet need without the need for specialist provision 
and the opening of special needs units and schools to prevent the need to 
commission higher cost places within independent schools.  Current estimates of the 
high needs deficit show the deficit peaking in 2021/22 at £13.5m before it is fully 
recovered in 2024/25. Additional government grant funding for SEN from 2020/21 of 
£5.5m p.a. has been included in the forecasts. Consultation with schools is underway 
to transfer funding from the Schools Block to High Needs which if approved would 
reduce the overall deficit by £2m in 2020/21.  

 
10. Schools Growth - funding has been earmarked to help meet the revenue costs of new 

schools. The funding requirement for 2019/20 has now been confirmed and an 
underspend of £2m is forecast, which will be transferred to the DSG earmarked fund 
to fund pupil growth in future years.  

 

72



11. The overall DSG earmarked fund is now forecast to be £2.1m in deficit at the end of 
2019/20. This is driven by the high needs deficit of £6.1m, which will be carried 
forward to future years to be recovered from savings on the High Needs Block.  

 
Children & Families – LA Budget (Other) 
 
12. Children’s Social Care workforce - £1.9m overspend. The recruitment of social 

workers is a concern nationally and that position is reflected in Leicestershire 
resulting in a continued need to use agency workers to fill vacancies. A number of 
newly qualified social workers have also been recruited over the last 12 months, who 
in the short term need to be supported by experienced workers. Given the current 
market these are likely to be agency staff. Maintaining caseloads at a reasonable 
level is also an increasing pressure across many social care services. This area 
overspent by £1.1m in 2018/19. 

 
13. Operational Placements - £0.7m overspend. While the increase in the numbers of 

looked after children is slightly above the level assumed in the budget, a combination 
of placements with increased complex needs and market factors are leading to 
increased average costs. 

 
14. Asylum Seekers - £0.6m overspend. Demand on this budget continues to rise, 

leading to the need for additional staffing. Although the Home Office has increased 
funding rates this is not sufficient to offset the overall pressure on this budget. The 
problem continues to grow from 2018/19 where an overspend of £0.4m was incurred. 

 
Adults & Communities 
 
15. Residential Care / Supported Living – net underspend of £0.6m arising from a 

reduction in the overall number of service users is forecast.  A £1.9m increase in 
costs on supported living is offset by a £3.5m reduction in residential care costs. This 
is due to the departmental Target Operating Model (TOM) programme of moving 
service users from residential care to supported living offset by a reduction and 
changes to the Learning Disabilities pooled budget with Health (£1.0m). 
 

16. Direct Payments / Home Care – net underspend of £0.6m. Increased service users 
receiving a Help to Live at Home (HTLAH) service offset by a reduction in the number 
of service users receiving a Direct Payment. 

 
17. Staffing, overhead and other budgets are forecasting an underspend of £1.7m. There 

is a high level of staffing vacancies across the department. Some of these will be 
offset by the use of agency staff or are held in advance of savings.  

 
Environment & Transport 

 
18. Special Educational Needs (SEN) transport - £1.6m overspend. There are increasing 

numbers of pupils requiring transport provision and in some cases risk assessments 
and case conferences have highlighted that children require a higher level of 
transport provision (such as solo travel). Delays in implementing savings are also a 

73



factor in the forecast overspend (around £0.4m of the overspend), including those 
relating to the impact of the judicial review. Further work to reassess the overspend 
will be required once the new academic year transport patterns are known. 
 

Corporate / Central 
 
19. Commercial Services - £0.7m overspend.  Additional costs arising from the pay 

award cannot be fully recovered through increased income levels in the short term. 
Action is being taken to increase income and reduce costs to try to address the 
forecast overspend.   

 
20. The inflation contingency of £13.9m is projected to be overspent by around £3m. The 

overspend is mainly due to inflation pressures on the A&C budget which are 
estimated at around £9.2m, mostly relating to the fee review, including implementing 
new bands and the 2019/20 inflationary uplift, as detailed in a report to Cabinet on 
25th June 2019. This is exceptional compared with previous years (averaging around 
£4m - £5m). Other pressures include the 2019/20 pay award and an increase to the 
employer pension contribution rate amount to £5.3m, and inflation pressures of 
around £2.4m are anticipated on highways, transport, waste, energy and other 
budgets.  

 
21. Central Grants and Other Income is forecast to underspend by £2.4m due to an 

increase in bank interest from higher balances (£0.6m) and a review of prior year 
open purchase orders and other liabilities that are no longer required (£1.8m). 

 
Business Rates  
 
22. The County Council is undertaking quarterly monitoring with the District Councils and 

Leicester City Council regarding the 2019/20 Leicester and Leicestershire Business 
Rates Pool and 75% Business Rates Pilot.  The latest forecasts show: 

  

 Business rates pool surplus of £9m in 2019/20 compared with a forecast of £8m 
in January 2019. The surplus is transferred to the Leicester and Leicestershire 
Enterprise Partnership (LLEP). 
 

 Business rates pilot surplus of around £14m - £15m, to be distributed to the 
pooling partners. The County Council’s share of c.£7m is included in the MTFS 
as part of the Future Developments Fund.  

 
Overall Revenue Summary  

 
23. Overall there is a forecast net overspend of £1.0m.  

  
24. The overspends will be kept under review in subsequent months and actions will be 

taken to reduce them where feasible. Given the prudent nature of budget monitoring 
at this stage of the year, it is anticipated that other areas of underspending will 
emerge which will allow the revenue budget to be balanced in overall terms.    

  

74



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
25. The capital programme for 2019/20 totals £165m, including slippage of £19m from 

the 2018/19 outturn position. The latest position for 2019/20 shows an overall 
forecast variance of £19.5m.  A summary is shown in Appendix 3 with details of the 
major variances provided in Appendix 4.    
  

26. The main variances are reported below:   
 

27. Children and Family Services – overall acceleration of £3.4m.   The main variation 
relates to acceleration on the SEN programme (£3.6m in 2019/20). The delivery of 
additional SEN places is crucial for the delivery of revenue savings which are integral 
to the High Needs Development Plan.  

 
28. Three new special needs units have opened in September with further provision set 

to open throughout 2020.  This includes a new 80 place special school in Barwell to 
meet the needs of pupils with communication and interaction difficulties who would 
otherwise have needed independent school provision. Development of a 125 place 
special school for pupils with social, emotional and mental health (SEMH) difficulties 
has been accelerated and will be located on the current Oakfield site in Blaby. 
Negotiations with the DfE are ongoing on the development of a DfE funded 125 
SEMH located in Shepshed. 

 
29. Adults and Communities, overall net slippage of £5.6m:  

 

 Records Office Relocation – slippage forecast of £2.9m. A Partner workshop 
took place on 6 September 2019 to confirm the detailed working relationships 
which will be included in a revised business case. The revised business case is 
due to be finalised in November. 

 Hamilton Court / Smith Crescent NWL Development - £2.1m slippage due to the 
programme of work required for the re-development significantly changing since 
the capital funding was requested. A detailed feasibility report has been 
completed which includes indicative timescales and milestones.  This has 
informed the current funding requirement across the financial years. Pre-
construction work is due to complete January 2020 at which point construction 
work will commence. 

  
30. Environment and Transport, overall net slippage of £18.4m: 

 

 M1 Junction 23 and A512 - £9.7m slippage due to delays in completing the 
legal agreement with the developers. There has also been a delay due to issues 
with access to the site. The agreement has now been signed and construction 
works have started.  

 Melton Depot Replacement - £3.8m slippage as the winter 2019/20 service is to 
be provided out of the existing depot following a one-year extension of lease 
being granted.  For winter 2020/21 onwards, there is currently no prospect of 

75



moving to the new depot site until the Melton Distributor Road is completed. 
Short term options are being investigated. 

 National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) Hinckley Hub - £3.5m slippage 
due to delays in negotiations with the land owners.  Work is now unlikely to start 
until March 2020.  

 County Council Vehicle Programme - £1.9m slippage due to a fleet 
management review which is now complete with actions and outcomes being 
considered. 

 Zouch Bridge - £1.3m slippage following a review of the scheme. Cabinet 
received a report on 24 May 2019 which reported a shortfall in funding for the 
replacement of Zouch Bridge with the Department asked to review departmental 
earmarked funds and the current capital programme to try to meet the funding 
shortfall.  The department has undertaken a review of earmarked funds which 
has identified some capacity to partially meet the shortfall and will now be 
requesting some funding for this programme as part of the MTFS refresh.  In 
addition, the Department for Transport (DfT) has recently announced a further 
tranche of the Challenge Fund, which enables local highway authorities in 
England to bid for major maintenance projects that are otherwise difficult to fund 
through the usual formula funding allocations they receive from government. 
The Council will be entering an expression of interest for funding for the 2nd 
round of funding which will occur in 2020/21. Subject to funding, the planned 
scheme start date is now Spring 2020.  

 
31. The four-year capital programme includes £11.5m for the purchase of land to develop 

a new Waste Transfer Station.  Following a review of potentially suitable sites it has 
been confirmed that a site currently owned by the County Council may be the most 
suitable location for this development.  As a result, it is likely that the full capital 
allocation may not be required (part will be needed for the construction) and may offer 
opportunities to reallocate funds to other departmental needs. Consultants have been 
engaged to develop options and plans together with associated cost. 

 
32. Corporate Resources Programme, overall net slippage of £2.7m:  

 

 Watermead Park Footbridge and Cycleway, slippage of £2.0m.  The scheme is 
on hold as one of the landowners is now reconsidering their involvement in the 
project.  

 Workplace Strategy - £0.5m slippage is forecast. The business case has now 
been approved by CMT and the works associated with this scheme will begin to 
progress, however, works will not be able to complete in the current year. 

 
33. Corporate Programme, overall net acceleration of £4.3m. 

 

 CAIF – Loughborough University Science and Enterprise Park, development of 
an office block plus car parking spaces, accelerated timescale, £6.4m. 

 CAIF – Airfield Business Park, development of industrial units on part of the 
site, underspend £1.1m. Reduction in funding required based on the agreed 

76



fixed price contract, partly due to procuring a cheaper construction package 
through the OJEU process alongside some changes to the scheme. 

 Energy Strategy, slippage of £0.7m.  Schemes progressing, but often takes 
significant time for schemes to be approved and progressed to operational 
stage. As such, likely that majority of budget will slip into next financial year, but 
should be required as a number of schools are in conversation with the Energy 
team to progress. 
 

Capital Receipts 
 

34. The requirement for capital receipts for 2019/20 is £12m. The latest forecast of 
receipts is £3m, a shortfall of £9m.  The shortfall is primarily due to delays with three 
large planned sales where planning permission is required.  Of the shortfall, £3m is 
now expected to be received in 2020/21, with the timing of the balance of £6m 
uncertain at this stage.  
 

35. The shortfall can be managed in 2019/20 due to the overall level of slippage on the 
capital programme. However, there is a risk that the difficulties will have an impact on 
the funding of the future capital programme. The overall position will be reviewed and 
updated as part of the refresh of the MTFS capital programme.  

   
Corporate Asset Investment Fund 

 
36. A summary of the Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) position as at quarter 2 

for 2019/20 is set out below: 
 

Asset Class 

Opening 
Capital 
Value 

Capital 
Incurred 
2019/20 

Net 
Income 

YTD 

Forecast 
Net 

Income 
FY 

Forecast 
Net Inc. 
Return 

FY 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 % 

Office       27,657               93  1,031          1,685  6.1% 

Industrial       12,479                 2    294            894  7.2% 

Distribution            456                0    8               38  8.3% 

Development       35,120        25,876  50             19  0.0% 

Rural       20,585            434 328             948 4.5% 

Other         4,344  0           48             283  6.5% 

Pooled Property 23,110 2,500 215 1,000 3.9% 

Private Debt 20,890 0 260 1,044 5.0% 

TOTAL     144,641       28,905 2,234          5,911  3.4% 

   
37. Overall the fund is forecasting to achieve a 3.4% net income return for 2019/20. If the 

development classification was excluded, the return would increase to 5.2%. 
  

38. It should be noted that the above table excludes in year capital growth which is 
assessed annually as part of the asset revaluation exercise and reported in the 
annual CAIF performance report.  

77



39. During June 2019, an additional £2.5m was invested in Pooled Property funds 
bringing the total held to £25m as originally planned, the opening value in the table 
above includes growth in the valuation of the fund. 

 
Future Developments Fund 

  
40. During 2019/20 the following approved allocations have been made from the fund (in 

addition to those included in the original MTFS):  
 

 E&T - Advanced infrastructure design, £0.5m (of £6m total) 

 E&T – Early contractor involvement and related works for the East of 
Lutterworth spine road £1.5m 

 E&T – Lutterworth East SDA, planning and pre-highway construction works, 
£2m (of £4.62m total). 

 A&C – Supported Living, Ashby Court, £1.2m (of £1.7m total) 

 A&C – Social Care Improvement Plan, £4.5m (of £10m total) 

 CR - Transformation Fund - £4.6m Efficiency and Productivity Investment 
 
41. This leaves an estimated balance on the fund at the end of 2019/20 at £19.6m. 

However, current approved commitments over the next four years will result in the 
fund being in a forecast deficit position of £10.7m. This will require additional 
contributions from the new MTFS which is possible due to the improved local 
government settlement and £8m risk contingency held. This will be reviewed as part 
of updating the MTFS for 2020-24.  
  

42. The Future Developments fund is held to contribute towards schemes that have been 
identified but are not sufficiently detailed for inclusion in the capital programme at this 
time. There is a long list of projects that may require funding over the next 4 years.  
These include investment in infrastructure for schools and roads arising from 
increases in population, investment in health and social care service user 
accommodation, highways match funding of capital bids, investment in community 
speed enforcement (depending on the outcome of the pilot), funding for the heritage 
and learning collection hub, and investment for the efficiency and productivity 
programme. The list of future developments is continually refreshed and will be 
reviewed alongside the new capital programme for 2020-24.   

 
Review of Earmarked Funds 

 
43. During October 2019 a review of earmarked funds was completed.  The review 

covered all revenue earmarked funds and balances, excluding schools earmarked 
balances.  The review also excluded capital funds (capital receipts, capital grants and 
contributions unapplied) which are earmarked for capital projects and are reviewed as 
part of the MTFS capital programme. The forecasts are reported in Appendix 5.  
  

44. Earmarked funds are held in accordance with the County Council’s Earmarked Funds 
Policy that is approved annually by the County Council as part of the MTFS. The level 

78



of earmarked funds and balances are monitored regularly throughout the year and 
are reported as part of the MTFS and at year end.  

 
45. Overall earmarked funds are forecast to total £68.8m at year end, 31 March 2020.  

The significant funds held are:  
- Insurance Reserves (£13.9m) - held for policy excesses that the Council is liable 

for and uninsured losses, mainly to meet potential liabilities from failed insurers.  
- Transformation (£7.7m) - used to invest in transformation projects to achieve 

efficiency savings and also to fund severance costs.   
- Pooled Property Funds (-£24.1m). Investment to achieve a higher rate of return, 

funded from the overall balance of earmarked funds and can be realised in the 
future when required.  

- Capital Financing (£27.0m) - holds MTFS revenue contributions to fund the 
phasing of capital expenditure in the approved 2019-23 MTFS.  

- Future Developments (£19.6m) – one off funding set aside to support future 
developments, mainly for capital. 

  
46. In addition to the earmarked funds mentioned above the County Council holds the 

General Fund to meet any unexpected risks. The uncommitted balance on the 
General County Fund is forecast to increase to £21.8m by 31 March 2020, to reflect 
increasing uncertainty and risks over the medium term. The level of the General Fund 
is to maintain balances in line with the inherent risks faced by the County Council.  
The level of the General Fund is within the target range of 5 to 7% of net expenditure 
(excluding schools), the projected balance of £21.8m represents 5.8% of estimated 
net expenditure for 2020/21. 

 
External Audit Review 
 
47. Grant Thornton, the County Council’s external auditors have reviewed the level of 

earmarked funds as part of their Value for Money review of the 2019-23 MTFS and 
reported no issues:  
 
‘Based on the work carried out we are satisfied that the Council had proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources.’ 

 
Recommendation 

 
48. The Scrutiny Commission is asked to note the contents of this report. 
   
 
Background Papers 
 
County Council, 20 February 2019 – Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2022/23. 
 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s144416/Report%20of%20the%20Cabinet%20-%20MTFS.pdf 

 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s144417/MTFS%2019-23%20-%20Cab%208-2-19%20v4%20final.pdf 

79

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s144416/Report%20of%20the%20Cabinet%20-%20MTFS.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s144417/MTFS%2019-23%20-%20Cab%208-2-19%20v4%20final.pdf


Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

None. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
There are no direct implications arising from this report.  

 
Appendices 
Appendix 1 – Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement 
Appendix 2 – Revenue Budget – Forecast Main Variances 
Appendix 3 – Capital Programme Monitoring Statement 
Appendix 4 – Capital Programme – Forecast Main Variances and Changes in Funding 
Appendix 5 – Summary of review of Earmarked Funds 
 

Officers to Contact 

Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources,  
Corporate Resources Department, 
0116 305 6199    E-mail Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director (Strategic Finance and Property),  
Corporate Resources Department,  
0116 305 7668   E-mail Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk 

80

mailto:Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/nwash/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/7YRUSQR1/Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1

REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING STATEMENT

FOR THE PERIOD : APRIL 2019  TO SEPTEMBER 2019

Updated Projected Difference

Budget Outturn from Updated

Budget

£000 £000 £000 %

Schools Budget

Schools 94,724 92,586 -2,138 -2.3

High Needs 67,354 73,161 5,807 8.6

Early Years 34,427 34,427 0 0.0

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) -196,505 -196,505 0 0.0

High Needs carry forward n/a -6,179 -6,179 n/a

Balance from(-)/to DSG Earmarked Fund 2,510 2,510 n/a
0 0 0 n/a

LA Budget

Children & Family Services (Other) 75,004 77,534 2,530 3.4 RED

Adults & Communities 148,509 145,599 -2,910 -2.0 GREEN

Public Health * -88 -218 -130 n/a GREEN

Environment & Transport 69,560 71,280 1,720 2.5 RED

Chief Executives 10,973 10,443 -530 -4.8 GREEN

Corporate Resources 34,035 34,035 0 0.0 GREEN

DSG (Central Dept. recharges) -922 -922 0 0.0 GREEN

Other corporate savings -300 -100 200 -66.7 RED

Contingency for Inflation -2,839 161 3,000 -105.7 RED

Total Services 333,932 337,812 3,880 1.2

Central Items

Financing of Capital 22,600 22,600 0 0.0 GREEN

Revenue funding of capital 31,360 31,360 0 0.0 GREEN

Revenue funding of capital- use of BR Pilot income 6,600 6,600 0 0.0 GREEN

Central Expenditure 2,812 2,602 -210 -7.5 GREEN

Central Grants and Other Income -25,894 -28,304 -2,410 9.3 GREEN

Total Central Items 37,478 34,858 -2,620 -7.0

Contribution to General Fund 6,000 6,000 0 0.0 GREEN

Total Spending 377,410 378,670 1,260 0.3

Funding

Business Rates - Top Up -39,674 -39,674 0 0.0 GREEN

Business Rates Baseline / retained -23,455 -23,375 80 -0.3 AMBER

S31 Grants - Business Rates -3,585 -3,955 -370 10.3 GREEN

Business Rates - Levy surplus -934 -934 0 0.0 GREEN

Business Rates Pilot - one-off additional income -6,600 -6,600 0 0.0 GREEN

Council Tax Collection Funds - net surplus -1,539 -1,539 0 0.0 GREEN

Council Tax -301,623 -301,623 0 0.0 GREEN

Total Funding -377,410 -377,700 -290 0.1

Net Total 0 970 970

* Public Health funded by Grant (£24.2m)

Underspending / on budget GREEN

Overspending of 2% or less AMBER

Overspending of more than 2% RED

81



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2

Revenue Budget 2019/20 – forecast main variances

Children and Family Services

Dedicated Schools Grant

A net underspend of £2.5m is forecast. The main variances are: 

£000
% of 

Budget

Special Educational Needs 680 1%

Schools Growth -2,000 n/a

High Needs Block Development / Inclusion Partnerships -1,050 27%

Education Sufficiency - Schools Admissions -110 -26%

Other variances -30 n/a

TOTAL -2,510 n/a

Local Authority Budget 

The Local authority budget is forecast to overspend by £2.5m (3.4%). The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Children's Social Care Field Work Teams / First Response / Safeguarding 1,050 9%

Operational Placements 735 2%

Recruitment and retention pressures among the Children's Social workers workforce across various teams have 

resulted in a number of positions being filled by agency workers.  There is also increased staffing levels in some 

services to manage workload capacity based on demand and to provide Assessed and Supported Year in 

Employment (ASYE) support.

The SEND Capital Programme is developing new resource bases to reduce the reliance on expensive 

independent sector places.  A number of these bases have recently taken their first cohort of students or will do 

so before the end of the financial year. However, due to set-up costs the full effect of the programme won't be 

seen until future years.  Savings are forecast in certain provision areas for the current year, but the increased 

school population and increased demand for support is offsetting these savings. Additionally, the final choice of 

place often isn’t made until the young people get their exam results in August and is not known at the time of 

budget setting. 

This funding has been earmarked to help meet the revenue costs associated with new schools and also for 

meeting the costs of some  funding protection for schools with falling rolls as a  result of age range change in 

other schools. The funding requirements have now been confirmed and a subsequent underspend of £2m in 

19/20; this will be transferred to the DSG earmarked fund to fund pupil growth in future years.

The High Needs Recovery Plan included the creation of 4 Secondary Education Inclusion Partnerships, and the 

budget included funding for these for the full year.  The first of these partnerships is now not expected to come 

into existence until Summer 2020.  The Recovery Plan also included a number of staffing posts that were either 

recruited to later that expected, or which on review, are no longer deemed necessary to the success of the plan.

Some vacant posts which will be filled for only part of the year. Also increased income streams via an increase in 

levels of fines and school appeals.

Leicestershire's looked after children (LAC) number at 31/3/2019 was 585, and budgeted for an increase of 11%. 

Current projections indicate a LAC increase of 12%. In addition, some children have entered the system with 

really high and complicated needs, which have resulted in costs of almost 100% increase in comparison to the 

average cost of that placement type. Furthermore, whilst the net increase of placement provision has been 

relatively stable, the increase in the average weekly cost of provision is one of the main drivers behind the 

current projected overspend. For example, it is projected by the end of the financial year, the average weekly 

cost to social care of external residential placements to rise by over £300 p/w and 16+ supported accommodation 

placements to increase by £117 p/w. A combination of placements with increased complex needs and also 

market factors are together contributing to the projected increased average weekly cost of placements to 

children's social care.

83



Asylum Seekers 590 86%

Children in Care Service 460 23%

Fostering & Adoption Service 430 13%

Children and Families Wellbeing Service -490 -5%

Disabled Children Service -295 -7%

Other variances 50 n/a

TOTAL 2,530 n/a

Adults & Communities

The Department is forecasting a net underspend of £2.9m (2.0%).  The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Supported Living 1,910 12%

Home Care 1,195 7%

Care Pathway West - Countywide Services 210 16%

Care Pathway East - Older Adults Team 105 5%

Legislation changes around the Personal Advisor duty has resulted in budget pressures for 2019/20 which will 

require close monitoring. The Act has extended the duty for local authorities to provide support for young people 

through personal advisors from age 21 to age 25. Recruitment and retention pressures among the Children's 

Social workers workforce across various teams have resulted in a number of vacant positions being filled by 

agency workers. There is also increased staffing levels in some teams to manage workload capacity based on 

demand and to provide ASYE support. 

Increased volumes of assessments which require completing in relation to kinship, mainstream and adoption has 

resulted in externally commissioning these assessments to ensure compliance within court timescales. There is 

also increased staffing levels in some teams to manage workload capacity based on demand - especially in 

regards to Kinship care where numbers are increasing above what was expected. 

Additional maintenance hours commissioned as a result of increased service user numbers receiving a Help to 

Live at Home (HTLAH) service compared with the budget. Current average  number of service users is 1,850 

with an average weekly cost of £190.(Outturn 2018/19: Average service users 1,770 and weekly cost of £184).  

This should be considered in conjunction with the decreasing numbers of service users in weekly Direct 

Payments and the underspend being reported there. It is expected that over the course of the year, there is 

potential for additional service users to be given Homecare packages as part of implementation and rollout of the 

TOM work to reduce the number of residential care admissions, whilst at the same time reducing the average 

package size per service user through better commissioning practice.

Overspend on staffing budget relating to covering vacancies offset by underspends elsewhere on staffing.

Staff turnover and in year vacancies in addition to reduced demand on direct payments budget.

Overspend on staffing budget relating to covering vacancies offset by underspends elsewhere on staffing.

Overspend forecast due to the Target Operating Model (TOM) programme target of moving 5 Learning 

Disabilities service users per month from Residential Care into Supported Living. Currently there are an 

additional 15 service users receiving Supported Living.  It is forecast that there will be a phased increase to 45 

service users over the year.  Additional service users are expected from the opening of Brookfields. However, 

this hasn't been forecast until a completion date is set and initial moves take place. There will be a corresponding 

underspend on Residential Care service user numbers which offsets this variance.

Demand on this budget has significantly increased in recent years and is projected to do the same this financial 

year, which has resulted in an increased need for additional staffing to manage demand. The majority of these 

children arrive ‘spontaneously’ and on arrival are the statutory responsibility of the local authority in which they 

arrive. The Home Office have increased funding rates this financial year, which based on 2018/19 activity, is 

projected to reduce this year's budget pressure by £0.23m, but nevertheless is still not sufficient to fund the 

overall budget pressure for this financial year.

Largely due to a combination of staff turnover and in year vacancies.

84



Residential Care and Nursing -2,460 1%

Direct Payments -1,830 4%

Homecare Assessment and Reablement Team (HART) & Crisis Response -775 -16%

Community Life Choices (CLC) / Day Services Team -620 -22%

Supported Living, Residential and Short Breaks -275 -6%

Aids, Adaptations and Assistive Technology -140 -6%

Business Support -110 -10%

Other variances (under £100k) -120 n/a

TOTAL -2,910 n/a

Public Health

The Department is forecasting a net underspend of £0.1m. The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Department 125 -1%

Local Area Co-ordination 55 8%

Sexual Health -85 -2%

Other Public Health Services -70 -26%

NHS Health Check programme -55 -10%

0-19 Children's Public Health -60 -1%

Other variances -40 n/a

TOTAL -130 n/a

Reduction in number of service users and lower average cost of packages (£1.3m). There are an average of 

2,260 service users and an average gross care package cost of £741 per week (before the impact of the 2019/20 

fee review which is in the process of being implemented). As part of the TOM programme a number a service 

users will be transferring to supported living which will result in a reduction of approximately £3.5m residential 

expenditure. These are offset by a reduction in health income of £0.9m due to changes to the LD pool budget 

arrangements.

Staffing and travel underspend forecast at this stage. It is expected that additional resources will be recruited as 

part of the TOM work to encourage transfers from HTLAH reablement into HART, however at this stage this 

hasn't occurred.  A full review will be undertaken once the TOM work is completed.

Staffing vacancies pending possible changes to internal service.

Community Based Services claims are 25% below budget.

Improved data analysis of claims has reduced the number of duplicate health check claims which has reduced 

forecast costs.

Staffing vacancies pending stabilisation of services and possible changes to internal service.

Reduction in service users in Hamilton Court residential and managing vacancies at Hamilton Court and The 

Trees. Review of service users ongoing.

Forecast income due to partnership income arrangements being reviewed.

The underspend is due to the net impact of a 5.7% reduction in number of service users and a 6.2% increase in 

package price equating to a decrease of £1.8m in total.  

- Forecast 2,320 service users per week receiving an average package of £320.60 (2018/19 Outturn: Annual 

average 2,498 per week with an average package of £292.11). 

- Forecast 705 Carers per week receiving an average packaged of £45.93 (2018/19 Outturn: Annual average 492 

Carers per week with an average package of £45.32).

Due to underspends elsewhere within the Department, the transfer from earmarked funds to balance the budget 

is no longer required.

Underspend due to changes within the services and service users (CLC policy) and vacancies being held 

pending the implementation of action plans for co-location as part of savings. Review of service users is still 

ongoing, action plan will take place once this has occurred.

Forecast reduced income due to partnership income arrangements being reviewed.

The forecast underspend relates to the cessation of the Understanding and Managing Risk contract on 31.08.19. 

This contributes to the MTFS savings.

85



Environment and Transport

The Department is forecasting a net overspend of £1.7m (2.5%).  The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Special Educational Needs 1,620 14%

Public Bus Services 430 21%

H & T Network Management - Staffing & Admin 290 77%

Reactive Maintenance (Structural & Safety) 285 16%

Departmental Costs 210 11%

Recycling & Household Waste Sites 190 6%

Environmental Maintenance 150 4%

Landfill -405 -6%

Overspend due to preparation work on a no deal Brexit.

Overspend due to higher number of defects being identified and require resolving.

Landfill tonnage is lower than initially forecast resulting in an underspend. Greater tonnage is going to Refuse 

Derived Fuel (RDF).

The forecast has been produced by analysing the value of taxi invoices received to date in 2019/20 and 

projecting forward expenditure for the remainder of the year (including a 4% per assumption for in-year growth 

and inflation). The forecast overspend is largely due to continuing growth in demand, increased solo contracts 

and greater complexity of transport provision to meet passengers’ needs. The cost per day of providing SEN 

transport rose rapidly during 2018/19 after budgets were set for 2019/20 and is continuing to increase during 

2019/20. Further analysis needs to be undertaken to examine in detail the reasons for the large increase in the 

cost per day of providing SEN transport. There are a variety of reasons for the increase including:

• Increasing numbers of pupils

• Contract terminations, including operator withdrawals

• Increased need identified by a risk assessment

• Increased need identified by case conference

• PTB cancellations requiring replacement transport to be put in place

• Risk assessment breaches

Overspend due to number of out of hours responsive calls, additional costs for safety barrier retensioning works 

for safety critical works and additional resources required to repair defects within policy times.

Overspend forecast largely due to the cost of subsidising additional bus services / routes that became no longer 

commercially viable during 2018/19. In addition to this, during 2019/20 a bus operator has unexpectedly 

terminated the contracts of two further services. 

Local bus service savings are being implemented during 2019/20 as part of the Passenger Transport Policy 

(PTP) project. Phasing and delays in implementing some savings are also contributing to the overspend position. 

It is still anticipated that the full £0.4m PTP saving will be achieved by the end of 2020/21, but this could be 

affected by further bus operator contract changes and the impact this has on bus service provision planning.

The department is currently reviewing the full cost and income implications from pre-application charges. 

Overspend also includes the use of agency staff to cover vacant posts.

The relative influence of each of the factors listed above needs to be explored by analysing spend data in more 

detail. This will highlight the key driver of the cost increase and allow an assessment to be made of whether the 

rise in costs can be curtailed.

Delays in implementing savings are also a factor in the forecast overspend. Following a delay in receiving the 

outcome of the judicial review into the proposed SEN post-16 Personal Transport Budget (PTB) policy, a decision 

was made at the end of June to pause the policy implementation for a year. This has resulted in an estimated 

additional £400k forecast overspend in 2019/20. The judicial review found in Leicestershire's favour and it is now 

planned to implement the saving in 2020. 

A further saving of £200k that was due to be delivered from implementing an Alternative Fleet Provision has 

been suspended whilst work is undertaken on the SEN post-16 PTB pause.

The impact of voluntary PTB take up for post-16 students could reduce the overspend, but it is difficult to forecast 

the numbers who may wish to follow this option. Parents have been asked to contact LCC if they wish to continue 

with the PTB option.

Further work to reassess the forecast overspend will be required once new academic year transport patterns 

have settled down. The 4% growth / inflation assumption that has been factored into the forecasting model will 

also be challenged and reviewed. Given trends over the past 12 months, it may be that the 4% figure is too low 

and needs to be revised.

Overspend due to lower than anticipated income. The price of recycled paper, textiles and scrap metal has fallen.

86



Dry Recycling -335 -17%

Mainstream School Transport -260 -7%

Haulage & Waste Transfer -200 -11%

Highways Design & Delivery - Staffing, Admin & Depot Overhead Costs -185 -13%

HS2 -175 -44%

Composting Contracts -145 -9%

Other variances 250 n/a

TOTAL 1,720 n/a

Chief Executives

The Department is forecasting a net underspend of £0.5m (4.9%).  The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Planning Services -265 -59%

Democratic Services and Administration -140 -9%

Trading Standards -95 -6%

Other variances -30 n/a

TOTAL -530 n/a

Budget set using other authorities' broad estimates as a benchmark. In the first year of LCC direct HS2 

expenditure has been lower than anticipated. However should the HS2 review be favourable, demand in this 

service is anticipated to increase.

Additional income generated from large capital projects being worked on by Engineering services department. 

There is also additional demand in network management team which is generating additional income and also 

recharges to capital from highways Delivery works is higher than budgeted.

Underspend due to vacancies which are difficult to recruit to and few Agency staff available.

There are vacancies due to staff turnover. These are being held whilst a review of support services across 

Member Services and Civic Support is carried out.

Haulage underspend of £78k is forecast. Total tonnes via Waste Transfer Station have increased from 18/19 due 

to new Albion closure however haulage is now planned from the most economical WTS following the award of 

the new bulk haulage contract which provides lower rates to Coventry and Stoke.

In addition to this, £95k underspend is forecast due to WTS compensation events for previous years' 

performance. 

Underspend forecast based on reduction in pupil numbers and fewer contracted services required.

Increase in planning fee income, which is not expected to be ongoing, and there are a number of vacancies for 

which recruitment is proving difficult.

Underspend forecast due to reduced green waste tonnage. 

Market values being received for dry recycling materials are higher than budget due to favourable prices in 

plastics.

87



Corporate Resources

The Department is forecasting to be on budget.  The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Commercial Services 710 -59%

Customer Service Centre 300 15%

Information & Technology -500 -6%

Insurance -315 -17%

Other variances -195 n/a

TOTAL 0 n/a

Early achievement of saving in relation to contributions to liabilities. Earmarked funds are at an appropriate level 

allowing the planned saving to be made early.  This will see the contribution to earmarked funds reduce from 

£1.1m to £0.8m.

The Customer Service Centre is facing increased pressures and has only achieved previous years' savings 

target as a result of one off savings from attrition. In order to maintain service levels, the service has agreed to 

over recruit by ten posts to ensure attrition is covered. Additionally, Customer Service assistants have recently 

had their posts regraded, increasing expenditure by £70k per annum. Additional workloads are also anticipated 

from the change in legislation from August 2019 regarding Blue Badge eligibility for people with 'hidden 

disabilities'.  Growth has been reflected in draft MTFS 20-24.

Continuing challenge from a 2018/19 outturn overspend of £0.4m, pay inflation of £0.8m and the 2019/20 savings 

target of £0.5m resulting in a forecast shortfall in contribution during 2019/20.  The bottom loading of the 2019/20 

pay award has significantly affected the service due to large numbers of staff receiving above inflation awards 

and difficulties in being able to raise prices after they had been set.  The position will be recovered in 2020/21 

however the phasing of further new savings will be amended to allow more time, with the original planned saving 

still to be made by 2023/24.

The Information & Technology Service has carried some vacancies since last financial year awaiting an action 

plan to review middle management of the service. The action plan is now complete and posts are starting to be 

filled, but some vacancies still exist, resulting in underspends across the service. 

88



APPENDIX 3

CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING STATEMENT (PERIOD 6)

Original 

Budget  

2019/20

Outturn 

adjustments

Changes in 

Funding 

2019/20

Updated 

Budget 

2019/20

Forecast             

Updated 

Budget v 

Forecast 

Variance       

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Children & Family Services* 24,060 1,355 0 25,415 28,823 3,408

Adults and Communities 11,700 569 1,328 13,597 7,967 -5,630

Environment & Transport 51,020 12,659 5,286 68,965 50,520 -18,445

Chief Executive’s 710 0 0 710 261 -449

Corporate Resources 7,805 2,310 336 10,451 7,800 -2,651

Corporate Programme 44,150 2,110 -453 45,807 50,101 4,294

Total 139,445 19,003 6,497 164,945 145,472 -19,473

*Excludes Schools Devolved Formula Capital 

89



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4

Capital Budget 2019/20 – forecast main variances

Children and Family Services

Net acceleration of £3.4m is forecast compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:

£000

Provision of Additional Primary Places -223

SEND Programme 3,631

TOTAL 3,408

Adults & Communities

Net slippage of £5.6m is forecast compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:

£000

Records Office Relocation -2,920

Hamilton Court/Smith Crescent - NWL Development -2,090

Brookfields Supported Living Scheme (refurbishment) -383

Mobile Library Vehicles -109

HART Rostering System -105

Changing Places/Toilets (Personal Assistance) -59

Other variances 36

TOTAL -5,630

Environment and Transport

Net slippage of £18.4m is forecast compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:

Environment and Transport - Transportation £000

A46 Anstey Lane 1,097

A Partner workshop took place on 6 September 2019 to confirm the detailed working relationships. A formal 

agreement will significantly reduce the financial risk to LCC and will be included in the revised full business 

case. The FBC, which has required a major re-write due to the number of significant changes to the design of 

the new records office, is due to be finalised in November. 

The final vehicle is due to be delivered in 2019/20. No further expenditure on mobile library vehicles is 

anticipated. The surplus is an underspend.

Slippage due to the programme of work required for the re-development has significantly changed since the 

capital funding was requested. The project now has a feasibility report, which includes indicative timescales 

and milestones, that has informed the current position regarding funding requirements across the financial 

years. Pre-construction work is due to complete January 2020 at which point construction work will 

commence. 

The system tender value was significantly below the estimated value.

A couple of sites unlikely to be achieved this Financial Year. Exact location for one of these sites not yet 

confirmed.

Underspend forecast based on the agreed contract value.

A project a Blaby Thistly Meadow is forecast to be slipped by £650k due to planning issues as the site is on a 

flood plain, the structure will have to be raised up to overcome the problem.  A number of smaller schemes 

have been accelerated which has reduced the overall variance in this area. 

In order to deliver the High Needs Recovery Plan and enable lower cost local places to be availble to deliver 

the required revenue saving a number of schemes to create capacity in special needs units and special 

schools are being accelerated.

91



Capital Maintenance - West Lane/Victoria Rd 453

Capital Maintenance - Preventative 241

A50 Overbridge Markfield 194

M1 Junction 23 & A512 -9,675

Melton Depot - Replacement -3,791

National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) - Hinckley Hub -3,491

County Council Vehicle Programme -1,892

Zouch Bridge Replacement -1,335

Advanced Design -404

IT Renewals -112

Other variances 270

TOTAL -18,445

Chief Executives

Net slippage of £0.4m is forecast compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:

£000

Rural Broadband Scheme - Phase 2 161

Slippage of budget due to delay in negotiating with land owners. This has meant that work is now not likely to 

start until March 2020 and so minimal expenditure is expected this year. Careful monitoring is now required as 

the funding is time limited and due to expire March 2021. The project will first spend any NPIF and time 

sensitive money which will help to mitigate this risk.

Priority given to completing the Major Road Network (A511/A50) bid, with the area strategy to follow once the 

outcome of the bid is known. The funding is not expected to be needed until 2020/21. 

Cabinet received a report on 24 May 2019 which reported a shortfall in funding for the replacement of Zouch 

Bridge with the Department asked to review departmental earmarked funds and the current capital 

programme to try to meet the funding shortfall.  The department has undertaken a review of earmarked funds 

which has identified some capacity to partially meet the shortfall, but the amount cannot be confirmed until 

later in the year.  In addition, the Department for Transport (DfT) has announced a further tranche of the 

Challenge Fund, which enables local highway authorities in England to bid for major maintenance projects 

that are otherwise difficult to fund through the usual formula funding allocations they receive from 

government. Consideration is being given to ascertain whether the Zouch Bridge replacement meets the 

criteria for this funding and whether a bid should be submitted.  Subject to funding, the planned scheme start 

date is now Spring 2020.

Overspend due to issues encountered with exposed bridge deck which required extensive repair at each of 

the three joints. The problems created an unanticipated delay in the works.

The Winter 2019/20 service is to be  provided out of existing depot due to one-year extension of lease being 

granted.  Winter 2020/21 onwards there is currently no prospect of moving to the new depot site until to 

Melton Distributor Road is completed and contractor has moved out and so short term options are being 

investigated. Design work will continue on the long term option but this cannot be developed at this time.

Slippage is expected pending a review of options by the department.

Slippage of budget due to a fleet management review which is now complete with actions and outcomes 

being considered. Whilst the review and the outcomes are considered there is a pause on replacing the fleet.

Overspend due to advanced delivery of maintenance work being carried out in conjunction with s106 junction 

improvements. Maintenance work was carried out earlier than anticipated under the road closure necessary 

for the s106 improvements to minimise disruption

Overspend due to the demand on pre surface dressing work being higher than anticipated.

Acceleration of programmed funding from 2020/21 (2 year project) due to the target price being higher than 

the estimated budget.  Additional funding has been agreed with the external partner that will be received in 

20/21. The programme will be refreshed to include the additional funding as part of the 2020-24 MTFS 

refresh.

Slippage due to delays in the legal agreement being signed with the developers. There has also been a delay 

in mobilisation due to issues with access to the site. The agreement has now been signed and construction 

works have started. Grant funding from DfT will have timings attached to it and so this funding will be used 

first to ensure conditions are met.

92



Rural Broadband Scheme - Phase 3 -610

Other variances 0

TOTAL -449

Corporate Resources

Net slippage of £2.7m is forecast compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:

£000

Watermead Park Footbridge and Cycleway -1,979

Workplace Strategy -476

ICT - Marval Replacement Programme -120

ASA Firewall Replacement -100

Other variances 24

TOTAL -2,651

Corporate Programme

Net acceleration of £4.3m is forecast compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:

£000

CAIF - Loughborough University Science & Enterprise Park (LUSEP) 6,372

CAIF - Airfield Business Park Phase 1 -1,127

Energy Strategy -867

CAIF - Leaders Farm Site Infrastructure -206

Other variances 122

TOTAL 4,294

Phase 3 contract let for West Leicestershire. East Leicestershire programme to be retendered. Work due to 

commence in 2020/21.

Schemes progressing, but often takes significant time for schemes to be approved and progress to 

operational stage. As such, likley that majority of budget will slip into next financial year, but should be 

required as a number of schools are in conversation with the LCC Energy team to progress. 

Underspend forecast based on an agreed fixed price contract and managing the risks for completion of Phase 

1 by November 2019. Overall underspend is in part due to procuring a cheaper construction package through 

the OJEU process alongside some changes to the scheme. 

Outstanding payments from 2018/19, notified late by British Telecom.

Two year programme is now not due to begin until 2020/21 as other priorities and calls on resources have 

taken precedence. 

Acceleration of scheme following a request by the tenant to move into the facility in July 2020.

Underspend due to the remaining works at the site, such as topping the road off and some grounds works 

being cheaper than anticipated.

The scheme is now on hold as one of the landowners on which the bridge will be located is reconsidering 

their involvement in the project. 

Programme is now not due to begin until 2020/21 as other priorities and calls on resources have taken 

precedence. 

Investment in workplace strategy related schemes to achieve ongoing savings, subject to the business case.  

The Workplace Strategy Business Case has now been approved by CMT and work will begin to progress the 

schemes, which will now mostly be in 2020/21.

93



Outturn Adjustments - 2018/19 £000

Children & Family Services 1,355

Adults & Communities 569

Environment & Transport 12,659

Corporate Resources 2,310

Corporate Programme 2,110

19,003

2019/20 Budget Adjustments

Adults & Communities

Ashby Court purchase - funded from Future Development reserve (Cabinet 130919) 1,150

Disabled Facilities Grant - addtl sum following confirmation of 2019/20 allocation. 288

Earmarked capital receipt no longer being received. -110

Environment and Transport

Lutterworth East (road) - funded from Future Development reserve (Cabinet 290319) 1,500

A511/A50 Major Road Network (£1.5m), M1 J20A (£0.5m) - funded from Future

Development reserve (Cabinet 290319) - £2m of £6m approved
2,000

Croft-Billesdon Depot Scheme - funded from earmarked capital receipt 200

Hinckley Hub (Hawley Road) - LLEP funding 80

West Lane, Victoria Road - funded from Section 278 developer funding 1,496

Barwell Civic Amenity Site - funded from Insurance reserve 10

Corporate Programme

Windows 10 and Office 2016 - ICT reserve 130

Country Parks and Forestry - Capital Grants receipts in advance 11

Beacon Hill Café and Investment - Corporate Resources reserve 195

Corporate Programme

Coalville Workspace Project - management fee deduction from LLEP grant -53

Coalville Workspace Project - reduction due to capital receipt not being received -400

CAIF - East of Lutterworth SDA - additional land purchase, from unallocated Asset 

Acquisitions 750

CAIF - Asset Acquisitions/new Investments - to East of Lutterworth SDA budget to 

purchase additional land -750

Sub Total 6,497

Overall Total 25,500

Capital Programme - Changes in Funding
94



APPENDIX 5

EARMARKED FUND BALANCES

Revised Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast

Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance

01/04/19 31/03/20 31/03/21 31/03/22 31/03/23 31/03/24

£000 £000 £000 £001 £002 £003

Renewal of Systems, Equipment and Vehicles

Children & Family Services 1,370 850 340 0 0 0

Adults & Communities 70 70 70 70 70 70

Environment & Transport 1,000 830 460 390 360 360

Corporate Resources 1,710 1,260 1,010 760 510 260

Trading Accounts

Industrial Properties 1,560 1,310 1,060 810 560 310

Insurance

General 7,100 8,020 8,940 9,860 10,780 11,700

Schools schemes and risk management 510 510 510 510 510 510

Uninsured loss fund 5,330 5,330 5,330 5,330 5,330 5,330

Committed Balances

Central Maintenance Fund 110 0 0 0 0 0

Community Grants 300 300 300 300 300 300

Other

Children & Family Services

Supporting Leicestershire Families 1,580 1,580 0 0 0 0
C&FS Developments 1,500 940 790 790 790 790
Youth Offending Service 570 410 250 90 0 0
Special Educational Needs Disability (SEND) 0 0 0 0 0 0
School Based Planning 390 200 0 0 0 0

Innovation Fund - Practical Excellence 210 170 130 90 50 0

Adults & Communities - Developments 5,580 1,550 250 250 250 250

Public Health 320 320 220 220 220 220

Environment & Transport

   Commuted Sums 3,050 2,590 1,690 1,390 1,090 790

E&T Developments/ advanced design 790 250 250 250 250 250

Civil Parking Enforcement 330 230 130 30 0 0

Waste Developments 730 460 220 0 0 0

Section 38 Income 490 50 20 20 20 20

Section 106 240 100 0 0 0 0

Leicester & Leicestershire Integrated Transport Model (LLITM) 2,350 2,230 1,250 580 300 0

Other 1,340 910 270 0 0 0

Chief Executive

Community Planning 20 0 0 0 0 0

Economic Development-General 650 370 170 100 100 100

Legal 150 150 30 30 30 30

Signposting and Community Support Service 80 20 20 20 20 20

Chief Executive Developments 450 450 300 250 250 250

Corporate Resources

Corporate Resources Developments 260 130 130 130 130 130
Leicestershire Schools Music Service 230 200 100 50 0 0
Other 80 80 80 80 80 80

Corporate:

Transformation Fund 11,710 7,650 4,300 910 0 0

East Midlands Shared Services - IT development 390 390 390 390 390 390

Elections 380 580 780 180 380 580

Broadband 3,620 3,210 4,470 1,130 0 0

Business Rates Retention 2,500 1,570 1,570 1,570 1,570 1,570

Inquiry and other costs 1,160 570 0 0 0 0

Corporate Projects 400 0 0 0 0 0

Car leasing 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pooled Property Fund investment * -21,610 -24,110 -24,110 -24,110 -24,110 -24,110

TOTAL 39,000 21,730 11,720 2,470 230 200

Capital (Revenue Funding)

Capital Financing (phasing of capital expenditure) 84,330 27,020 9,920 5,020 2,550 2,550

Future Developments 15,520 19,625 10,000 9,420 0 0

Total 99,850 46,645 19,920 14,440 2,550 2,550

Schools and Partnerships

Dedicated Schools Grant 1,710 -2,100 -8,300 -9,500 -7,000 -500

Health & Social Care Outcomes 820 820 820 820 820 820

Leicestershire Safeguarding Children Board 50 30 0 0 0 0

Leicestershire & Rutland Sport 1,330 1,190 890 730 590 590

Leics Social Care Development Group 40 0 0 0 0 0

East Midlands Shared Services - other 250 200 110 40 0 0

Emergency Management 270 270 270 270 270 270

Total 4,470 410 -6,210 -7,640 -5,320 1,180

* Pooled Property Fund investments (£25m) including unrealised gains - funded from the overall balance of earmarked funds

95



This page is intentionally left blank



 

SCRUTINY COMMISSION: 6 NOVEMBER 2019 
 

LEICESTERSHIRE COMMUNITY SAFETY STRATEGY 2019-2021 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 
SERVICES  

 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to set out the duties placed on the local authority 

and other named statutory responsible agencies in relation to crime and 
disorder, to outline the current approach adopted in Leicestershire and seek 
the views of the Scrutiny Commission on the content of the draft 
Leicestershire Community Safety Strategy as a part of the consultation. The 
report also provides an update of work being undertaken by several partner 
agencies in relation to tackling knife crime across Leicester City, 
Leicestershire, and Rutland.  

 
Policy framework and previous decisions 
 
2. The Community Safety Strategy forms part of the Policy Framework as set out 

in Schedule 2 of the Articles (Part 2) of the County Council’s Constitution. This 
is a new strategy. 

 
3. The County Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-22 sets out an outcome-based 

approach with five strategic outcomes for good quality of life in Leicestershire, 
including keeping Communities safe. This covers matters such as 
safeguarding for adults and children, and the need for people to feel safe in 
their daily lives, at home and whilst out and about in the County. The 
Community Safety Strategy will support this, setting out the Council’s 
responsibilities in relation to crime and disorder issues and priorities agreed 
by Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs), the Police and Crime 
Commissioner, and other statutory agencies with whom the Council works 

 
Background 
 
4. The duty for agencies to work together to reduce crime and disorder arises 

from section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. The local authority is 
named as one of the responsible authorities in the act. While the Crime and 
Disorder Act places a duty on responsible authorities to work together, the 
responsibility for introducing local plans to reduce crime and disorder is 
vested in local CSPs which in Leicestershire are run by District Councils. 

 

97 Agenda Item 10



 
Leicestershire Safer Communities Strategy Board (LSCSB) 
 
5. In order to co-ordinate work between Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

(LLR) focused agencies, the LSCSB was introduced 10 years ago to identify 
joint countywide priorities. The Board is chaired by the County Council’s Lead 
Member for Children and Families and Community Safety, and other board 
members include the chairs from each of the CSPs, senior representatives 
from the responsible authorities; the police, public health, Fire and Rescue, 
and both the National Probation Service and Community Rehabilitation 
Company, and the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC). 
 

6. The role of the LSCSB is to oversee and co-ordinate the implementation and 
delivery of Leicestershire Community Safety Partnership priorities identified by 
the Board including coordination of the Police and Crime Plan for the LLR 
area.  The priorities include, reducing re-offending and substance-related 
crime and disorder, protecting those considered to be most vulnerable in the 
community, reducing anti-social behaviour and increasing public confidence in 
local crime and disorder services. 

 

7. The key roles and responsibilities of the Board are as follows: 
 

 To provide strategic leadership in delivering safer communities priorities 
across Leicestershire; 

 To develop joint approaches to community safety and encourage 
collaborative working across agencies and partnerships; and 

 To facilitate greater alignment between CSPs and other bodies and 
structures with community safety responsibilities. 

 
8. The approach adopted has been for the County Council’s Community Safety 

Team to liaise with district councils and LLR agencies.  This has entailed 
undertaking planning, adopting a number of work-streams, and enabling the 
LCSCB to fulfil its function by providing the necessary background information 
and data and support for its meetings. An important part of the Community 
Safety Team work has been regular attendance at local CSP meetings and 
providing support to enable CSPs to introduce a local plan linked to 
countywide and more recently PCC priorities.  

 
Police and Crime Commissioners 
 
9. In 2012 the landscape in relation to community safety became more complex 

particularly in two tier local authority arrangements, due to the introduction of 
Police and Crime Commissioners who have responsibility for oversight of the 
local police force and introducing a force-wide (LLR) Police and Crime Plan 
focused on reducing crime and disorder in the region. 

 
10. Recognising that there may be some crossover in the role of PCCs and 

County Councils in two tier arrangements, the Crime and Disorder 
Regulations 2012 introduced a requirement for county-level strategy groups 
such as the LSCSB to introduce a community safety agreement and a 

98



partnership plan. Research into the national picture highlighted that a number 
of local authorities had introduced a community safety agreement that: 

 

i) amalgamated collective countywide priorities; and  
 

ii) provided a web-based plan available to the public. In Leicestershire a 
web-based plan has been introduced by the LSCSB. The plan identifies 
common themes and priorities and provides links to the PCC and CSP 
plans and to related national crime and disorder strategies. The planning 
cycle linked to the local community safety agreement is being developed 
by the LSCSB (a copy of the plan and the web link details are outlined at 
Appendix B). 

 
 
11. As indicated the PCC functions include oversight of the local police and 

production of a police and crime plan. Oversight of the PCC lies with the 
Police and Crime Panel, a joint committee which includes a County 
representative who can raise Leicestershire related issues The Police and 
Crime Panel includes a county representative who can raise county-related 
issues. The current representative on this the Cabinet Lead Member for 
Children and Family Services and Community Safety, who also chairs the 
LSCSB. 

 
 
Community Safety Team 

 

12. In addition to having a role in co-ordinating the work of the LSCSB the County 
Council’s community safety team also leads and co-ordinates operational 
planning across the county on several areas linked to crime and disorder. This 
includes co-ordinating standards, commissioning, joint working arrangements, 
priority setting, data sharing, training, and joint working arrangements linked 
to, anti-social behaviour, Prevent activity (related to counter terrorism), hate 
crime, and domestic violence. In addition to this, the team co-ordinate, with 
other responsible agencies, the LLR response to emerging threats currently 
notably serious organised crime, exploitation of children, knife, and cyber-
crime. 
 

Knife crime update 
 

13. Since 2017 several partner agencies including the Police, City and County 
Youth Offending Services, Education, the National Probation Service, and 
Charnwood Borough Council have worked together co-ordinating the 
operational response to knife crime across Leicestershire, Leicester City, and 
Rutland (LLR). The work has been co-ordinated through a Knife Crime 
Delivery Group chaired by the police which focuses on sharing information 
and co-ordinating initiatives across localities focused on tackling knife crime. 
Significantly during 2019, to complement this approach, the Office of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner has been allocated £880k by the Home 
Office for 2019/20 to establish a Violence Reduction Unit in line with a Public 
Health approach to tackling violent crime. 

99



 

14. The national funding has enabled the introduction of a Violence Reduction 
Network (VRN), which seeks to think and act differently about violence with 
the goal of reducing its occurrence across Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland (LLR). Through utilising existing partnerships including the Knife 
Crime Delivery Group, strengthening connections between different 
organisations, sectors, and communities and drawing on collective assets, the 
Network seeks to identify the causes of violence locally. The approach 
involves developing a coordinated, effective response to tackle the underlying 
causal factors related to violent crime so that communities across the LLR are 
places where all people, families and communities are safe, healthy and free 
of violence. 

 

15. The VRN aims to achieve “prevention through connection” by building an 
inclusive, collaborative and courageous network which will drive the short and 
long-term system-change required to successfully tackle the causes of 
violence across the life-course. Up until March 2020, the initial focus of the 
VRN is youth violence (up to age 25) in public spaces and in particular serious 
youth violence involving weapons. However, the intention is to broaden out 
the focus to other forms of violence in due course. 

 

16. The VRN is supported by a central team which has the following aims: 

 To improve understanding of violence and its root causes through data 
gathering and analysis. 

 To develop and share models of effectiveness for violence prevention and 
reduction, through drawing on local, national and international knowledge. 

 To understand and improve relevant services through service-mapping, 
identifying and pursuing opportunities for integrated working, and 
developing, testing and evaluating new or existing services to fill gaps in 
provision. 

 To ensure communities, including those most affected by violence, are 
fully involved in both improving understanding of the design and delivery 
of solutions. 

 To build momentum and secure the commitment to change through 
designing and deploying campaigns and assembling a virtual network of 
leadership ambassadors across the Network. 

 To co-produce and secure commitment to a long-term plan for Violence 
Reduction. 

17. A VRN Programme Board will provide strategic leadership and direction for 
the work of the Violence Reduction Network (VRN), ensuring the VRN delivers 
against the vision and programme goals.  The multi-agency chief officer 
membership will include the Director of Children and Family Services and a 
District Chief Executive.  Progress will also be reported to other relevant 
partnership boards, such as the Leicestershire Safer Communities Strategy 
Board. It is of note that The Police and Crime Panel has written to the Home 
Office to request that a decision regarding future longer-term funding be made 
and announced as soon as possible. 

 
 
 

100



Community Safety Strategy 
 
18. In terms of the detail contained within the Community Safety Strategy 

(Appendix A), due to the nature of relationships between agencies and 
strategy groups in two-tier Local Authority arrangements the strategy includes 
background information in relation to the responsibilities of the Police Crime 
Commissioner, District CSP’s, and the LSCSB in relation to reducing crime 
and disorder. Detail is also provided regarding the purpose of a community 
safety agreement. In Leicestershire the community safety agreement has 
been developed as an online document which not only contains the agreed 
County level priorities, but also provides links to current District CSP plans, 
PCC priorities, and national strategy documents connected to crime and 
disorder. A link is provided in the Strategy to the online Leicestershire 
Community Safety Agreement and is attached at Appendix B. 

 
19. The Community Safety Strategy also links crime and disorder related priorities 

to strategic priorities identified and being delivered within the 5-year 
Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan. The last section of the 
Community Safety Strategy contains information on the work and priorities of 
the Leicestershire County community safety team, including the team’s 
support role in relation to the work of the LSCSB. 

 
Consultation 
 
20. Consultation on the contents of the Community Safety Strategy commenced 

on 16th September 2019 and will take place for 8 weeks.  The consultation 
period ends on 11th November 2019.  It will be carried out via formal and 
informal meetings and written communication with stakeholders comprising 
the Scrutiny Commission and partners who form the LSCSB: the community 
safety partnership for the District areas, the Police, Combined Fire Authority, 
Fire and Rescue Service, Leicestershire CCG’s, the Probation Service, Public 
Health, and Leicester City Council. 

 
Conclusion 
 
19. The views of the Scrutiny Commission are sought in relation to the draft two-

year Leicestershire County Council Community Safety Strategy. In two tier 
Local Authority arrangements the statutory duties placed on District CSPs and 
Responsible agencies to work together and identify priorities are relatively 
complex. To inform the Scrutiny Commission the report refers to relevant 
legislation and provides background information concerning the role of the 
Police Crime Commissioner and LSCSB. 

 
Resource implications 
 
20. There are no resource implications arising from the recommendations in this 

report. The strategy can be implemented using existing resources with the 
Children and Family Services budget. 

 
 

101



Timetable for Decisions 
 
21. The County Council Cabinet approved the draft Community Safety Strategy 

for consultation on the 13th of September 2019. 
 
22. The Scrutiny Commission will consider the draft Strategy at its meeting on the 

6th November 2019. 
 
23. The outcome of the consultation including feedback from the Scrutiny 

Commission, together with the final version of the Strategy will be considered 
by Cabinet on the 17th of December 2019. 

 

24. Subject to the views of Cabinet, the final version of the Strategy will be 
submitted to full Council for approval on the 19th of February 2020. 

 
 
Consultation under the Local Issues Alert Procedures 
 
25. None. 
 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
26. There are no direct EHRIA implications for the local authority as a partner 

agency within broader crime and disorder arrangements. 
 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
27. None. 
 
 
Officer(s) to Contact 
 
Paula Sumner – Assistant Director, Education & Early Help 
0116 305 1454 
Paula.Sumner@leics.gov.uk 
 
 
Appendices 
 

i) Appendix A – Leicestershire Community Safety Strategy 
 

ii) Appendix B – Leicestershire Community Agreement (CSA) 

102



1 

Leicestershire County Council 
Community Safety Strategy 

2019-2021 
 
 

Purpose 

The is strategy document provides details of relevant legislation in relation to 
Leicestershire County Councils (LCC) responsibilities concerning crime and disorder, 
provides an overview of the role of the LCC community safety team, and outlines the 
crime and disorder priorities agreed by Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs), the 
Police Crime Commissioner, and the statutory responsible agencies across 
Leicestershire.   
 
 

Background 

Alongside District Councils, Fire and Rescue Authorities, Health Authorities, Police 
Forces, Police and Crime Commissioners and Probation; County Councils were 
designated by the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 as ‘Responsible Authorities’. This 
places a duty on these agencies to work together to reduce crime and disorder in 
their areas.  
 
Section 5 of the Crime and Disorder Act established Community Safety Partnerships 
(CSPs), which are an alliance of organisations statutorily responsible for reducing 
crime and disorder, substance misuse and re-offending within a set locality. 
Leicestershire has six CSPs based on District and Borough geographical areas 
which includes one merged CSP for Blaby District and Hinckley and Bosworth 
Borough.  
 
Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) are elected representatives who oversee 
how crime is tackled in a police force area. Their aim is to cut crime and to ensure 
the police force is effective. In terms of responsibilities PCCs have an oversight 
function in relation to the police and are also required to introduce a police and crime 
plan focused on reducing crime and disorder. Notably police and crime plans and 
CSP plans will often share priorities and include ways in which CSPs can work with 
PCCs to deliver actions.  
 
The oversight function in relation to the way in which the PCC discharges duties is 
undertaken by a Leicester City, Leicestershire, and Rutland (LLR) Police and Crime 
Panel. The panel includes a Leicestershire representative who can raise county 
related issues. The Leicestershire representative is the County Council portfolio lead 
for safer communities and chair of the Leicestershire Safer Communities Strategy 
Board (LSCSB).  
 
The Police and Justice Act 2006 gives statutory responsibility for two tier authorities 
such as Leicestershire, to have a County-level Crime and Disorder strategy group. 
The Leicestershire Safer Communities Strategy Board is chaired by LCC’s Lead 
Member for Safer Communities, and comprises of representatives from LCC, each of 
Leicestershire’s CSPs, Leicestershire Police, Leicestershire Public Health, the 

APPENDIX A 
103



2 

National Probation Service, Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service and the Office of 
the Police Crime Commissioner.  
 
As a result of the introduction of Police and Crime Commissioners in 2012, additional 
legislation was introduced focused on county-level strategy groups working within 2 
tier local authority arrangements. The Crime and Disorder regulations 2012 place a 
duty on county level strategy groups to introduce a community safety agreement 
(CSA). The purpose of the CSA is to identify and enable co-ordination of county wide 
priorities. In Leicestershire the CSA is also available online to the public and 
provides links to national strategies and priorities linked to crime and disorder. The 
link to the current CSA agreed by LSCSB can be found here.  
 
 

Strategy Delivery 

In 2 tier authorities, county councils have a pivotal role in co-ordinating community 
safety activity in addition to their role as a statutory responsible authority. Part of the 
role of the LCC community safety team is to provide support to the county level 
strategy group; the LSCSB. The key aspects of the local strategy linked to the 
statutory responsibilities placed on county level crime and disorder strategy groups 
are as follows: 
 

 That the Leicestershire Safer Communities Strategy Board (LSCSB) will be 
responsible for setting priorities at a county level; 

 The LCC Community Safety Team will co-ordinate with the assistance of partner 
agencies the agenda and the work-streams overseen by LSCSB; and 

 In line with statutory responsibilities within 2 tier local authority arrangements co-
ordination will include assisting in the preparation of a Leicestershire community 
safety agreement, and a regular review of the LSCSB terms of reference. 

 
Another important function of the LSCSB is to draw together senior partners from the 
responsible authorities. The strategy group provides the forum to discuss and agree 
priorities and check and challenge around matters affecting the delivery of crime 
reduction, offender management, and substance misuse across the county. A part of 
the LCC community safety team duties involve providing support to enable the 
effective operation of this aspect of the LSCSB activity.  
 
 

Priorities 

The priorities in relation to crime and disorder were agreed by LSCSB during 2018 
and are outlined in the current CSA. The county wide priorities are as follows: 
 

 Identify and protect the most vulnerable; 

 Reduce crime and fear of crime; 

 Reduce incidence and impact of ASB; 

 Reduce harm from alcohol and substance misuse; 

 Reduce risk of harm to young people from cyber-crime and bullying; 

 Increase reporting of domestic abuse and protect the most vulnerable; and 

 Increase confidence in reporting of hate incidents. 

104



3 

 
The county wide crime and disorder focused priorities will be reviewed through the 
LSCSB. There are also strong links between these crime and disorder related 
priorities and 3 priorities within the LCC 5-year strategic plan focused on community 
matters. The 3 strategic plan priorities are as follows: 
 

 Wellbeing and Opportunity: The people of Leicestershire have the 
opportunities and support they need to take control of their health and wellbeing; 

 Keeping People Safe: People in Leicestershire are safe and protected from 
harm; and 

 Great Communities: Leicestershire communities are thriving and integrated 
places where people help and support each other and take pride in their local 
area. 

 
A part of the LCC community safety team priorities involve working with internal and 
external partners to strengthen links between work-streams being undertaken 
through crime and disorder and community focused strategies. 
 
 

LCC Community Safety Team 

Community safety encompasses not just criminal activities but also takes account of 
social and environmental influences. As well as traditional crime prevention and 
reduction activities, community safety also includes addressing quality of life issues.  
LCC’s community safety team comprises of five members of staff, a Team Manager, 
a Community Safety Coordinator and three Community Safety Officers with lead 
areas of work within anti-social behaviour, domestic abuse, hate incidents and 
Prevent. 
 
As a two-tier authority, much of LCC’s community safety team role is to provide 
strategic leadership, information and advice to implement county wide delivery in 
conjunction with partners, ensuring an appropriate response to community safety 
matters. The community safety team support with attendance at CSPs and the 
drafting of partnership plans, coordination of core areas of business such as anti-
social behaviour (ASB), hate and Prevent, as well as horizon scanning for upcoming 
legislation changes or national developments which may influence local delivery. The 
work of the LCC community safety team is directly linked to enabling LCC to 
discharge its duties in partnership with other statutorily responsible agencies in 
relation to reducing crime and disorder. 
 
The key workstreams linked to the LCC community safety team are highlighted 
under the 5 headings, ASB, Prevent and hate crime, serious organised crime and 
emerging threats, domestic abuse and LSCSB support. The priority areas of work 
are highlighted within the strategy. 
 
 

105



4 

 

ASB 

 Provide a co-

ordination role across 

LLR in relation to 

ASB. 

 Chair both the ASB 

Delivery and Strategy 

Groups. Co-ordinate 

development of 

Sentinel multi-agency 

case management 

system. 

 Develop joint 

approaches and 

encourage 

collaborative working 

across agencies and 

partnerships in LLR.  

 Review ASB 

minimum standards. 

 Keep abreast of 

legislation changes 

and communicate 

impact to LLR 

partners.  

 Co-ordinate 

partnership training 

across LLR agencies 

linked to minimum 

ASB standards. 

 

Prevent & Hate crime 

 Ensure LCC fulfils its 

duty under Section 

29 of the Counter-

Terrorism and 

Security Act 2015. 

 Focus on Home 

Office standards, 

introducing training 

on staff awareness, 

drawing links 

preventing 

radicalisation and 

channel project 

referrals. 

 Produce and monitor 

a corporate Prevent 

action plan. 

 Keep abreast of 

legislation changes 

and communicate 

these and the 

possible impact to 

relevant LCC 

colleagues and LLR 

partners.  

 Co-ordinate hate 

related work across 

the LLR. Chair Hate 

delivery group. 

 

Domestic abuse & 

vulnerability 

 Commissioning. Co-

ordinate county DA 

needs assessment 

and assist in co-

ordination of LLR 

commissioning. 

 Provide link to 

commissioned DA 

services across the 

LLR, and co-ordinate 

relevant data sharing 

requirements. 

 Develop county 

focused strategy, DA 

needs assessment, 

development of 

operational practices, 

DA training internally 

and externally. 

 Provide link between 

responsible 

authorities and 

District CSP’s in 

relation to the LLR 

vulnerability 

executive. 

 Provide co-ordination 

role in relation to 

emerging areas of 

vulnerability work. 

Serious & organised 

crime & emerging 

threats 

 Lead on horizon 

scanning for identifying 

emerging national and 

regional threats in 

relation to crime and 

disorder. 

 Provide link between 

responsible agencies 

and District CSPs in 

relation to child 

exploitation and child 

sexual exploitation. 

 Co-ordination role in 

developing countywide 

and locality-based 

information sharing 

meetings. 

 Co-ordinate the LLR 

senior officer group. 

Focus on developing 

meeting to co-ordinate 

responsible authorities 

around identifying & 

developing joint working 

around emerging 

threats. 

 

Support: 

LSCSB & Senior 

Officer Group 

 Co-ordinate SOG 

agenda to enable 

responsible 

agencies and CSPs 

to discharge 

statutory duties. 

 Co-ordinate LSCSB 

to support county 

partnership to meet 

statutory functions. 

 Attend and support 

District CSP 

meetings. 

 Co-ordinate county 

related data linked 

to community 

safety.  

 Provide input and 

support to priority 

setting at LLR, 

county, and District 

level. 

 Involvement in 

meetings focused 

on community 

safety county wide 

& LLR as needed. 

 

106



5 

Conclusion 

The way community safety operates in Leicestershire is complex and involves many 

different agencies and stakeholders. Due to the nature of the structure and 

responsibilities of the PCC, District CSP’s, and statutorily responsible agencies, 

there is significant risk of duplication or a failure to develop collective strategies and 

priorities. The LSCSB brings together the PCC, CSP chairs, along with senior 

representatives from statutorily responsible agencies, and will continue to have a key 

role in co-ordinating priorities across Leicestershire. The future will also provide 

challenges as structures change, new legislation is implemented, or new threats 

linked to crime and disorder emerge. The emphasis of the strategy will be to 

continue to build strong partnerships across Leicestershire to enable agencies to 

work with the public, identify collective priorities, and introduce effective strategies to 

combat crime and disorder. 

 

 

107



This page is intentionally left blank



NPS CRC
East & Rutland West

Charnwood  Facebook Twitter Contact
NW Leics  Facebook Twitter Contact
Hinckley & Bosworth  Facebook Twitter Contact

Local Scrutiny Blaby  Facebook Twitter Contact
Satisfaction Surveys Oadby & Wigston  BC  Facebook Twitter Contact

Market Harbourough  DC  Facebook Twitter Contact
Melton  BC  Facebook Twitter Contact

Performance Report
Performance Dashboard

 'Working Together for the Benefit of Everyone' 
2018-22

We will develop Minimum standards across our community safety partenrships

We will ensure that we continually develop our approaches

We will invest in our communities building capacity and focusing on prevention 

Supporting the PCC Plan by being
Efficient

Effectivey counsulting and engaging to inform priority setting

Supporting the PCC Plan by being
Effective

We will deliver our partnership work through local joint action.                                                      

We will build legitamacy in our communities by maintaining a presence and communicating our 
work                                                                                                          

LSCSB Board Documents
LSCSB Performance Documents

How We Are Accountable
(click on links) 

District Partners Responsible Agencies 
and Their Strategies and Their Strategies and Priorities & Shared Priorities

Drugs & Gangs(County Lines)

Integrated Offender Management

Drugs 
Human Trafficking
Domestic Abuse
Manageing Sex Offenders

National Crime Prevention Strategy

National Cyber Security Strategy

Viable Partnerships, Visible Policing, Victim Services, Vulenrability Protection and Value For Money

Local Authories see first column

Key Stakeholders

Crown Prosecution Service (CPS)

Assoc. LA's

HM Govt. Cyber Crime and Fraud Communications Toolkit for Law Enforcement

Community Safety Councillor Workbook
Modern Day Slavery - NCA Best Practice Guide
Modern Day Slavery - National Referral Mechanism (NRM)
Neighbourhood Watch- Safer Community Toolkits

Increase confidence/reporting of hate incidentsOadby and Wigston - 2017-20

       Building Community Capacity
Facilitating Scrutiny and OversiteLFRS

Reduce crime and fear of crime
Increase reporting of domestic abuse & protect victimsMarket Harborough 2017-20

Melton 2017-20

Identify & Protect the most Vulnerable

       Developing Information Sharing(click on link)

Leicester City Council 2016-17

Take a Survey  (see local authority websites)
Read about volunteering

Contact your partenrship:

 Local authority Websites & Social Media Links…
Rutland CC 2017-20

(Click to see the Plan)                                                                                   Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner (OPCC) Crime Plan - Underpinning and supporting community safety across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland - 

NPCC Toolkit-Child Criminal Exploitation & County Lines

Leicestershire Communities Strategy 2017-21

Leics Joint Health & Wellbeing Board
Local Governmant Association (LGA)

       Minimum Standards

Strategies 

(click on link)(Click on Link)

Common Themes 

Charnwood - 2017-20
North West - 2017-20

Being Viable and adding Value

Modern Crime Prevention Strategy 2016

Leicestershire Police Developing and Supporting
    Developing and Supporting our PeopleReduce harm from alcohol & substance misuse

Police Vision 2025
HO Serious Violence Stategy 2018

Embedding Problem Solving
Supporting PerfomanceCSE / Cyber Bullying: Reduce risk of harm to young people 

Hinckley and Bosworth 2017-20
Blaby - 2017-20

Reduce incidence and impact of ASB

Supporting Evidence Based Practice 

NCA Serious & Organised Crime Strategy 2018-19

Gambling Commission- Crime and joint working toolkit

(click on link)

Knife & Gun Crime
Cyber Security

Health (CCG)

Office of Police & Crime Commissioner

Probation

Toolkits 
Disrupting Serious & Organised Crime Tactics
College of Policing Crime Reduction Toolkit

VAL VA Rutland

NCA National Plan 2017-18 How You Can Contribute        Digital Communications & Engagement

Crime Prevention - Gov.uk
Local Govt. Assoc. Safer Comm. Models

109

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-probation-service/about
https://dlnrcrc.co.uk/
https://eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk/
https://www.westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk/
https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/pages/safety
https://www.facebook.com/charnwoodbc/
https://twitter.com/CharnwoodBC
https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/contacts/community_safety_team
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/community_safety
https://www.facebook.com/pages/North-West-Leicestershire-District-Council/418776214851490
https://twitter.com/NWLeics
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/contacts/community_safety
https://www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk/info/100003/anti-social_behaviour_and_crime/315/the_community_safety_partnership
https://www.facebook.com/hinckandbosbc
https://twitter.com/hinckandbos_bc
https://www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk/info/100003/anti-social_behaviour_and_crime/315/the_community_safety_partnership/4
http://www.blaby.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-plans-policies/corporate-plans-and-strategies/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.facebook.com/blabydc
https://twitter.com/blabydc
http://www.blaby.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-plans-policies/corporate-plans-and-strategies/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/atoz/870
https://en-gb.facebook.com/OadbyWigstonBC/
https://twitter.com/Oadby_Wigston?ref_src=twsrc%5Egoogle%7Ctwcamp%5Eserp%7Ctwgr%5Eauthor
https://myaccount.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/AchieveForms/?mode=fill&consentMessage=yes&form_uri=sandbox-publish://AF-Process-27a0ba0c-cb2a-4465-9be6-eb381e565266/AF-Stage-52c8f881-62b4-4178-bbda-da9aef7fd9a9/definition.json&process=1&process_uri=sandbox-proces
https://www.harborough.gov.uk/community-safety-partnership
https://www.facebook.com/dialog/share?app_id=140586622674265&display=popup&href=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.harborough.gov.uk%2Fdirectory_record%2F2265%2Fcommunity_safety_partnership_plans%23.W6JjOEq8c_w.facebook&picture=&title=Our%20policies%2C%20plans%20and%20str
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Our%20policies,%20plans%20and%20strategies%20-%20Community%20Safety%20Partnership%20plans%20%7C%20Harborough%20District%20Council&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.harborough.gov.uk%2Fdirectory_record%2F2265%2Fcommunity_safety_pa
https://www.harborough.gov.uk/contact
http://www.melton.gov.uk/info/200340/community_safety
http://www.melton.gov.uk/homepage/65/facebook
https://twitter.com/MeltonBC
http://www.melton.gov.uk/contact
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s138277/2%20-%20LSCSB%20Performance%202017-18_Q4%20-%20report.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s138278/Appendix%201%20Safer%20dashboard%202017-18%20Q4.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=1032
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/publications/832-county-lines-violence-exploitation-and-drug-supply-2017/file
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/406868/IOM_Key_Principles_refresh_supplement_final.pdf
https://leics.police.uk/advice-and-information/information-zone/drugs-and-alcohol
https://leics.police.uk/contact-us/faq/Q971
https://leics.police.uk/advice-and-information/victims-witnesses/domestic-abuse
https://leics.police.uk/advice-and-information/information-zone/child-sex-offender-disclosure-scheme
http://www.npcc.police.uk/documents/crime/2016/Final%20A4%20National%20Policing%20Crime%20Prevention%20Strategy.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-cyber-security-strategy-2016-to-2021
https://www.cps.gov.uk/east-midlands
https://www.cyberaware.gov.uk/LEtoolkit
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/community-safety-1e2.pdf
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/about-us/what-we-do/specialist-capabilities/uk-human-trafficking-centre/best-practice-guide
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/about-us/what-we-do/specialist-capabilities/uk-human-trafficking-centre/national-referral-mechanism
https://www.ourwatch.org.uk/crimes-archive/spotting-the-signs-2/
https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/oadby_and_wigston_community_safety_partnership_strategic_plan_2017_2020/Oadby%20%26%20Wigston%20CSP%20-%20Strategic%20Plan%202017-2020.pdf
http://www.leicestershire-fire.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/community-safety-strategy-2016.pdf
https://www.harborough.gov.uk/directory_record/2265/community_safety_partnership_plans
http://www.melton.gov.uk/info/200340/community_safety
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-safety/safer-leicester-partnership/
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-community/community-safety/community-safety-strategy/
https://www.leics.pcc.police.uk/DOCUMENT-LIBRARY/Planning-and-Money/Police-and-Crime-Plan/2017-2021/Police-and-Crime-Plan-2017-2021.pdf
https://www.csepoliceandprevention.org.uk/sites/default/files/Exploitation%20Toolkit.pdf
https://www.leicestershirecommunities.org.uk/uploads/31_590c9d8ed165e289103095.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/10/11/Leics%20JHWS%202017-22v2.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/community-safety
https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/files/documents/csp_partnership_plan_2017_2020/CSP%20Partnership%20Plan%202017%202020%20%282%29%20%282%29.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/safer_north_west_community_safety_partnership_strategy_2017_2020/Community%20Safety%20Strategy%202017-20.pdf
http://www.eelga.gov.uk/documents/conferences/2017/20%20march%202017%20safer%20communities/richard_jolley_and_katie_aston_ppt.pdf
https://leics.police.uk/
http://www.npcc.police.uk/documents/policing%20vision.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698009/serious-violence-strategy.pdf
https://www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk/downloads/file/4294/community_safety_strategy_2014-2017
http://blaby.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-plans-policies/corporate-plans-and-strategies/community-safety-partnership/
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/publications/889-nca-annual-plan-2018/file
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/Licensing-authority-toolkit/Crime-and-joint-working.aspx
https://leics.police.uk/categories/_knife-crime
https://leics.police.uk/categories/cyber-crime
https://www.leics.pcc.police.uk/Our-Work/Community-Safety.aspx
http://whatworks.college.police.uk/Research/Documents/Menu_of_tactics.pdf
http://whatworks.college.police.uk/toolkit/About-the-Crime-Reduction-Toolkit/Pages/About.aspx
http://www.valonline.org.uk/
https://www.varutland.org.uk/
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/publications/790-nca-annual-plan-2017-18/file
https://www.gov.uk/crime-justice-and-law/crime-prevention
https://www.local.gov.uk/safer-communities
rwhitelaw
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX B



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

SCRUTINY COMMISSION: 6 NOVEMBER 2019 
 

RECOMMISSIONING OF DOMESTIC ABUSE AND SEXUAL 
VIOLENCE SERVICES 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 

SERVICES AND DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Scrutiny Commission of the 

recommissioning work being undertaken for the future provision of Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual Violence (DASV) services, and to seek the views of the 
Scrutiny Commission as a part of the consultation.  

 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. At its meeting in February 2019 the Cabinet gave approval for officers to 

consult on the re-commissioning of services to support survivors of domestic 
and sexual violence. 

 
3. The proposed approach is informed by the Sexual and Domestic Violence and 

Abuse Needs Assessment for Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland (LLR) 
published in 2017.  This has been the basis for providing much of the local 
evidence of need.   

 
4. The Early Help evaluation project (2018) involved detailed analysis of 787 

Supporting  Leicestershire Families and Children’s Centre cases where 
domestic and/or sexual violence was present.  These were cases that were 
closed between 2013 and 2018. One of the outcomes of this analysis was the 
significant impact of domestic abuse on outcomes for children and families.  
The report highlighted that children are most affected by domestic abuse.  
 

5. With a new commitment to establish a sub-regional strategy rather than a 
single council strategy, a Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Domestic and 
Sexual Violence and Abuse Strategy (2018-2021) has been developed. The 
aim of the strategy is to reduce the prevalence, likelihood and harm of 
domestic and sexual violence and abuse with particular focus on prevention, 
early identification, reducing harm and supporting recovery and resilience 
through a partnership approach.   

 

 

111 Agenda Item 11



 

6. The County Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-2022 sets out five strategic 
outcomes for good quality of life in Leicestershire, including “Keeping People 
Safe”.  Supporting outcomes and measures to monitor these are set out in the 
Strategic Plan.  One of the outcomes and measures is to increase reporting of 
incidents and scrutinising the number of re-referrals from Multi Agency Risk 
Assessment Conferences which are closely associated with the effectiveness 
of local resources for survivors and perpetrators of DASV.  

 
 
Background 
 
7. The County Council jointly commissions a Domestic Abuse and Sexual 

Violence (DASV) Service with Leicester City Council, Rutland Council and the 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner.  Leicester City Council currently 
manages the contract on behalf of all the commissioners. The service is 
provided by a consortium of voluntary sector providers known as UAVA 
(United Against Violence and Abuse), which includes: Living Without Abuse, 
FreeVa, and Women’s Aid Leicestershire. The service provides support to 
survivors of domestic abuse and sexual violence over the age of 13 through 
the provision of:  

 

 A telephone helpline for professionals and the public; 

 Individual and group support for high risk and medium risk victims of 
domestic abuse and sexual violence; 

 Therapeutic interventions, or counselling;  

 Awareness raising, training and education for professionals and the 
public. 

 
The current contract began on 1st December 2015 and ends on 31st March 
2021 
 

8. In addition to the main contract, across LLR there are a range of other 
contracts and projects being undertaken to address domestic abuse and 
sexual violence. For example, the County Council has funded:  

 

 The Domestic Abuse Family Recovery Service (£40,000). This service 
works with children and young people and their families to reduce the 
harmful impact of domestic abuse and sexual violence upon the child. This 
contract began on 1st October 2018 and ends on 30th September 2019. 

 Safe Places and Support for Domestic Abuse Service (£115,263).  This 
service provides tailored support for female victims of domestic abuse 
within a refuge setting. This includes but is not limited to: development of 
domestic/life skills, setting up a home or tenancy, gaining access to other 
services, managing finances and benefit claims, establishing personal 
safety and security, social contact and activities, enabling access to 
employment, education and training opportunities, and developing the 
skills and knowledge to be able to recognise and form healthy 
relationships and break the behaviour patterns associated with abusive 

112



 

relationships. This contract began on 1st October 2015 and ends on 30th 
September 2019 with an option to extend up to 30th September 2020.   

 Perpetrator Programme (£10,000).  This is a voluntary programme working 
with perpetrators of domestic abuse in order to address their abusive 
behaviour; the programme also works with young people who are 
perpetrating child on parent abuse.  This funding enables the spot 
purchase of limited places on the respective programmes. 

 
9. There has been an increase in demand on domestic abuse and sexual 

violence services across LLR with limited resources within existing service 
provision to meet the growing need; on average the volume of domestic 
violence offences increased 17% each year in the last three years.  This is a 
national trend. 

 
10. Following a review of the current service model, combined with a review of 

need across the sub-region, a revised delivery model is proposed across 
Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland, with the aim of meeting future demand 
within available resources. It is anticipated that the new service will 
commence on 1st April 2021. 

 
 
Re-Commissioning Plans 
 
11. An LLR Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Redesign Group has been 

established with representation from each commissioning organisation. This 
group reports to a Governance Group comprising of the Lead Members from 
each local authority and is chaired by the Police and Crime Commissioner.  

 
12. Stakeholder consultation sessions were held with current providers and other 

stakeholders such as other County Council departments and partner agencies 
across LLR in October 2018 to help understand the strengths and challenges 
of current provision. Key themes from the feedback were analysed and pulled 
together by the Redesign Group. A further stakeholder workshop was held in 
December 2018 to explore these themes in more detail to begin to shape 
proposals for future service provision. 

 
13. Service user engagement has also taken place to ensure views and feedback 

from service users across LLR are incorporated into the service redesign. 
 
 
Proposals 
 
14. The key proposals for consultation are as follows: 
 

(a) Delivery options for the telephone helpline (first point of contact). The 
options include: 

 
i. Maintain a specialist domestic abuse and sexual violence helpline 

across the sub-region. 
 

113



 

ii. Make changes to the existing generic victim helpline contract so it can 
be used as the first point of contact for sexual and domestic violence 
specialist provision. This would mean having a non-specialist helpline, 
with specialists within a generic victim helpline. 

 
(b) High, medium and low risk levels have been grouped together into a 

single service. This leaves a number of options as to how this service is 
shaped: 

 
i. Only high-risk cases to be managed within this service due to high 

levels of demand and limited funding. 

ii. A single worker in the service who has a mixed case load in terms of 
levels of risk.   

iii. Independent Domestic Violence Advocates (IDVAs) primarily or 
exclusively supporting high risk victims. 

iv. A wider group of workers supporting high risk victims as long as they 
have the right skills and experience. 

 
(c) The current service supports victims of domestic abuse and sexual 

violence who are 13 years of age and older. The County Council proposes 
that domestic abuse support for children and young people is delivered as 
part of its wider Children’s Services, with staff who have specialist 
training.  

 
(d) In the current service victims often find that they have to repeat their story 

to different support workers in various services through their journey. In 
considering delivery options for coordinating support and care it is 
proposed that: 

 
i. There is a lead professional who works across all levels of risk and 

supports victims throughout their journey as the victim’s only specialist 
worker (excluding counselling). 

ii. A worker is assigned at first contact providing navigation to enable 
victims to access different specialists in a more streamlined manner. 

 
(e) Currently specialist workers are based in the City and travel to visit 

service users. Future delivery options include the co-location of staff 
within the locality including: 

 
i. Local hubs where domestic abuse and sexual violence specialists co-

locate with other local workers such as housing offices, children’s 
centres and health centres. 

ii. Where people tell us that they would like to see services based. 
 

(f) Historically the refuge provision has always been commissioned 
separately, leading to victims in the refuge receiving a separate service to 
those in the community. Consideration is being given to combining these 

114



 

services, offering one service to a victim irrespective of where they reside 
and potentially sharing demand within the one service.  

 
 
Consultation 
 
15. The consultation commenced on 24th September 2019 and will take place 

over a 12-week period ending on 24th November 2019.  
 
16. The consultation is web-based; this is currently live, accessible via the County 

Council’s website and can be found here: 
https://consultations.leicester.gov.uk/sec/dsva_consultation/. The web-based 
survey has been supplemented in Leicestershire (as well as in Leicester and 
Rutland) by hard copy surveys and open public engagement events. These 
events are taking place in children’s centres, libraries and district council 
offices. A range of advocacy groups will be consulted including but not 
exclusively CCGs, district councils, providers, the Police, County Council staff 
and service users themselves. 

 
17. Following consultation, the commissioners (Office of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner, County Council, Leicester City Council and Rutland Council) 
will design the new service model based on feedback from the consultation, 
level of need, affordability and good practice. 

 
18. The outcome of the consultation and the final service model will be submitted 

to the Cabinet for approval in Spring 2020. This would be followed by a 
procurement process with a view to commencing the new contract/s on 1st 
April 2021. 
 

Conclusion 
 
19. The County Council has a safeguarding responsibility to provide services to 

address domestic abuse and sexual violence. The County Council currently 
jointly commissions a domestic abuse and sexual violence service with 
Leicester City and Rutland Councils and the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner. The contract for this began on 1st December 2015 and ends 
on 31st March 2021. 

 
20. There has been an increase in demand on domestic abuse and sexual 

violence services across the LLR area with limited resources within existing 
service provision to meet the growing need. Following a review of the current 
service model, combined with a review of need across LLR, a revised delivery 
model is proposed with the aim of meeting future demand within available 
resources. 

 
21. In order to re-commission the service there are number of consultation events 

taken place across the county supplemented with an on-line and hard copy 
survey for key stakeholders and service users to complete. Views of the 
Scrutiny Commission are also sought are part of the consultation exercise. 

 

115

https://consultations.leicester.gov.uk/sec/dsva_consultation/


 

 
Resource Implications 
 
22. The total annual contract price is £826,000, of which £231,300 (28%) is 

funded by the County Council.  Recommissioning of this contract will be within 
this resource envelope, partner contributions to the contract value are not 
expected to change. 

 
23. The County Council’s Public Health service currently allocates £115,263 per 

annum to provide tailored support for female survivors of domestic abuse 
within two refuges in Leicestershire. Consideration will be given as to whether 
amalgamation of this funding with the domestic abuse and sexual violence 
commissioning funds would provide greater value for money. 

 
24. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and 

Governance have been consulted on the content of this report. 
 
Timetable for Decisions 
 
25. The outcome of the consultation together with the final delivery model will be 

considered by Cabinet in Spring 2020. 
 
26. Subject to approval by the Cabinet, the process of procuring a provider(s) to 

deliver the new service model would begin as soon as practicable, with a view 
to the new contract being in place from 1st April 2021. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
27. None  
 
Equalities and Human Rights Implications 
 
28. Whilst screening has commenced, a full Equality and Human Rights Impact 

Assessment (EHRIA) will be completed following the consultation to review 
the impact of a change in service model. The EHRIA will be presented to the 
Cabinet in September 2019 alongside the consultation outcomes to assist the 
Cabinet with the exercise of its Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality 
Act 2010.  

 
Officers to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys 
Director of Public Health 
Tel: 0116 305 4239 
Email: Mike.Sandys@leics.gov.uk  
 
Paula Sumner  
Assistant Director for Education & Early Help 
Tel: 0116 305 2649  
Email: Paula.Sumner@leics.gov.uk 

116

mailto:Mike.Sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Paula.Sumner@leics.gov.uk


 

 
 
Background Papers 
 

 Report to the Cabinet 8 February 2019 “Recommissioning of Domestic Abuse 
and Sexual Violence Services” 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s144169/20190208_LCC%20Cabinet%20r
eport_Recommissioning%20of%20DASV%20Servicesv5%20final.pdf  
 

 Sexual and Domestic Violence and Abuse Needs Assessment for Leicestershire, 
Leicester and Rutland (2017)  
http://lrsb.org.uk/llr-dasv-strategic-docs 

 

 Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Domestic and Sexual Violence and Abuse 
Strategy (2018-2021) 
http://lrsb.org.uk/llr-dasv-strategic-docs  

 

 Sexual and Domestic Violence and Abuse consultation 
https://consultations.leicester.gov.uk/sec/dsva_consultation/ 

117

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s144169/20190208_LCC%20Cabinet%20report_Recommissioning%20of%20DASV%20Servicesv5%20final.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s144169/20190208_LCC%20Cabinet%20report_Recommissioning%20of%20DASV%20Servicesv5%20final.pdf
http://lrsb.org.uk/llr-dasv-strategic-docs
http://lrsb.org.uk/llr-dasv-strategic-docs
https://consultations.leicester.gov.uk/sec/dsva_consultation/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
SCRUTINY COMMISSION: 6 NOVEMBER 2019 

 
LEICESTERSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE INTEGRATED RISK 

MANAGEMENT PLAN 2020 - 2024 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 
Purpose of report  
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the views of the Scrutiny Commission on 

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service’s Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) 
for 2020 – 2024 during the public consultation period.  Comments from the Scrutiny 
Commission will be incorporated into a response from the County Council which will 
be submitted to the Cabinet for approval on 22 November 2019. 

  
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  

 
2. The Scrutiny Commission was consulted on the Integrated Risk Management Plan 

2016-20 and considered the matter at meetings on the 4 and 9 November 2015.  
Comments were submitted to the Cabinet and, due to the controversial nature of the 
proposals at that time, a debate was held at the full Council meeting in December 
2015. 
 

3. The Combined Fire Authority approved the proposals in the IRMP 2020-24 for 
consultation at its meeting on 19 June 2019. 

 
Background 
 
4. An IRMP must assess all foreseeable fire and rescue-related risks to local 

communities and put in place arrangements to respond to and deal with them.  It 
must cover at least a three-year time period, be regularly reviewed, reflect local risk, 
be developed through consultation and be accessible and cost-effective. The 
planning process should also have regard for cross border, multi-agency risks and 
national incidents. 

5. When the Fire and Rescue Service develops an IRMP is engages with multiple 
partners and uses a variety of sources to review existing risks and identify new ones. 
These sources include: historical incident data, demographic data, performance data, 
high risk location information and local development strategies.  The impact of wider 
changes in society, including government policy, economic growth and technological 
progress, is also considered. 

6. For emergency response capability, the key areas considered are: availability of 
resources, response times to incidents and the individual station demand profiles.  
The Fire and Rescue Service also considers its prevention and protection activities in 

119 Agenda Item 12



 

its future planning, reviewing the use and allocation of available resources to mitigate 
the impact of identified risks. 

7. All this data and information helps the Fire and Rescue Service to understand the 
needs of its communities, identify locations of potential peak demand, and assess it 
capacity to respond.  It is also used to anticipate trends that may result in an increase 
in demand as well as opportunities to reduce the current levels. 

8. The current IRMP was consulted on in 2016 and is valid until 2020.  Leicestershire 
Fire and Rescue Service has completed all of the agreed changes, including: 
implementing the Day Crewing Plus (DCP) duty system in Wigston, the Day Crewing 
(DC) duty system at Market Harborough and Lutterworth and introducing the five 
Tactical Response Vehicles (TRVs) at various locations within the service. 

9. Appendix A to this report provides the detail on how the 2020-2024 IRMP has been 
constructed and some of the high level data used to identify and support the 
proposals. 

 
Proposals 
 
10. The proposals within the IRMP are as follows: 

i. To use fire engines flexibly, aiming to attend life threatening incidents in an 
average of 10 minutes; 

ii. To use fire fighters efficiently and flexibly to maximise our appliance 
availability; 

iii. To purchase a second high reach appliance to replace the older one of the 
two vehicles; 

iv. To continue to undertake education and enforcement activities, targeting those 
most at risk; 

v. To continue to collaborate with other blue light services and partner agencies 
to support the purpose of safer people, safer places; 

vi. To enable staff to do the right thing to help communities; 
vii. To implement alternative crewing arrangements in the event of the Service 

moving away from the current Day Crewing Plus duty system. 
 
11. More detail on the proposals is contained in Appendix A to this report. 
 
Draft Response 
 
12. County Council Departments have been asked to provide feedback on the proposals 

within the IRMP.  This feedback, which is set out in the paragraphs below, along with 
the views of the Scrutiny Commission, will form the County Council’s draft response 
to the consultation which will be submitted to the Cabinet for approval.   
 

Proposal 1: use of fire engines flexibly 
 
13. The County Council recognises the logic of this idea which would allow the Fire and 

Rescue Service to meet its goal response times whilst also potentially giving greater 
coverage to the area. However, the reason that the Fire and Rescue Service is 
unable at present to meet the ‘10 minute goal’ is due to assets being committed at 
other incidents, availability of crew and vehicle maintenance. It is not clear how the 
proposal of flexibly using operational assets would enable this goal to be achieved. 

120



 

The County Council would welcome greater clarity on how this proposal would work 
in practice. 
 

Proposal 2: use of firefighters efficiently and flexibly  
 

14. The County Council wishes to see a continued good distribution of fire services 
stations and resources etc. across Leicestershire. 
 

15. The County Council notes the principle of relocating firefighters when demand/risk 
indicates this is necessary, although it is of the view that, if firefighters are relocated 
from their ‘home’ station to respond to demand, this could decrease the availability 
and coverage of the service overall as efforts would be concentrated on areas of 
demand.  

 
16. The County Council welcomes the proposal to evaluate on-call staff and recognises 

that the proposal to extend their response time to support/deploy might be the way 
coverage is still provided if full-time firefighters are concentrated in areas of demand.  
However, it would be useful if this was made clear in the proposals.  Greater clarity is 
also needed around how the approach to on-call firefighters would help with 
recruitment and retention from the community. 

 
Proposal 3: Purchasing a second high reach appliance  

 
17. With one high reach appliance being decommissioned, it makes sense for the 

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service to replenish its resource.  
 

Proposal 4: To continue to undertake education and enforcement activities, targeting those 
most at risk 
 
18. The County Council welcomes the concept of providing education in homes, schools 

and other venues, using shared data and working with other organisations.  It is 
similar to current arrangements, for example after a flood, but there is a lack of clarity 
regarding how it will happen.  Continuing with existing education and enforcement 
activities is also unlikely to target effectively those most at risk.  

 
19. There is a need for the Fire and Rescue Service to be aware of vulnerable people 

when engaging in fire safety (and other risk prevention) activities. This is in terms of 
dealing with them sensitively - being aware of and knowing how to deal with potential 
resilience and comprehension issues, and knowing how to identify vulnerable and at 
risk people, how to deal with them and refer them on (e.g. to First Contact Plus and 
Local Area Co-ordinators).  

 
20. With this in mind there may be a case for the Fire and Rescue Service to actually be 

social prescribers (alongside GPs, pharmacists and social workers – as envisaged in 
the Government’s social prescription and tackling loneliness strategies) identifying 
and referring on to people experiencing or at risk of loneliness or isolation to link in to 
support in particular from voluntary and community sector organisations and groups. 
 

21. The County Council would welcome the inclusion in education activities of other 
(non-fire related) messages that would support the County Council’s objectives 
around prevention and emergency support within the home (e.g. around trips and 
falls or how to access preventative and community services).  This would support the 

121



 

County Council’s work to help people become more resilient and independent 
(making every contact count).  In a similar fashion, if the Fire and Rescue Service 
shared its key education messages with the County Council, then officers such as 
those in First Contact Plus would be able to communicate them to vulnerable 
residents. 

 
Proposal 5: To continue to collaborate with other blue light services and partner agencies 
to support the purpose of safer people, safer places 

 
22. The County Council welcomes this, believing that through collaboration there are 

opportunities to realise significant financial and non-financial benefits. The County 
Council looks forward to seeing plans and proposals for collaboration. 
 

23. The County Council would highlight the need for the Leicestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service to either know about vulnerable people who are present when they are 
attending a fire (or other emergency/incident) or to be aware of and be able to 
identify vulnerable people in these incidents. It will be important for the Fire and 
Rescue Services to be able to deal with vulnerable people appropriately and to help 
others responding (e.g. ambulance, other NHS or police) or who will be dealing with 
them down the line (us, NHS, districts etc.) through effective communication and not 
making a difficult, upsetting experience worse – undermining people’s resilience and 
the prospects of a speedy recovery and return to independence. 

 
Consultation 
 
24. Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service is undertaking a public consultation on the 

IRMP between September and December 2019.  Consultation feedback will be 
presented to the Combined Fire Authority at its meeting on 22 January and a formal 
consultation summary report will be presented to its meeting on 5 February, where it 
will be asked to agree which proposals should be progressed. 
 

Resource Implications 
 
25. Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service has a robust medium term financial plan in 

place to meet the needs of the service in 2019/20.  The proposals will be delivered 
within the current plan and as part of any future medium term financial plan. 
 

Timetable for Decisions 
 
26. The views of the Scrutiny Commission will inform the County Council’s response to 

the consultation, which the Cabinet will be asked to agree at its meeting on 22 
November 2019.  
 

Background papers   
 
Report to the Combined Fire Authority 19 June 2019 – Integrated Risk Management Plan 
2020-2024 – Proposals 
https://leics-fire.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/irmp-2020-2024-proposals-final.pdf 
 
https://leics-fire.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/appendix-a-irmp-2020-2024-proposals-document-final.pdf 

 
 

122

https://leics-fire.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/irmp-2020-2024-proposals-final.pdf
https://leics-fire.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/appendix-a-irmp-2020-2024-proposals-document-final.pdf


 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
27. None. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
28. Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service will undertake an Equality Impact 

Assessment on all approved proposals. 
 
Appendices 
 
29. Appendix A – Integrated Risk Management Plan 2020 – 2024 Consultation Proposals 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Anna Poole 
0116 305 2583  
anna.poole@leics.gov.uk 
 
  
 
 
 

123

mailto:anna.poole@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Integrated Risk  
Management Plan

2020-2024  
Consultation Proposals

125



2 Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service2

126



Contents 
5 What is an Integrated Risk Management Plan? 

6 About Us 

8 Reviewing Our Risks

8 Assessing Risks

10 Managng the Risks

12 What Our Data Tells Us

26 What Are We Aiming to Achieve in the IRMP?

27 Risks

28 Our 2020-2024 IRMP Proposals

33 Consultation

34 Please Tell Us  What You Think.

35 Glossary

Safer People, Safer Places 3

127



4 Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service4

128



What is an Integrated 
Risk Management Plan? 
An Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) must 

assess all foreseeable fire and rescue related risks 

to our communities, and put in place arrangements 

to respond to and deal with them. It must cover at 

least a three-year time period, be regularly reviewed, 

reflect local risk, be developed through consultation 

and be accessible and cost-effective. The planning 

process should also have regard for cross border, 

multi-agency risks and national incidents.

The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

states in more detail that an IRMP must:

• reflect up to date risk analysis including  

an assessment of all foreseeable fire and  

rescue related risks that could affect the area  

of the authority

• demonstrate how prevention, protection and 

response activities will best be used to prevent 

fires and other incidents and mitigate the 

impact of identified risks on its communities, 

through authorities working either individually 

or collectively, in a way that makes best use of 

available resources

• outline required service delivery outcomes 

including the allocation of resources for the 

mitigation of risks

• set out its management strategy and risk-based 

programme for enforcing the provisions of the 

Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 in 

accordance with the principles of better regulation 

set out in the Statutory Code of Compliance for 

Regulators, and the Enforcement Concordat

• cover at least a three-year time span and be 

reviewed and revised as often as it is necessary 

to ensure that the authority is able to deliver the 

requirements set out in this Framework

• reflect effective consultation throughout its 

development and at all review stages with the 

community, its workforce and representative 

bodies and partners

• be easily accessible and publicly available.

Our IRMP process fulfils our purpose of safer people, 

safer places and takes account of the risks faced 

by our communities, including the consequence of 

fires, road traffic collisions, flooding and collapsed 

buildings, amongst others. It’s focused on how best 

our resources can be used to manage and/or reduce 

and limit the risks.

Our current IRMP was consulted on in 2016 and 

is valid until 2020. We’ve completed all of the 

agreed changes, including implementing the Day 

Crewing Plus (DCP) duty system in Wigston, the Day 

Crewing (DC) duty system at Market Harborough 

and Lutterworth and introducing the five Tactical 

Response Vehicles (TRVs) at various locations within 

the Service.

Safer People, Safer Places 5

What is an Integrated Risk Management Plan?

129



About Us 
We have 20 fire stations and a fleet of fire engines and other operational vehicles. 

We employ just over 700 staff; 580 are firefighters, and the remainder are specialist 

support staff. We attend and resolve over 8,000 emergency incidents each year: fires 

in buildings, complex rescue incidents involving road traffic collisions, hazardous 

materials, buildings collapsing and rescuing people trapped in water.

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland cover an area of more than 979 square miles.  

It has a network of major motorways, an international airport, large scale businesses, 

buildings of historical importance and protected wildlife sites.

It has mix of urban, semi-rural and rural localities. The population is growing  

and ageing. At present it stands at just over 1.1 million people living in over 420,000 

domestic properties. There are over 45,000 business premises.

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland is diverse and multicultural, with varying  

degrees of affluence and social deprivation. About 25% of the population are from 

minority ethnic communities, with Leicester City having the highest proportion of Black, 

Asian and mixed-race communities at 55%.

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service6

130



Our Fire Stations and Firefighting Vehicles

Wholetime

Birstall   

Castle Donington   

Central      

Eastern     

Loughborough     

Southern   

Western   

On-Call

Ashby   

Billesdon   

Kibworth   

Market Bosworth   

Uppingham   

Shepshed   

  

Wholetime and On-Call

Coalville     

Hinckley     

Oakham     

Wigston     

  

Wholetime during day and  

On-Call at night

Lutterworth   

Market Harborough     

Melton Mowbray     

In total (as at 1 January 2019): 20 stations and 29 firefighting vehicles

Safer People, Safer Places 7

About Us

131



Reviewing Our Risks
When we develop an IRMP we engage with multiple partners and use a variety of sources to review 

existing risks and identify new ones. These sources include historical incident data, demographic data, 

performance data, high risk location information and local development strategies. We also consider  

the impact of wider changes in society, including government policy, economic growth and 

technological progress.

For our emergency response capability, the key areas we look at are availability of resources, response times to 

incidents and the individual station demand profiles. We also consider our prevention and protection activities 

in our future planning, reviewing the use and allocation of our available resources to mitigate the impact of 

identified risks.

All this data and information helps us understand the needs of our communities, identify locations of potential 

peak demand, and assess our capacity to respond. It’s also used to anticipate trends that may result in an increase 

in demand as well as opportunities to reduce the current levels.

Assessing Risks
We use all this information to create a Community Risk Model (CRM) 

that shows areas where a serious incident is more likely to occur, 

relative to other locations within our area.

It combines the overall level of deprivation with historic incident data and 

identifies localities which are more likely to require our response, relative 

to other areas. The result is a broad view of risk at a locality level, which 

informs our decisions about where we should best allocate our resources 

based on risk.

The following two maps show how each locality has been given a risk 

category depending on the level and types of incidents attended and 

overall levels of deprivation. Higher risk areas are more likely to result in 

incidents occurring that are life threatening or present a significant impact 

to the community.

We’ve mapped our station locations on to the CRM to show how they are 

currently placed to reflect the potential risks within our communities.

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service8

Reviewing our risks

132



Risk Level

Very high

High

Medium

Low

Very Low

Community Risk Model

Map 1. Community Risk Model 2018

Map 2. Risk in the City

Safer People, Safer Places 9

Assessing risks

133



Managing  
the Risks

Responding efficiently and 

effectively to incidents and 

limiting the impact of an 

emergency on communities

Educating and advising 

communities on fire and other 

safety matters to prevent fires 

and other emergencies

Enforcing fire safety legislation 

amongst businesses and public 

bodies to protect them from harm 

in the event of an incident

Protection

ResponsePrevention

Ensuring that we can continue to 

provide our services irrespective 

of major unplanned or unforeseen 

local or national risks

Resilience

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service10

Managing the risks

134



Prevention (Education)

We believe prevention is better than cure.  

We recognise that risk reduction begins with safe 

behaviours at home, at work, or on the road.  

We work with local organisations and partners to 

target those people who are more vulnerable and 

likely to be affected by fire and other emergencies. 

This is done by sharing information and risk profiling.

Protection (Enforcement)

We have a legal duty to give advice and enforce  

fire safety standards across a wide range of 

commercial and public buildings to keep people 

safe. The focus of our protection activity is guided by 

a combination of the features of the building, risks of 

the premises type, local and national incident trends, 

or fire safety concerns from our communities. We 

carry out a programme of inspections at a variety of 

buildings based on risk. The level of enforcement 

action we take increases in line with the severity of 

risk at each building.

Response

There are times when prevention and protection 

activity cannot stop incidents from occurring, and 

when they do, our priority is to ensure that we can 

respond effectively to them. We send the right 

number of people with the right skills and the right 

equipment to manage and resolve the incident.

Resilience 

We look to provide an effective emergency response 

service even when the levels of demand are high. To 

meet this requirement, we already have agreements 

in place with all our neighbouring fire and rescue 

services to provide mutual assistance and support. 

We are part of a national agreement and network of 

resources and can provide and receive support from 

all over the country.

In addition to the fire and rescue network of which 

we are a part, we are also members of the Local 

Resilience Forum (LRF) and play a key role in the 

development and exercising of plans to deal 

with major incidents and risks across Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland and those highlighted 

in the Community and National Risk Registers. 

This multi-agency approach ensures high levels of 

confidence in the emergency plans and business 

continuity arrangements we’ve developed.

Work with the LRF also encourages Community 

Resilience, working in collaboration with our partners 

to make our communities self-reliant and resilient in 

the event of an incident or challenging scenario e.g. 

severe weather, floods, snow, or water shortages.

Safer People, Safer Places 11

Managing the risks

135



What Our Data Tells Us
A

ut
om

at
ic

 fi
re

 a
la

rm

M
al

ic
io

us
 fi

re
 a

la
rm

Pr
im

ar
y 

fir
e

Fl
oo

d
in

g

Fi
re

 a
la

rm
 –

 g
oo

d
 in

te
nt

Li
ft 

re
le

as
e

Se
co

nd
ar

y 
fir

e

A
d

vi
ce

Ro
ad

 tr
affi

c 
co

lli
si

on

A
ni

m
al

 a
ss

is
t

M
ed

ic
al

 in
ci

d
en

t

M
ak

e 
sa

fe

A
ss

is
t o

th
er

 a
g

en
ci

es

H
az

ar
d

ou
s 

m
at

er
ia

l

G
ai

n 
en

tr
y

Sp
ill

s

Pe
rs

on
 re

le
as

e

A
tt

em
p

te
d

 s
ui

ci
d

e/
su

ic
id

e

O
th

er

9581

6288

5425
5209

3355

2332

1500
1176

776
575 549 475 432 421 287 247 261 144 229

Fire alarm

Fire

Special service

Chart 1. Breakdown of incidents by number and incident type over 5 years

Historic Demand

During the period January 2014 to December 2018, 

39,262 incidents were attended by fire and rescue 

services in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 

This is an average of 7,852 incidents per year.

Incident Type

Overall, 40% of these are fire alarms, 29% are fires 

and 31% are special service incidents. 41% of all 

incidents occur in people’s homes.

We have gathered and analysed five years of 

historical demand data, risk data, our station 

location information, response times and our 

currently known budget constraints.

The location of our stations meets the foreseeable 

demand and risk that the Service has to respond 

to. As such we will not be suggesting any changes 

to the locations or number of our stations during 

the 2020-2024 IRMP. We will need to refurbish or 

redesign elements of them for our staff, partners 

and community needs.

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service12

136



Change Over 10 Years

For the period 2009-13, 45,770 incidents were attended and, in comparison with the current period, this 

represents a reduction of 16.6%. This is due to a reduction in fire and fire alarm incidents, however special service  

incidents have increased considerably. This is due to more gaining entry and assisting other service incidents, 

as well as the inclusion of medical incidents, which we do to serve our communities better. The reductions are 

despite the increase in population, road users and non-domestic properties.

Fire alarm
automatic

0%

-20%

80%

100%

-40%

60%

40%

20%

Secondary fireFire alarm
other

Road traffic collisionPrimary fire Special service 
other

Chart 2. Percentage change in incidents attended between 2009-13 and 2014-19

Safer People, Safer Places 13

What our data tells us

137



When Do We Respond to Incidents?

We respond to incidents around the clock, however there are fewer incidents from midnight to 7:00 hours. There 

is a noticeable increase between 07:00-08:59 hours and then again from 15:00-16:59 hours.

Hour Sun Mon Tues Wed Thu Fri Sat All

0 218 180 161 170 181 181 210 1,301

1 178 137 120 138 160 167 160 1,060

2 141 104 139 157 121 131 180 973

3 156 104 101 112 129 103 139 844

4 154 118 117 93 98 123 150 853

5 118 92 110 111 95 100 136 762

6 128 97 113 100 100 113 113 764

7 119 152 134 156 154 155 126 996

8 137 193 209 215 172 222 181 1,329

9 188 209 216 250 235 257 187 1,542

10 215 226 265 271 240 261 252 1,730

11 227 259 232 255 263 282 244 1,762

12 276 303 264 278 263 255 267 1,906

13 278 283 276 259 279 276 314 1,965

14 292 262 257 276 267 274 311 1,939

15 325 286 306 305 284 283 286 2,075

16 336 325 341 327 316 313 321 2,279

17 354 330 370 335 323 326 320 2,358

18 332 364 354 378 345 365 389 2,527

19 360 372 325 348 340 318 359 2,422

20 354 328 316 325 353 306 333 2,315

21 308 340 294 310 306 293 311 2,162

22 269 250 242 248 260 282 281 1,832

23 212 220 201 223 215 242 253 1,566

All 5,675 5,534 5,463 5,640 5,499 5,628 5,823 39,262

Chart 3. Incidents by day of the week and hour of the day over 5 years

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service14

What our data tells us

138



There is a known seasonal element to incidents as outdoor fires tend to occur more in the summer months  

and this is evident in Chart 4.

Chart 4. No. of incidents per month over 5 years with average 2014-18

Jan JulFeb AugMar SepApr OctMay NovJun Dec

2900

2700

3700

3900

2500

3500

3300

3100

Chart 5. The number and percentage of incidents by number of fire engines mobilised in the past 5 years

How many fire engines do we use at an incident?

The number of fire engines required for each incident is based on the predetermined attendance (PDA) which is 

a reflection of the risk to life and property encountered by the incident type. In some cases, more appliances are 

needed once the initial PDA has arrived at the scene.

Chart 5 shows that over the past 5 years over half of incidents only require one fire engine.

In 2,038 (5.2%) cases, a fire engine wasn’t mobilised, however we sent a different resource instead.

4

5+

2

3

5

1

0

0% 20% 30%10% 40% 50% 60%

22,842  58.2%

10,890  27.7%

2,038  5.2%

1,875  5.2%

1,272  3.2%

211  0.5%

134  0.3%

Safer People, Safer Places 15

What our data tells us

139



Incidents

4-47

47-98

98-215

215-507

>=507

Map 3. Incident demand in the county over 

the past 5 years

Map 4. Incident demand in the city  

over the past 5 years

Incident Demand

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service16

What our data tells us

140



Response Times

In 2018/2019, we attended 95.52% of life threatening incidents within 10 minutes and 99.38% of non-life 

threatening incidents within 20 minutes. Both of these measures are from the time the first fire engine starts its 

journey to when it arrives at the incident.

Chart 6. Percentage of incidents attended within 10 and 20 minute response times (calendar years)

We use our modelling software to highlight 

how far we can travel from our station 

locations. Maps 5 and 6 show 10 and 20 

minute travel distances based on usual road 

conditions. It confirms our belief that our 

stations, and those of our neighbouring 

services are well positioned based on 

foreseeable risk and demand information to 

meet the needs of our communities.

2014 2018201720162015

92%

91%

96%

99%

97%

100%

90%

95%

98%

94%

93%

Life

Non Life

Safer People, Safer Places 17

What our data tells us

141



Map 5. Area covered in 10 and 20 minutes 

from each LFRS station

Map 6. Area covered in 10 and 

20 minutes from each LFRS and 

neighbouring stations

Area Covered

10 minutes

20 minutes

Area Covered

10 minutes

20 minutes

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service18

What our data tells us

142



Map 7. Area covered in 10 

minutes including turnout 

times from each LFRS station 

(day-time)

Map 8. Area covered in 10 

minutes including turnout 

times from each LFRS station 

(night-time)

Area Covered in 10 minutes

With turnout time

No turnout time

Lighter  green shading shows areas reached in 10 minutes travel time from each station.

Darker green shading shows areas reached in 10 minutes taking into account turn out times.    

For wholetime (2 minutes) and On-Call Stations (7 minutes) respectively.

Area Covered in 10 minutes

With turnout time

No turnout time

Safer People, Safer Places 19

What our data tells us

143



Over the Border

Our resilience arrangements allow us to use fire engines and 

special appliances from our neighbouring fire and rescue 

services. We do this when our nearest fire engines are being 

used at other incidents or when another fire and rescue 

service can get to the incident quicker than we can.

In the past five years, there were 1,283 mobilisations  

from neighbouring services into Leicester, Leicestershire  

and Rutland and this represents about 2% of all mobilisations.  

The main contributors are Lincolnshire (460 times), Derbyshire 

(355), Warwickshire (214), Nottinghamshire (131),  

and Northamptonshire (102).

Stamford Fire Station in Lincolnshire was mobilised 289 times,  

the highest of any over the border station.  On average this 

happens approximately once a week.

In the same period, we have provided support to other 

neighbouring services on 391 occasions, with Market 

Harborough Fire Station (111 times) and Lutterworth Fire 

Station (87) providing the most frequent over the border 

support.

When creating IRMPs, services actively engage with each 

other to understand if proposed changes will have any impact 

on the over the border support they provide. Currently, we 

are aware of potential changes in Warwickshire. They are 

proposing a second station in Rugby and placing one of the 

two fire engines from the current Rugby Fire Station there.  

They are also proposing an options analysis for a new  

station in North Warwickshire or Nuneaton during 2022.  

Other neighbouring services are yet to publish any proposals 

but we will remain vigilant to any changes. None of their 

proposals or the ones we are suggesting will impact the over 

the border support we are able to provide to each other.

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service20

What our data tells us

144



Map 9. 10-minute travel times from home and over the border stations with over the border appliance 

mobilisations into Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland shaded by fire and rescue service

FRS

LINCS

DERBYS

NHANTS

NOTTS

WARKS

STAFFS

CAMBS

Safer People, Safer Places 21

What our data tells us

145



How Often We Use Our High Reach Appliances

A high reach appliance is a vehicle with an extendable ladder platform for fighting fires and facilitating rescues. 

These rescues are predominately at height, but it can also be used for situations involving water or awkward 

access, where it is safer than using ropes, floatation devices or traditional ladders.

Over the past 5 years, we’ve used high reach appliances at incidents on 478 occasions. 160 of these were for 

life risk incidents and 318 were non-life risk. On seven occasions we’ve received the support of a high reach 

appliance from a neighbouring service.

Chart 7. Number of mobilisations by high reach appliances

Station 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Total

Central (Leicestershire) 252 25 28 34 31 370

Birstall (Leicestershire) 3 12 29 14 43 101

Ascot Drive (Derbyshire) 0 1 1 2 0 4

London Road (Nottinghamshire) 0 0 1 1 1 3

Total 255 38 59 51 75 478

There have been 13 occasions when two high reach appliances have been used at the same time. Eight of these 

were at the same incident, with five being at two separate incidents happening concurrently.

Map 10. High reach appliance attendances January 14 - December 18

No. of attendances

0

1-5

6-11

12-56

>=57

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service22

What our data tells us

146



Map 11. No. of Category 2-4 site specific risks by super output area

Site Specific Risks

There are currently 264 site specific risks at Categories 2-4, of which 163 (61.7%) are Category 2, 68 (25.8%) are 

Category 3 and 33 (12.5%) are Category 4 risks. These range from buildings of historic importance, industrial 

and manufacturing premises, public buildings, sporting venues and transportation hubs, with Category 4 

representing the highest risk. The map shows that our station locations provide good coverage for these risks.

Categories 2-4

0

1

2

3

>=4

Safer People, Safer Places 23

What our data tells us

147



No. of HFSCs

2-44

45-95

96-190

191-324

>=325

Prevention

In the past 5 years, we have undertaken 38,000 Home Fire Safety Checks, which equates to over 53,300 visits 

as many involve multiple attendances. About 28,000 (74%) were successful, which is defined as entry gained or 

doorstep advice given. Around 22,000 (58%) were generated from an over 65s dataset we use or were people 

identified as higher risk by other organisations. Of partner referrals, the NHS are our largest contributor. 939 (9%) 

were from EMAS and 907 (8%) were from Air Liquide who are responsible for providing home oxygen.

Map 12. Home Fire Safety Checks in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service24

What our data tells us

148



Safer People, Safer Places 25

What our data tells us

149



What Are We Aiming to 
Achieve in the IRMP?
The data we have analysed supports our view 

that we should use our staff and fire engines 

efficiently and effectively in undertaking our 

prevention, protection and response activities.

Our IRMP will provide us with the flexibility to  

do this in a way that ensures we maximise the use  

of these resources.

We will continue with our workforce planning over 

the next four years to maintain the right number of 

staff within our Service, proactively monitoring to 

ensure recruitment is timely. Recruitment will continue 

to be focused to work towards our workforce being 

reflective of our communities. This will include work 

focused on underrepresented groups and will draw 

from a combination of new arrivals, transfers in from 

other services and the migration of On-Call firefighters 

in to Wholetime positions.

On-Call recruitment and retention remains a 

challenge and we will continue to explore a variety of 

options in an attempt to increase the number of  

On-Call staff we have available.

We remain committed to the understanding that 

prevention and protection are better than response. 

We are monitoring the changes to the regulations 

around building construction and occupation 

following the Grenfell Tower tragedy and anticipate 

that our prevention and protection expectations will 

increase, and we will need to look at our capability 

and capacity to do this work.

Following a series of training events in 2019, our 

Wholetime firefighters are now better equipped to 

undertake a wider range of prevention activities, 

complementing the work undertaken by our 

Community Educators.

We will continue to work with partners by sharing 

information to target those most vulnerable, we 

will securely use and share information and look to 

increase the number of referrals.

We will positively use our prevention and protection 

teams to educate and assist those further afield from 

our station locations to stay safe and reduce the 

impact of emergency incidents.

We will respond to the outcomes of the HMICFRS 

(Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire 

& Rescue Services) inspection and develop action 

plans to address any recommendations or identified 

areas for improvement.

We want to be clearer in the way that we report our 

response times. We think that the time it takes a fire 

engine to get to an incident should be recorded 

from the time you call 999. We will aim to attend life 

threatening incidents in an average of 10 minutes, and 

we will report on how long it takes us to get there.

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service26

What our data tells us

150



Risks
We are content that we have a robust medium term financial plan in place to meet the needs 

of the Service in 2019/2020. We do still require clarity on future financial settlements from 

the Government before we can be confident of our position for the duration of this IRMP. This 

position will be influenced by external factors not in our control, including reduced income 

or increased costs as a result of pay awards or pension contributions. We remain mindful that 

our Band D Council Tax cost is £66.64 per year, this is the cheapest in the East Midlands and is 

in the lowest quartile of combined fire authorities in England.

The future of our Day Crewing Plus (DCP) duty system is at risk following a High Court ruling 

on a similar duty system in South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service.

The case centred on a duty system known as close proximity crewing (CPC) and the 

judgement could affect a number of fire and rescue services that operate similar shift systems, 

including LFRS.

The DCP duty system was introduced to save money, whilst enhancing operational capability. 

If we have to find an alternative duty system we may incur additional cost or require 

additional resource to respond to incidents.

Safer People, Safer Places 27

What our data tells us

151



Our 2020-2024  
IRMP Proposals
The following section provides the information behind each of the proposals which were approved by the 

Combined Fire Authority (CFA) for public consultation. We would like to:

 Our fire engines are based at their ‘home’ 

station and are moved into other areas to  

backfill when required. This approach  

delivers the response standards we publish, 

but we believe there is the opportunity to 

dynamically reposition fire engines to improve 

these standards.

 We aim to continue to provide the immediate 

response to incidents that we currently do across 

all of our 20 fire and rescue stations by utilising 

all our fire engines. However on occasions, 

either due to them being committed at other 

incidents, the availability of our crews or vehicle 

maintenance, we are not always able to do this.

 We would like you to support the flexible use of 

our operational assets (fire engines and other 

specialist vehicles) and the flexible use of stations 

or other locations to position ourselves to be able 

to respond to foreseeable risk or demand. This 

might mean operating with a different level of 

immediately available fire engines, but these fire 

engines would be located or moved as required 

to maintain the best geographical coverage.

 Depending on our risk and demand profile data, 

we may wish to amend the start and finish times 

or shift change times at some of our stations or 

within our Control Room.

 We will then report our response time 

performance as an average against the target of 

10 minutes for life threatening incidents from the 

time the call was received.

Use our fire engines flexibly, aiming to  

attend life threatening incidents in an 

average of 10 minutes1

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service28

152



 Currently our Wholetime and On-Call 

firefighters are based at their ‘home’  

station and undertake their response  

activities in that area.

 When risk or demand dictates, we want 

to flexibly reposition our firefighters to 

proactively meet the needs of the Service. 

We will relocate them to other stations 

to support fire engine availability and 

community safety.

 We want to use our On-Call staff differently 

and not always expect them to respond 

immediately, instead extending their 

response time to provide resilience at 

incidents or other stations. This could 

widen the pool of On-Call staff available as 

they will not have to live or work as close  

to the station.

 We believe this flexible approach, 

particularly for On-Call firefighters, will 

assist recruitment and retention from  

a broader section of the community.  

It will provide opportunities for those who 

struggle to meet the current criteria based 

on their personal circumstances.

2 Use our firefighters efficiently 

and flexibly to maximise our 

appliance availability

Safer People, Safer Places 29

Our 2020-2024 IRMP Proposals

153



Purchase a second high reach 

appliance to replace the older one of 

the two vehicles

 The Service currently has two high reach 

appliances. The newest was purchased in 

2015, the second is 18 years old and due 

to be decommissioned as part of our Fleet 

Management Plan.

 The design and build timescales for a high reach 

appliance can be up to two years.

 The cost for a like for like replacement is 

approximately £700,000 and is included in our 

capital budget.

 High reach appliances offer a unique capability 

and reassures the public in our ability to deal 

with a variety of incidents.

 Our mutual assistance and support 

arrangements allow us to use additional 

appliances from a neighbouring service  

where available.

 A second high reach appliance provides 

improved response capability and resilience 

and removes our reliance on other Services.

3

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service30

Our 2020-2024 IRMP Proposals

154



We want to continue to undertake our 

education and enforcement activities, 

targeting those most at risk

Continue to collaborate with other blue 

light services and our partner agencies 

to support our purpose of safer people, 

safer places

 We could provide generic advice to everyone, 

but we don’t believe this is an effective use of 

our resources.

 We want to continue to provide education in 

homes, schools and other venues, using shared 

data and working with other organisations.

 Education and enforcement is vital in our larger 

urban areas. We want to continue with this and 

also work with those located furthest away from 

our stations, who we know we cannot reach in 

10 minutes.

 We want to identify and implement 

‘community resilience’ initiatives in support 

of reducing incident numbers and harm. 

Making communities aware of potential risks 

and encouraging them to help themselves in 

managing and reducing the impact.

 We want to continue to ensure our enforcement 

activities are robust and effective, looking to 

prosecute those who do not conform to fire 

regulations and show little regard to public and 

employee safety.

 The number of non-fire related life risk rescues 

has increased substantially. We are gaining 

entry for, and assisting other services as well as 

dealing with more medical related incidents.

 The Police and Crime Act 2017 created a duty for 

emergency services to consider collaboration in 

the interests of ‘efficiency or effectiveness’.

 We will continue with these activities, and 

review our approach to dealing with them. 

Gaining entry to a building for example may be 

provided by a dedicated resource rather than a 

traditional fire engine.

4

5

Safer People, Safer Places 31

Our 2020-2024 IRMP Proposals

155



We want to enable our 

staff to do the right thing 

to help our communities

We want to implement alternative 

crewing arrangements in the event 

of the Service moving away from the 

current Day Crewing Plus duty system

 We have rules and operating standards that our staff must 

follow to keep themselves and our communities safe.

 We often face situations where early intervention or a 

pragmatic approach to a situation leads to a better outcome 

for all.

 We’d like all of our staff to do the right thing and take a helpful 

approach in order to benefit our communities.

 This may mean the boundaries of what we do are flexible, 

which will strengthen relationships and enhance confidence 

and satisfaction in our staff and communities.

 Our expectation would be that, as long as staff were not 

disadvantaged, any activities would be undertaken without 

any additional financial burden to the Service.

 There is a risk that the DCP duty system will no 

longer be able to be used. We therefore need to 

identify affordable crewing options.

 During the lifecycle of this IRMP, we will 

implement affordable alternatives as required.

6

7

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service32

Our 2020-2024 IRMP Proposals

156



Consultation
The scope and approach of the IRMP was approved by the CFA in February 2019. Following detailed data and 

information analysis, a number of proposals were presented to the CFA in June 2019. The proposals were agreed 

by the CFA will now be subject to public consultation which will run for 12 weeks between 3 September and 25 

November 2019.

A consultation summary report will be presented to the CFA in February 2020 where they will agree which 

proposals should be progressed.

Safer People, Safer Places 33

157



Please Tell Us What  
You Think.
To participate in our IRMP consultation please complete the online questionnaire which can be found  

on our website: www.leics-fire.gov.uk

Alternatively if you require a paper based questionnaire or assistance in completing or providing your feedback, 

please contact us.

Note: Your questionnaire responses will anonymous and be used solely for the purpose of informing the 

Combined Fire Authority of your views in relation to the IRMP 2020-2024. Your information will not be shared 

with any other parties or used for any other purposes.

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service34

158



High Reach Appliance

A vehicle with an extendable ladder platform for 

fighting fires and facilitating rescues at height

Day Crewing Plus

Fire engine crewed by Wholetime employees  

who work a self-rostered 24-hour shift system 

and are immediately available to respond to 

emergency incidents

Day Crewing

Fire engine crewed by Wholetime employees  

who work a self-rostered 24-hour shift system  

and are immediately available to respond to 

emergency incidents 

Firefighting Vehicle

Either a traditional fire engine or tactical  

response vehicle

On-Call 

Fire engine crewed by employees who are available 

to respond to emergency incidents from home or 

work, alerted by a pager

Primary Fires 

Fires involving casualties, property or any other items 

that are insurable

Secondary Fires 

Small fires, such as grass, rubbish, derelict or 

abandoned vehicles

Tactical Response Vehicle 

A smaller fire engine designed to deal entirely  

with smaller incidents, but also able to undertake 

initial actions at larger incidents prior to the arrival  

of supporting fire engines

Wholetime 

Fire engine crewed by employees who work a shift 

system and are immediately available  

to respond to emergency incidents

Glossary

For all maps - © Crown copyright. All Rights Reserved. Leicestershire Fire & Rescue Service 100026099.

Safer People, Safer Places 35

159



Images courtesy of Ian Nuttall, and  

Henrik Fjoord Photographic Service

160


	Agenda
	7 Delivering Growth in Leicestershire - East of Lutterworth Strategic Development Area and other Development Projects.
	JV APPENDIX A Lutterworth East Site Plan
	JV APPENDIX B Indicative JV area
	JV paper - Appendix C - Delivery Approach Advantages - Disadvantages
	JV paper - Appendix D - Soft Market Testing
	JV APPENDIX E procurement process

	8 Potential Strategic Development Area - M69 Junction 2.
	M69 J2 Appendix A
	M69 J2 Appendix B

	9 Revenue Budget and Capital Programme Monitoring - Period 6.
	P6 Appendix 1 Budget Monitoring summary 19-20
	P6 Appendix 2 Revenue budget major variances
	P6 Appendix 3 Capital Monitoring Table Summary
	P6 Appendix 4 capital variances
	P6 Appendix 5 - Review of Earmarked Funds

	10 Leicestershire Community Safety Strategy 2019 - 2021.
	Appendix A - Community Safety Strategy
	Appendix B - Community Safety Strategy
	Sheet1


	11 Recommissioning of Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Services.
	12 Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service Integrated Risk Management Plan 2020 - 2024.
	Appendix A - IRMP 2020-2024 Consultation Proposals




